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NASDAQP Is & publicly traded compeny that runs the
premier electroniec stock markset in the U.S., home to
over 3,200 leading companies acress every industry
in 2004. A world-renowned market and worldclass
compelitor, NASDAQ fs supported by diversiied business
lines with the goel of providing exceptional valus to
the markstplacs and significant opportunities to the
company with the highest reguletory integrity.
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in 2004, we became a highly focused enterprise in support
of our goal to out-compete and outperform our competitors.
NASDAQ has also developed a more responsive organization,
able to set — and meet — the highest standards for corporate
governance and compliance, including the added demands
of Sarbanes-Oxley.

We formulated far-reaching strategic plans in 2003 and .
have since begun implementing them. We expect to see the
wisdom and to begin reaping the results in 2005. And, we
have otherwise prepared our entire enterprise to progress
in the face of coming changes for the industry near and
long-term, especially on the regulatory front.
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Unlike other U.S. equities markets and alternative trading
systems, NASDAQ is more diversified and adaptable. In
comparison to every other U.S. equity market, we're fairer,
more transparent and more cost efficient for the user.
We completed a secondary offering in February 2005,
and NASDAQ’s common stock is now listed on our own
NASDAQ National Market® making NASDAQ a more liquid
and visibly traded equity.

We continue to champion investor protection and raise
awareness about the virtue and value of having the right
market structure and quality. We also continue to ensure
and enhance market integrity by promoting increasingly
heightened corporate governance standards for our over
3,200 listed companies — the same rigorous standards
NASDAQ follows.

Whatever perspective you take, you'll see NASDAQ
operating from a position of strength and strategy.
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SDAQ is built
to compete and
Win business.

IPOs up 174%

to 148; representing 61% of total IPOs on
all markets. Source: Thomson Financial, as
of 12/31/04

25 newly listed

international companies; 10 from China.
Source: Thomson Financial, as of 12/31/04

$4.5 billion

in IPO capfital ralsed on NASDAQ
In "04, Source: Thomsoen Financial,
as of 12/31/04

As a sophisticated, sales-centric business, we've shaped
and streamlined the entire company to be tremendously
efficient and competitive.

2004 was a year of strong forward momentum for our Issuer 4

and Market Services segments, with NASDAQ cutting costs,
improving systems and infrastructure, satisfying existing
customers and attracting new ones, and leveraging our
assets and advantages with the goal of building revenues
and profits.

More Diversified and Competitive

Our listings, financial products, transaction services and data
products businesses distinguish NASDAQ from most of our
competitors that rely on trading volume driven revenue.

For those building a model based solely on transaction
processing — an area that has become highly commoditized —
there’s little opportunity for true market leadership; especially
for higher cost providers. We've priced aggressively in this
area and believe our average trade execution fee per share
is the most competitive in the industry.

We have taken out significant costs to improve margins on
transactions, which may result in organic growth that would
effectively improve our bottom line.

ISSUER SERVICES provides NASDAQ-listed companies with
the highest level of support, visibility and market intelligence;
and a body of well-designed and in-demand financial
instruments and indexes.

Listings — The NASDAQ Corporate Client Group

NASDAQ continues to list more companies than any other
U.S. equity market. In adding 148 initial public offerings
(IPOs) in 2004, our growth in IPOs was nearly three times
the level of 2003, We're benefiting from a heaithy domestic
and international pipeline of companies seeking to access
the capital markets, which generates incremental revenues
for the company through new listings.

Thanks to our solid international reputation, 25 of these
new listings were foreign companies, 10 from China alone.
Last year, over 99% of NASDAQ-listed companies chose to
retain their listing on NASDAQ, and two NYSE companies
made the switch to our market. Additionally, the venerable
Sears Holdings Corporation has announced its intent to
switch to NASDAQ in connection with its merger with Kmart,
a NASDAQ-listed company.

1 Thomson Financial as of 12/31/04




98.5 million ist foreign ETF 160 licensees

QQQ shares traded daily on average in listed in Latin America, with May '04 QQQ Approximately 160 i contracted
2004. Source: FactSet Research Systems faunch In Mexico. Source: NASDAQ, with NASDAQ to use NASDAQ indexes as
Inc. as of 12/31/04 as of 12/31/04 benchmarks for trading their financial

products. Source: NASDAQ, as of 12/31/04

For any company that believes in competition, and giving their
stockholders the best possible execution and trading venue
in an environment of the highest regulatory integrity, it makes
sense to consider a move to NASDAQ.

Our performance for liquid stocks continues to be demonstrably

better, a fact confirmed by Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC)-mandated “Dash-5" data reported by all
market centers. Our cost-to-value is even more compelling.
Our electronic market model is widely preferred and
endorsed by investors. Our brand is one of the best known
globally — especially for growth and innovation. And,

NASDAQ-isted companies are benefiting from more products,

tools and resources to help them be more effective.

NASDAQ is building a comprehensive suite of exclusive
programs and services, valued by NASDAQ companies in
all stages of going and being public. The NASDAQ Director
is a dedicated, professional, day-to-day contact working to
answer companies’ questions and provide information
affecting their stocks. The Market Intelligence Desk® gives
companies a critical touch point for timely trading analysis,
market and company information, using 20 different
information sources; many of them real-time. NASDAQ
OnlineS™, a proprietary investor relations (IR) web site,

supports solid investor relations strategies. NASDAQ facilitates

premier IR program building, and IR Conferences help

companies develop more effective IR programs. The
NASDAQ Insurance Agency, as of January 2005 a wholly
owned subsidiary of NASDAQ, is a full-service corporate
insurance broker specializing in customized management
liability and risk management advice.

The NASDAQ MarketSite®, a state of the art media studio
and event setting located in New York’s Times Square,
provides our listed companies with a high profile venue for
opening bell ceremonies and other high visibility events.

As we navigate through 2005, market structure changes are
still pending with the SEC. These include how market data is
sold and displayed, and whether investors will be free to
choose where and when their orders are traded — meaning
more buyers and sellers could have the ability to bypass
slower markets and direct their trades to an electronic venue
that offers them more certainty of fast order fills at the prices
they expect. We've been vocal in advocating solutions based
on the competitive dynamic, believing that any legislation
supporting natural market forces will lead to a better outcome
for investors.




Beyond this, our dual-listing initiative has fundamentally
changed the whole listing conversation and opened a new
channel of opportunity for NASDAQ. In 2004, we had more
discussions with NYSE-listed companies than at any time in
our history, to educate them on the benefits of NASDAQ's
model. We believe this effort has moved the listing decision
onto board agendas to be considered and reconsidered
regularly. It has also pushed our competitors to improve their
price and trade performance — a good thing for investors.

For any company that believes in competition, and giving

their stockholders the best possible execution and trading

venue in an environment of the highest regulatory integrity, it

makes sense to consider a move to NASDAQ. In our view, if

a company isn't getting critical value from its market or that

market isn’t providing much beyond brand image, it's time to
xplore @ NASDAQ listing.

NASDAQ Financial Products

We believe we're exceptionally positioned to enhance our
fast-growing global funds business on numerous fronts.
These opportunities range from developing and licensing

The NASDAQ MarketSite broadcast
studio in New York's Times Square.

more financial and derivative products to listing more exchange
traded funds (ETFs). Domestically and internationally, our
leadership remains strong crowned by QQQ®, our NASDAQ-
100 Index Tracking Stock®, still the most liquid and actively
traded listed equity security in the United States and the
most actively traded exchange traded fund worldwide in
terms of average daily share volume.

During the last year, we met demand for QQQ in new markets.
In addition to moving its listing to our NASDAQ National
Market in December, QQQ began trading in Israel, Mexico
and Japan, offering NASDAQ more brand exposure and
bottom line revenue. The European version of our ETF,
EQQQ®, is listed in Switzerland and Germany, and continues
to extend throughout Europe. EQQQ continues to grow in
assets and visibility as investors overseas seek to invest

in innovative financial products. Additionally in 2004, we
saw assets in the BLDRSSM Funds grow. Listed on NASDAQ,
BLDRS are ETFs that track The Bank of New York ADR
Indexes. Lastly, we're developing additional indexes to
advance our position as a world-class index provider.



We're running the world’s best

electronic equilty market, ana doing it
more Talrly, erficiently, transparently
anc responsively than anyone else.

455.6 billion

total share volume for '04; Up 7%.
Source: NASDAQ Economic Research,
as of 12/31/04

$8.8 trillion

total dollar volume for '04; average
daily volume was $34.8 billion; up 24%.
Source: NASDAQ Economic Research, as

333 million

shares executed in 10 seconds in the NASDAQ Closing
Cross on June 25, 2004, at the annual reconstitution of
the Russell U.S. stock Indexes; representing $5.3 billlon

of 12/31/04

in dollar volume. Source: NASDAQ Economic Research

We're delivering on our total value proposition: actively
investing and innovating to increase transparency and
improve execution for participants, and provide higher
value for listed companies.

Our trading network links, with ease and speed, a large
and geographically dispersed body of market participants
that have very different business models and trading
technologies — and enables them to freely interact

and compete.

MARKET SERVICES provides market participants with a fast,
low-cost way to invest, trade and compete — and a higher
level of data to help them make better decisions.

‘NASDAQ Transaction Services

This is the engine of our market. Over the course of 2004,
we established and acquired important assets to improve it,
by creating an integrated, higher-powered Market CenterSM,
It enables us to trade all equity securities listed on major
U.S. capital markets, on a single, seamless platform;
including the capability to trade all NASDAQ, NYSE and
AMEX-listed stocks.

Other major market innovations in this area included the
rollout of the Opening and Closing Crosses which enable
NASDAQ to capture liquidity at the most important and active
points of every trading day. When the markets open at 9:30
AM, the Opening Cross is an efficient, fair and transparent
electronic process, where market forces play a key role in
discovering a single, start-of-day price that reflects the true
state of supply and demand for each NASDAQ stock.

Similarly, the Closing Cross provides more transparency and
price discovery for all participants at the market close. It
brings together the buy-and-sell interest in specific NASDAQ
stocks and executes the maximum shares for each stock at
a single accurate price. Like the Opening Cross, it's driving a
new level of efficiency, and helping to maximize volume
while tempering volatility. A great reflection of the success
of the Closing Cross was the 2004 annua!l rebalance of

the Russell Indexes, a major trading event in June, where
NASDAQ executed 333 million shares representing $5.3 billion
in volume — in all of 10 seconds. The Closing Cross generates a
closing price widely used throughout the industry including
all major indexes such as the Russell Indexes, Standard &
Poor's and Dow Jones.
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NASDAQ Business Group Heads (L-R):

John L. Jacobs, EVP Worldwide Marketing

and Financial Products; Bruce E. Aust,

EVP NASDAQ Corporate Client Group;

Adena T. Friedman, EVP Strategy and NASDAQ
Data Products; Christopher R. Concannon,
EVP NASDAQ Transaction Services

2004 was a year of strong forward momentum for our Issuer
and Market Services segments, with NASDAQ cutting costs,
improving systems and infrastructure, satisfying existing customers

and attracting new ones.

Our acquisition and integration of the BRUT ECN in 2004
has raised our efficiency across the board and allowed us
to lower prices to the trading community. We've enjoyed a
resulting overall increase in liquidity, which is translating
into substantial growth in business and revenues. We also
gained the added reach of BRUT’s routing and distribution
channel, which has accelerated our opportunities, especially
with the derivative and arbitrage desks at major trading
firms by opening the door to new relationships and revenues.

Last year, we re-priced our transactions business to fit our
future cost structure. We took a hit to revenue up front, but
believe now our average trade execution fee per share is
the most competitive in the business. This is designed to
increase our transaction volume in the future.

The net effect of pending SEC national market structure
regulation, Regulation NMS, will be to push more automation
into the markets, which strongly reinforces the value of

NASDAQ's market model. In the bigger picture, trading orders
are seeking the least friction, and the trend is toward a

fully electronic and frictionless market — a strategic advantage
for NASDAQ.

NASDAQ Data Products

This business group gives market participants, from investors
to issuers, a clear, deep and open view into our market and
trading activity, and vital, real-time market intelligence that is
essential to making informed investment decisions.

In a fast-paced environment where transparency, immediacy
and reliability matter most, NASDAQ is an extremely fast and
transparent equity market. NASDAQ’s premier data product,
TotalView®, displays every quote and order at every price
level in the NASDAQ Market Center. At the start of 2005
TotalView achieved a 50% speed improvement making it
the fastest data feed available for receiving NASDAQ order
book information.




Steven J. Randich,

EVP Operations and
Technology and

Chief Information Officer

2 million

terminals receive NASDAQ data in

over 146 countries. Source: Market

Data Distribution (VARS database})
12/31/04

30% more trades

executed in '04; averaging 3.8 million daily.
Total executed trades were 955.2 billion.
Source: NASDAQ Economic Research, as of

£20,000

The number of Level 1 professional market
data terminals is over 420,000. Source:
Market Data Distribution (BiS billing systerm)

These improvements not only enable users to better identify
trading opportunities, but also to assist participants in
fulfiling best execution obligations. Every participant has
the ability to know exactly what's available, and when, and is
able to confirm that they are receiving quality executions.

NASDAQ Data Products continues to raise the bar on market
quality and transparency by investing in research to develop
new ways to see the market. We have a pipeline of market
data enhancements and new market data products, some
of which are featured on our new Experimental Market
Information web site (http://emi.nasdag.com). The EMI site,
launched in 2004, enables NASDAQ to test new information
products, and gives investors and traders a way to provide
valuable feedback about what they want in terms of data
products and services. Response has been overwhelmingly
positive with over 1,200 registered users to date for this
free service.

In 2004, we invested in new technology that enables us to
be nimbler in getting our products out to the investing
public. We also broadened the number of networks carrying
our data and created a cost advantage we're sharing with
our clients.

Relative to regulation, the outcome of Regulation NMS will
define what data can be sold competitively versus what data
must be placed in a central pool and sold collectively, with
those revenues shared across aill markets. We have been

a leading voice in the industry discussion, promoting the
idea of pricing essential data at very reasonable tevels for
investors and letting the markets compete on selling other
value-added products. As it stands, NASDAQ has been able
to capitalize consistently on its data offerings and is well
positioned to compete under new rules.
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1/50t second 2©1©©© 7,800

or less response time can be maintained

ions per d can be handied Over 7,800 NASDAQ, NYSE and AMEXisted
by NASDAQ systems. Source: NASDAQ by NASDAQ systems. Source: NASDAQ stocks tradable through the new NASDAQ
Operations and Technology, as of 12/31/04 Operations and Technology, as of 12/31/04 Viarket Centers™, Source: NASDAQ Economic

Research, as of 12/31/04

We're delivering on our total value proposition: actively investing
and innovating to increase transparency and improve execution
for participants, and provide higher value for listed companies.

The world’s markets have moved to the electronic model We believe our competitive strengths include: our leading
because the benefits of all-electronic markets are clear and unconflicted market model; diversified set of businesses
to investors. Dynamic companies continue to come to our and revenue streams; proven track record and globally
market, drawn by the power of our brand and the proven potent brand; strong momentum and public accountability.

value of a NASDAQ listing. NASDAQ is publicly out front,
helping to frame the big issues that impact the markets
and investors with the goal of serving those interests first,
best and foremost.

As we progress through 2005, we're taking the assets we
have built and leveraging them from our brand and customer
base to our sales channels and portfolios of products and
services. In every dimension that truly matters to investors,
issuers and stockholders, we're a leader in the field, and
ready to capitalize on a wealth of new opportunities.
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We're Leading on All Levels

Like all stock markets, NASDAQ
IS @ unigue business. We are
striving to lead the capital
markets on every essential level,
heeding our corporate charter |
to work for the greater good of
the investors. We're focused on
our regulatory responsibilities
and the dialogue on Regulation
NS for the right market and
corporate governance regulations...




Robert Greifeld
President and CEQ

... We're innovating more technologically, and out-
maneuvering the competition with dynamic and
diversified business lines. | believe we're enhancing the
entire value proposition for all our stakeholders, and
approaching a tremendous lift-off point in performance
and realized potential.

For NASDAQ, 2003 was a year of refocusing, and 2004, a
year of repositioning strategies designed to grow revenues
and profits. This year, 2005, is our year of expanding on
this success. Since last year's report, there has been much
progress with our business and market, which is a great
source of pride and energy for the company.

In Listings, one of the highest profile accomplishments was
winning Google's landmark {PO, and 147 others, a nearly
174% jump from 2003. Twenty-five were international
companies. We're also proud that Sears Holdings, as part
of the Kmart merger, has announced its plan to list on our
market, a historic move from the NYSE where they have
listed since 1910. In addition to successfully retaining a record
number of companies, our dual-listing program continues to
attract attention, getting us in front of companies listed on
competing markets and onto board agendas for consideration.
And we are expanding our already strong foothold with

companies in Israel and India that are seeking U.S. investors,
as well as further expanding our international reach into
Russia, South America and China.

In Transactions, we acquired BRUT, an ECN, which immediately
brought us routing capability, better connectivity and
increased market share in trade reporting. We created new
Opening and Closing processes, to better meet investors’
needs. We also launched an integrated Market Center,
where 7,800 NASDAQ, NYSE and AMEX stocks can be
traded on one advanced platform. The Market Center
simplifies trading and gives us more cost efficiencies. To
increase our reach and revenues, we fielded an expanded
transaction services sales force.

In Financial Products, we exported our leading ETFs globally,
with QQQ to Japan, Israel and Mexico, and EQQQ to
Switzerland and Germany.

With Data Products, we're sharpening our edge with our
proprietary data product TotalView, our flagship proprietary
data product that displays more depth and information
about NASDAQ stocks than any other data product offered
by any market. Further, we continue to innovate, as shown by
recent enhancements to our existing data products and by
new data products featured on our Experimental Market
Information web site.

13
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With a solid foundation in place across each business line,
we're ready to move forward on many levels. This includes
capitalizing on the result of the SEC’s pending Regulation

NMS changes, which are designed to modernize an outdated

1970s market structure. Although the rules are not yet
finalized, | am confident that they will bring other markets
in line with NASDAQ's pioneering, all-electronic model and
enable electronic markets to compete more effectively with
traditional, floor-based markets.

If you're an institutional investor, it's important that you think

about which equity market delivers the most value, from
quality to transparency, and what the very real and critical
differences are between markets.

If you're an individual investor, it makes sense to think about
which market is committed to investor protection and strong
standards of regulation.

If you're a board member or CEQ, ask which market offers
strong performance. Based on SEC Dash-5 data?, NASDAQ
is a clear winner. Our electronic market model brings
buyers and sellers together electronically, and intermediaries
compete to provide the best value for investors.

If you're a stockholder, be sure you are looking carefully at
which equity market business is positioned to win; which
market has a diversified business model and opportunities;
and which has the most scale and substance. You should
also understand why a competitive market maker model,
like NASDAQ's, makes the most sense.

Based on 2004 data mandated by SEC Rufe 11Ac1-5, S&P 500 stocks,

alf marketable orders, all order sizes. Stocks listed on NASDAQ have, on
average, lower effective spreads, lower quoted spreads, and faster execution
speeds than stocks listed on other markets. Averages executed share
volume weighted.
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Without question, NASDAQ is exceptionally well built as a
business and as a market. We also continue to be an
important national asset and economic force — a channel for
established and emerging companies from China and Israel
to India, seeking capital, liquidity and U.S. investors. Just
as importantly, we're unwavering in our commitment to
promote and follow the highest level of corporate governance
and compliance.

There’s a lot of good news from and about NASDAQ. Above
all, | believe we're at a major tipping point in every business
line — a point of concentrating all our assets and executing
on a confident, high-impact business plan based on our
progress and notable successes in 2004.

Heading now into the rest of 2005 and beyond, our goal is
to deliver further diversification around our core strengths,
including more value-added products and services for
customers; robust market share growth; more listings; more
trading volume; and even greater efficiency, effectiveness
and innovation.

NASDAQ's trademark entrepreneurial thinking, vision and
spirit are inspiring and propelling our people, business and
market resiliently into the future.

Robert Greifeld
President and CEQO
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Shareholder Information

INVESTOR INFORMATION

NASDAQ's home page on the World Wide Web is at
www.NASDAQ.com

Stockholders are advised to review financial information

and other disclosure about NASDAQ contained in its

Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K"). Investor
information, including the Annua! Report, Form 10-K,

Form 10-Q, Proxy Statement and other periodic SEC updates,
as well as press releases and earnings announcements

can be accessed directly from our web site at:
www.NASDAQ.com/investorrelations/ir_home.stm

Investor inquiries should be directed to:
By email: investor.relations@nasdag.com
By phone: 212.401.8742

By mail; NASDAQ Investor Relations
9513 Key West Avenue

4th Floor

Rockville, MD 20850

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Mellon Investor Services

85 Challenger Road

Ridgefield Park, New Jersey 07666-2108
USA

Domestic: 888.305.3741
International: 201.329.8660
Domestic TDD: 800.231.5469
International TDD: 201.329.8354
www.melloninvestor.com

HEADQUARTERS

One Liberty Plaza

165 Broadway

50th Floor

New York, New York 10006

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

REGIONAL HEADQUARTERS

United States
2500 Sandhill Road, Suite 220
Menlo Park, California 94025

55 West Monroe Street, Suite 3450
Chicago, lllinois 60603

9600 Blackwell Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850

1801 K Street, NW
Suite 801L
Washington, DC 20006

NASDAQ MarketSite

4 Times Square

43rd & Broadway

New York, New York 10036

United Kingdom
120 Old Broad Street
London, United Kingdom EC2N1AR

Asia

No. 9, lll Floor, UNI Building
Thimmaiah Road

Miller Tank Bed

Bangalore 560 052
Karnataka, India

NASDAQ, NASDAQ-100 Index, NASDAQ-100 Index Tracking
Stock, NASDAQ National Market, QQQ, EQQQ, TotalView,
Market Intelligence Desk and MarketSite are registered
trademarks and NASDAQ Market Center and NASDAQ
Online are service marks of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

All other trade/service marks are the property of their
respective owners.

© Copyright 2005, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
All Rights Reserved. 3/05

The matters described herein may contain forward-looking statements that are made pursuant to the Safe Harbor provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties or other factors
beyond the control of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the “Company”), which could cause actual results to differ materially from
historical results, performance or other expectations and from any opinions or statements expressed or implied with respect to
future periods. These factors include, but are not limited to, the Company’s ability to implement its strategic initiatives, economic,

political and market conditions and fluctuations, government and industry regulation, interest rate risk, U.S. and global competition,
and other factors detailed in the Company's registration statement on Form 10-K, as amended, and other periodic reports filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. We undertake no obligation to release any revisions to any forward-looking statements.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
Form 10-K

FOR ANNUAL AND TRANSITION REPORTS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

(Mark One)
[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
. “ ' OR
[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to ,
' Commission file number 000-32651

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 52-1165937
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
(212) 401-8700

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None.
Securities registered pursnant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Common Stock, par value $.01 per share
. (Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes X No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of dehnquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S- K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 12b-2). Yes No []

As of June 30, 2004 the aggregate market value of the registrant’s votmg and non-voting common equity
held by non-affiliates was $219,514,302 (this amount represents 34,843,540 shares of Nasdaq’s common stock
based on the last reported price of $6.30 of the common stock on the OTC Bulletin Board on such date).

On March 4, 2005, 79,042,396 shares of the registrant’s common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s proxy statement for the annual stockholders’ meeting to be held in 2005 are
incorporated by reference into Part III.
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About This Form 10-K

&

Unless otherwise noted, in this Form 10-K, the terms “Nasdaq,” “we, “us” and “our” refer to The Nasdagq

Stock Market, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

This Form 10-K includes market share and industry data that we obtained from industry publications and
surveys, reports of governmental agencies, and internal company surveys. Industry publications and surveys
generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable,
but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. We have not
independently verified any of the data from third-party sources nor have we ascertained the underlying
economic assumptions relied upon therein. Statements as to our market position are based on available market
data that speaks as of the date indicated. For market comparison purposes, data in this Form 10-K for initial
public offerings or IPOs of companies in the United States is based on data provided by Thomson Financial,
which does not include best efforts underwritings and, therefore, may not be comparable to other publicly-
available initial public offering data. Data in this Form 10-K for secondary offerings is based on data provided
by Thomson Financial. Data in this Form 10-K for new listings of equity securities on The Nasdaq Stock
Market is based on data generated internally by Nasdaq, which includes best efforts underwritings. Data in this
Form 10-K for the percentage of companies by industry that are listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market is




provided by Standard & Poors via FactSet Research Systems Inc. While we are not aware of any
misstatements regarding mdustry data presented herein, our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are
© subject to change ‘based on Varlous factors including those drscussed in “Item 1. Business—Risk Factors”

~ this Form 10- K

‘ ACES®, Market Intelhgence Desk® MarketSite®, N asdaq® Nasdag-100®, Nasdag-100 Index® Nasdaq-
100 Index Trackmg Stock®, Nasdaq Blotechnology Index®, Nasdaq Canada®, Nasdaq Composite Index®,
Nasdaq MarketSite®, Nasdaq National Market®, Nasdaq Workstation II®, QQQ®, SuperMontage®, The Nasdaq
 Stock Market®, Nasdaq Deutschland®, Nasdaq Earope Planning®, and OTC Bulletin Board® are registered
.. service/trademarks of The Nasdag Stock Market, Inc. Nasdaq International®™, Nasdaq EuropeSM, Nasdaq .

-JapanSM, Nasdaq GlobalSM Nasdaq [nternatronal Market Initiativess™M, NIMISM, Automated Confirmation -
Transaction’ ServrceSM ACTSM, CAESSM Tevel 1 ServicesM; ‘Mutual Fund Quotation ServiceSM (MFQSSM),
Nasdaq Corporate Services NetworkSM Nasdaq Market Center SM, Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service $M
-(NQDS $M), The Nasdaq SmallCap Market M, and the logos 1dent1fy1ng N asdaq indexes and products are service/
trademarks of The. Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. e A ‘ .
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Certain statements in this annual feport on Form 10-K contain or may contain forward-looking statements ™
that are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements were based on
various factors and were derived utilizing numerous assumptions and other factors that could cause dctual
results to differ materially from those in'the forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not
limited to, Nasdaq's ability to implement its strategic initiatives, competition, economic, political and market

“conditions and fluctuations, government and industry regulation, interest rate risk and other factors. Most of -
these factors are difficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider the
areas of risk described in connection with any forward-looking statements that may be made herein. Readers are'

.cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of December 31,
2004. Readers should carefully review this annual report in its entirety, including but not limited to our financial
statements and the notes thereto and the risks described in “Item 1. Business—Risk Factors.” Except for our
ongoing obligations to disclose material information under the Federal securities laws, we undertake no
obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements, to report events or to report the
occurrence of unanticipated events. For any forward-looking statements contained in any document, Nasdaq
claims the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. »

Part I

Item 1. Business.
Nasdaq Overview ‘

We are a leading prov1der of securities listing, trading, and 1nformat10n products and services. Our revenue
sourcés are diverse and include revenues from transaction services, market data products and services, listing
fees, and financial products. We operate The Nasdaq Stock Market, the largest stock-based equity securities
market.in the United States, both in terms of number of listed companies and traded share volume. As of
December 31, 2004,-we were home to 3,271 listed companies with a combined market capitalization of over $3.7
trillion. We also operate the Nasdaq Market Center, which provides our market participants with the ability to
access, process, display and integrate orders and guotes in The Nasdaq Stock Market and other national stock
exchanges. Transactions mvolvmg 319.1 billion and 368.6 billion equily securities were executed on or reported
to our systems for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. We manage,
operate and provide our products and services in two business segments, our Issuer Services segmem and our
Market Services segment. :

Issuer Services. Our Issuer Services segment includes our securities listings business and our financial
products business. The companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market represent a diverse array of industries
including information technology, financial services, healthcare, consumer products and industrials. We also
develop and license financial products and associated derivatives, including the QQQ, which is an exchange
traded fund.(“ETF”) based on the Nasdag-100 Index. The QQQis the most actively traded ETF in the world and

" the most actively traded listed security in the United States. The listing of the QQQ was switched to The Nasdaq
Stock Market on December 1, 2004. Our financial products business has also introduced products based on other
Nasdagq indices, including the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index. In addition, we .
generate revenues by licensing and listing third-party structured products and thlrd-party sponsored ETFs. See

—Products and Services—Issuer Services.”

. =For the year ended December 31, 2004, Issuer Services . accounted for revenues of $205.8 million, which

represented 38.1%.of our total revenues and 42.5% of our gross margin (total revenues less cost of revenues). See

“Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysxs of Financial Condition and Results of Operaﬁons and'

consolidated financial statements.
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Market Services. Our Market Services segrnent 1ncludes our transaction-based business and our market
‘ ‘mforrnatron serv1ces business. The Nasdaq Market Centers our transaction-based platform that provides our
market partrcrpants 'with: the ability to access, process, drsplay and integrate orders and quotes, which enabled our
-customers to exectte trades in over 7,800 equity securities as of December 31, 2004. The Nasdaq Market Center
. allows us to route and execute buy and sell orders as. well-as report transactions for Nasdaq-listed securities and
. those listed on national stock exchanges including the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) and the -
American Stock Exchange (“Amex ), which provides fee-based revenues. We also generate revenues by -
providing varying levels of quote and trade information-tomarket participants and to data vendors, who in turn
sell subscriptions for- thrs information to the public. Our systems enable vendors to gain direct access to our -
_ detailed order data, 1ndex information, mutual fund pricing information, and corporate action information on
Nasdaq hsted securmes See ——Products and Servrces—Market Services.” -
‘ v : : ‘
For the year ended. December 31 2004 Market Servrces revenues were $334, 5 million, wh1ch represented
61.9% of Nasdag’s total revenues.-Market Services gross margin was $278.7 million, which represented 57.5%
. of total gross margin. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analys1s of Financial Condition and Results of
: Operat1ons and consohdated ﬁnancral statements. '
Brut Acqutsmon To further grow our business and i 1mprove our product offermgs we acqu1red Brut LLC
and affiliated entities (the “Brut acquisition”), the owner and operator .of the Brut electromc communication
network or ECN (“Brut ECN” or “Brut LLC”) from SunGard Data Systems Inc. in September 2004,

We beheve the Brut acqu1s1t1on benefits our operat1ons for various reasons. As a result of acqumng Brut:

"« we provide our Nasdaq Market Center customers with deeper pools of hqurdrty in Nasdaq-hsted and
exchange- hsted securities by addmg Brut’s liquidity to ours; :

"0" T wé expectt to be- able to. apply Brut s sophlsucated order routrng technology to all orders entered into the
_ Nasdaq Market Center begmnmg in the ﬂrst half of 2005

. we connect drrectly w1th a number of customers Who d1d not htstorrcally access our system, 1ncludmg
Anew customers such- as retarl broker-dealers hedge funds. and program trading desks;

. in the ﬁrst half of 2005 we' expect that our customers w1ll be able to access the order books of the
Nasdaq Market Center ‘and Brut,'which effectively will be combined into a central pool of hquldrty
allowing our customers to obtam the best price; regardless of whether the trade was entered on the
Nasdaq Market Center or Brut and B

+  we expect the Brut acqursrtlon to generate synergres and to help further strengthen our operatrng
margins and profitability. See “Itern 7. Management $ Dlscusswn and Analysrs of Financial Condition
and Results of Operatrons : :

‘ Cost Reductmns Begrnnmg in 2003 we performed a strateg1c -review of our operanons to-develop a plan to
focus our business-and improve our profitability, margins and growth. In implementing our strategic plan during .
2003 and.2004, we have successfully reduced our technology costs, eliminated non-core products, scaled back
our workforce, consolidated our real estate facilities and consolidated-our operations. In addition, we are taking

' steps to exit certain low-miargin businesses, primarily relating to providing proprietary network connectivity to
the Nasdaq Market Center See “Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysrs of Financial Condrtlon and
Results of Operatlons . -

: Results of Operations. Our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $540.4 million. Our
o gross margin was $484.6, million for the year ended December 31, 2004, a 17:8% decrease from $589.8 million
during 2003. Nasdaq’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $:11.4 million, an increase from a-
net loss of $105.:4 million during 2003. See “Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data,” “Item 7.

' Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for further discussion.




Nasdaq History and Structure

We were founded in 1971 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of National Association of Seécurities Dealers, Inc.
(“NASD”), which operates subject to thé-oversight of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC), is
the largest self-regulatory organization (“SRO”) in the United States with a membership that includes virtually
every broker-dealer that engages in the securities business within the United States. Beginning in 2000, NASD
restructured and broadened our ownership through a two-phase private placement of our securities (the
“Restructuring”). Securities in the private placements were offered to all NASD members, certain issuers listed
on The Nasdaq Stock Market and certain investment companies.

In connection with the restructuring, on November 9, 2000, we applied with the SEC for registration as a
national securities exchange. In November 2001, we agreed to the SEC’s request for an indefinite extension of
the date by which the SEC must approve our application or begin proceedings to determine whether the
app]_jcdtion should be denied. Until the SEC grants our application for exchange registration, NASD has
delegated to us our legal authority to operate as a stock market under a plan approved by the SEC, or Delegation
Plan. The SEC also requires that NASD retain greater than 50.0% of the voting control over us. Although we
exercise primary responsibility for market-related functions, including market-related rulemaking and
interpretations, all actions taken pursuant to authority delegated by NASD are subject to review, ratification, or
rejection by the NASD board. As long as the Delegation Plan remains in effect (i.e., until exchange registration),
the NASD board will continue to have control of and broad authority over us.

If we obtain exchange registration we will receive our own status as an SRO, separate from that of NASD.
Pursuant to securities. laws, an SRO is responsible for regulating its members through the adoptlon and
enforcement of rules and regulations governing the business conduct of its members As an SRO, Nasdag will
have its own rules pertammg to its members and l1sted companies regarding l1snng, membership and trading that
are distinct and separate from those rules applicable to broker-dealers that are administered by NASD. Broker-
dealers will be able to choose to become members of Nasdag, in addition to their other memberships with other
SROs, including membership in NASD. It is presently contemplated that Nasdaq will contract with NASD to
provide certain regulatory services to Nasdaq and its subsidiaries commencing upon the effectiveness of

exchange registration. See —Serv1ce Regulatory and Technology Contractual Relationships with NASD,
NASDR and Arnex.” ..

Industry- |

The Nasdaq Stock Market is a trusted brand name and is the primary listing venue for approximately 3,300
- corhpanies. Like the other markets that exist in the United States Nasdaq provides services ranging from trade
execution to listing services and market data and information services. It competes for listings for larger N
companies with the NYSE, and, in the case of smaller companies, to a lesser extent, with Amex. Pursuant to
authority delegated to it by NASD, Nasdaq is also a ‘participant in the national market system plans for collecting,
consolidating and selling market data, and shares in the revenues generated from the sale of such information
with the national securitiés exchanges. Unlike other markets, however, Nasdagq also has a s1gmﬁcant business in _
branded financial products. We develop and llcense Nasdaq -branded financial products and associated
denvatlves products based on the Nasdaq-100 Index, including QQQ, an ETF. The QQQ s cunently the most -
actively traded listed security in the United States. Virtually all facets of the operatlons of securities exchanges
and markets are subject to the SEC’s overmght as prescribed by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act See “ Regulanon :

Listing Function. The Nasdaq Stock Market and the NYSE are the two primary listing venues for equity
securities in,the United States. Approximately 3,300 companies were listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market as of
Décember 31, 2004, compared to approx1mately 2,800 companies listed on the NYSE. In addition, as of
December 31, 2004, approximately 725 companies were listed on Amex. Tn 2004, ArcaEx, which was launched
in March. 2002 as the exclusive equities trading facility of the Pacific Exchange, announced plans to expand its
listing business and compete for issuer listings by promoting the benefits of listing on the Pacific Exchange.
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* There is substant1al competmon for 11st1ngs from companies that are selhng shares for the first time through
an initial public offenng Of the 241 IPOs on primary U.S. equity markets during 2004, 148 or 61% of these
IPOs chose to hst on The Nasdaq Stock Market and rarsed approx1mately $15 billion in equrty cap1ta1

R N

‘ Imtral Publlc Offermgs

) . ) . ; o " f‘,,.‘ R R YearEnded‘_Decemben:%i
. . e ‘ ‘ L -..2004 - 1.2003., . - 2002 ..
TheNasdaqStockMarket ..... IR SO 148 54 46
NYSE .0, e L. o83 27 T 42

Amex :f10 3 4

In addmon to U.S. domesuc compames 335 non-U:S. compames were listed on The N asdaq Stock Market
asof Décember 31, 2004 The Nasdaq Stock Market is actrvely pursumg addrnonal hstmgs from non-U. S ’
compames ‘ .

Theté i is also substant1a1 competttlon among the’markets to encourage companies to switch listing venues’ or
to list 'on miere than one ventie. Th January 2004, Nasdaq announced an initiative to allow NYSE-listed compames
* to list their stock both on The Nasdag'Stock Market and the NYSE. Since announcing this “dual- listing” serv1ce
everal thh proﬁle NYSE hsted compames have dual hstmgs on The Nasdaq Stock Market

T radmg Executwn F unctwn "The principal market centers for buymg and selling equity securities in the
United States are The Nasdaq Stock Maiket, the national securities exchanges, including the NYSE and, to a
.. lesser extent, the: regronal stock’ exchanges and ECNs (sometlmes referred to as alternative trading systems)
These market centers employ drfferent business models for displaying current bids, offets and orders for the
purchase and sale of securlttes and for executlng those bids, offers and orders agamst each other ) S

Unhke exchanges such as the N YSE and Amex, that use an auctron process conducted ona physrcal tradmg '
ﬂoor the Nasdaq Market Center, our transaction‘based pIatform is a-fillly computerized, screen- based systern
that links over 250 competing market makers who commit capital and buy inventory to sell to ‘market participants.
from their own account. The average Nasdaq -listed stock has over 20 market makers, who are required at all .
tlmes to post their bid and offer prices into the Nasdaq Market Center, where such bids and offers can be -
reviewed and accessed for automatlc executron by all market participants. In addition, the system provrdes a
mechamsm ‘for broker-dealers (1 €., order entry firms) to post non-marketable limit orders for their own account
and from therr customers on an agency bas1s thus further enhancmg 11qu1d1ty in the Nasdaq Market Center o

Nasdaq hsted secunnes trade not Just through the Nasdaq Market Center, but also through other market ‘
centers such as ECNs and reglonal exchanges Currently,’ Nasdaq -listed securities trade on or are reported to
. Amex the Chlcago Stock Exchange the Boston Stock Exchange the Natlonal Exchange NASD’ s Altematlve
’D1sp1ay Facrhty, and the Pacrﬁc Exchange Competltlon among market centers for trading volume is intense
_because tradrng volume has become lncreasmgly portable, with broker-dealers developmg systems that quickly
enible them to smultaneously view 11qu1d1ty across all venues and to route orders to the destination offering the
best pr1ce or executlon service. Nasdaq generally genetates fees for transactlon exécution services through a '
transaction execution charge, assessed on a per share basis to the paity that accesses the hqu1d1ty (liquidity is the
© number and range of buy orders and sell orders avallable to Nasdaq’s market participants) provided by andther
market partrcrpant y RN
Nasdaq s largest competltors for tradlng in Nasdaq-hsted secuntles are the ECNs and ArcaEx the exclusrve
. equities tradmg fac111ty of the Pactﬁc Exchange In, 2004 56.7% of the tradlng volume in Nasdag-listed securities
. was conducted on ECNs and ArcaEx, mcludmg 10 0% of tradmg volume through Brut ECN, wh1ch Nasdaq
acqulred m September of, 2004 B .




'With the increase.in competition from ECNs, new trading technologies, and the change to decimals for
quoting securities prices, spreads between what buyers are willing to pay and:sellers are willing to sell a security
“for have narrowed considerably. As a result, while price is a paramount factor-for broker-dealers when ‘
determining where to route orders for execution, the cost of execution is, in many instances, an increasingly
important factor in such decisions. : :

Nasdaq also earns revenues based on its share of trading securities listed on the NYSE and Amex via the
Nasdaq Market Center, although the majority of trading at least with respect to NYSE-listed securities continues
to occur on the primary listing market. For example, 79.3% of the trading volume in NYSE securities occurred
on the NYSE and 13.7% was executed on the Nasdaq Market Center in-2004. In particular, Nasdagq is seeking to
increase its trading volume in NYSE-listed securities. Nasdaq believes that specialist-based auction markets do
not provide the same speed and execution accuracy as its electronic execution platform. Currently, trades
executed through Nasdaq’s trading platform are completed up to 3.3 times faster than those executed on the
NYSE, thereby giving Nasdaq Market Center participants greater assurance of execution. However, Nasdaq may
be hindered from increasing its market share in trading NYSE-listed securities due to regulatory limitations
imposed by-the “trade-through” rule of the Intermarket Trading System which links the exchanges and markets.
See ¢ ———Regulatlon—Recent Regulatory Developments.” :

The Market Data Function. In the 1970s, the U.S. Congress passed legislation, .and the SEC adopted rules,
to create a national market system that provides participants in U.S. equity securities markets with a consolidated
stream of quotation and transaction information from The Nasdaq Stock Market and the exchanges. The Nasdaq
Stock Market and the exchanges act jointly to collect and disseminate this information regarding the bids, offers
and orders posted by market participants and information regarding-price and volume for executed trades under
national market system plans approved by the SEC. These plans created securities information processors to
consolidate information with respect to best bid and offer information-and transactions, in order to increase
information availability and thus create the opportunity for a more transparent and effective market.

The price and transaction information collected under these natxonal market system plans—the Consolidated
Tape Plan (the “CTA Plan”) and the Consolidated Quotation Plan, (the “CQ Plan”) in the case of exchange-listed -
securities, and the Nasdaq Unlisted Trading Privileges Plan (the “UTP Plan”) in the case of Nasdag-listed
stocks—is sold for a fee to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to market participants such as
broker-dealers and to the public. These fees are referred to as “tape fees.” After costs are deducted, the tape fees
are distributed among the participants in each of the national market system plans based on their transaction
volume. ECNs are required to report trades executed through their systems for incorporation into the
consolidated market data, but ECNs are not eligible to receive a portion of the fees directly under the terms of the
plans. Certain exchanges and markets, including Nasdigq, also sell proprietary trade, quote and other market
information directly to market participants as well as vendors.

- As noted above, market data for exchange-listed securities is consolidated through the CTA/CQ Plans and,
as a member of these plans, Nasdaq shares in the revenues from the sale of market data related to transactions in
exchange-listed securities. Under the UTP Plan, each participant can quote and trade any security listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market. The UTP Plan entitles these exchanges to a share of Nasdaq’s tape fee revenues, roughly
_proportional to such exchanges’ share of trading of Nasdag-listed securities, as measured by share volume and
number of trades. :

Certain regional exchanges, such as the National Stock Exchange, have established programs to share the
tape fee revenues they received under the UTP Plan with market participants, including ECNs, that execute
and/or report trades in Nasdag-listed securities through their facilities, in order to increase their share of tape fee
revenues. Nasdaq also 1rnp1ernented a program to share the tape fee revenues it earned from the UTP Plan. As a
result of these actions, some ECNs and other market participants that internalized order flow began to report their
trades through the exchanges, rather than through Nasdaq. This increased the tape fee revenues Nasdaq shared
with other UTP Plan participants from the UTP Plan thereby reducing the amount of UTP Plan tape fee revenues
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retamed by Nasdaq In July 2002, the SEC issued an order that abrogated ‘the Nasdaq’s and the regional ,
-exchdnges’ tape feé revenues shanng programs. The SEC’s action wasin: response to concerns about the effect of =
tape fee rebates on the accuracy of market data and the regulatory functlons of self—regulatory orgamzatrons ’

roos

Nasdaq $ share of UTP Plan market data fees and tape fee revenues is dlrectly t1ed to'its' shafe of trade
executions and trade. reports in Nasdag-listed securities and trade executions in exchange-listed securities. In
order to increase 1ts -share of trading activity, in August 2003 Nasdaq filed with the SEC on an immediatély
_ effective basis, a new Nasdaq General ‘Revenue Sharing prograni, which provides for sharing operating revenues, :
which i$ net revenues after’ éxpenses from all services that dérive revenues from member trading and '
trade-reporting activity in Nasdag- -listed securities. Nasdaq began:sharing revenues under the new program in

* January 2004. Nasdaq’s acquisition of Brut, which previously reported its quotes and trades to the Boston Stock
Exchange, has incre_’as‘ed Nasdacj“tape\fee revenues, as Brut now reports its quotes and trades to Nasdag: -

Productsandbervwes

- - Nasdaq operates in'two segments Market Services and Issuer Servrces F1nanc1a1 information aboug
, segments and geographlc areas may be found in Note 18, “Segmients,” to the consolidated-financial statements.

Issuer Services. Olir Issuer Serv1ces segmient 1nc1udes our secunttes hstmgs business-and our ﬁnanc1al
' products busmess SRR : : O -

Securztzes Lzstmg Busmess We operate our securities listing busmess as the Corporate Chent Group, whrch '
prov1des cutomer support services and products to Nasdag-listed companles and is responsible for obtaining -
new listings on The Nasdaq’ 'Stock Market. More compames list on The Nasdaq Stock Market than any other U. S
market. The Nasdaq Stock Market has two tiers ‘of listed companies: The Nasdaq National Market, which
included 2,649 comipanies-as of December 31, 2004, and The Nasdaq SmiallCap Market, which included 622 -
smaller companies as of December 31, 2004. For the year ended December 31, 2003, 134 new companies listed
on The Nasdaq Stock Market, With 97 listings on The Nasdaq National Market. For the year ended December 31,
**2004, 260:néw companies listéd: on The Nasdag Stock Market, with- 225 listings on The Nasdaq National Market.
In addition, as of December 31 2004 and December 31, 2003, there were 335 and 337 forergn compames
. respectlvely, hsted on The Nasdaq Stock Market. -

Lo
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The companies that list on The Nasdaq Stock Market operate in diverse industries. The following chart
shows the percentage of Nasdag-listed U.S. companies by industry as of December 31, 2004.

APer-centage of Nasdaq-listed Companies by Industry
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We aggressively pursue new listings from companies undergoing an initial public offering.

Year Ended December 31,
e 2004 2003 2002
Initial public offerings listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market . . . .. e 148 54 46
Percentage of initial public offerings on primary U.S. markets .. .............. 61% 64% 50%
Capital raised by initial public offerings listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market

(inbillions) .................. FE $15.0 $6.2 $3.8

The increase in the number of U.S. initial public offerings on The Nasdaq Stock Market during 2003 and
2004 reflects an improvement in general market and economic conditions, which has allowed more growth
companies to access the public equity markets than in recent years. Over the past few years, competition for new
listings has come primarily from the NYSE.

After the initial listing, our Corporate Client Group provides customer support services, products and
programs to Nasdag-listed companies.

Since we announced an initiative to allow NYSE-listed issuers to dually list their stock on The Nasdaq Stock
Market and the NYSE in January 2004, several high profile NYSE-listed companies have dual-listed with Nasdaq.
The dual-listing initiative did not have a material effect on listing revenues during 2004 because we agreed to waive
initial, annual and listing of additional shares fees for dually listed NYSE companies for the first year of listing. We
continue to target additional companies about joining the dual-listing program. The dual-listing program is an
important part of our strategy to convince NYSE-listed companies to switch and list exclusively on The Nasdaq
Stock Market. We have also attracted listings from a number of foreign companies seeking to access U.S. capital
markets, and we believe that significant opportunities exist to gain new listings from foreign companies. As of
December 31, 2004, there were 335 foreign companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market,
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Each, year some compames cease hstrng Wlth us for several reasons..For the years ended December 31, 2004

~ - and December 31, 2003, 322 and 460 companies ceased listing on The Nasdaq Stock Market, respectively.

" Companies ¢ cease being listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market primarily-due to failing to meet our listing standards
‘and as a result of the donsolidation- of listifigs due fo business combmatlons and to a lesser extent as a result of
companies swrtchmg their listing to another listing venue. Dehstrngs of issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock
. -Market durrng 2004 have. declined by 30.0% compared wrth 2003 because of improved market conditions and the
: exprratron in 2003 0f a waiver to the mrnlmum bid price listing requirement following September 11, 2001

Nasdaq charges 1ssuers an 1n1t1a1 11st1ng fee a hstrng of additional shares fee and an annual fee. The initial
listing fee for securities listed on The N. asdaq Stock Market includes a listing application fee and a total shares
.- outstanding fee. The.fee for hstlng of additional Shares is'based on the total shares outstanding, which Nasdaq
" reviews quarterly.’ Annual-fees for securities listed on'The Nasdaq Stock Market are based on total shares
outstanding. Initial hstrng and hstmg of additional shares fees are recogmzed on a straight-line basis over
estimated service penods which are Slx and four years, respectively; based on our historical listing experience,
pursuant to the requrrements of SEC Staff Accountrng Bulletrn Toprc 13: Revenue Recognrtron ‘

Financial Products Busmess We develop and license Nasdag- branded financial products and associated
derivatives as part of Nasdaq' Frnancral Products including the QQQ, an ETF based on the Nasdag-100 Index
’ ' that is the most actrvely traded, ltsted secunty in the United States. ETFs aré investment companies organized to
track an index and allow for open, market tradrng We believe that these products leverage extend and enhance
' the Nasdag brand. We have also 1ntr0duced products based on other Nasdag indices, such as the Nasdaq
Composite Index and the Nasdaq Blotechnology Index.’ In addrtron to generating licensing revenues for us, these
products, particularly ETFs, can lead to increased investments in compames listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market,
which enhances our ability to attract new hstrngs We develop. these financial products and promote the listing of
these and other third party sponsored ETFs and structured products

We launched the Nasdaq 100 Index in J. anuary 1985. The Nasdag- 100 Index 1ncludes the top 100
non-financial companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. As of December 31,.2004, it was the benchmark for
approximately 30 domestic and international mutual funds A structured investment product is a specialized
security designed to'respond to specxﬁc investment obJect1ves such as risk reduction, leverage or diversification
of current 1nvestments Or tax management :

The Nasdaq 100 Index Tracklng Stock, the ETF based on the Nasdaq 100 Index began tradmg in 1999 In -
addition, there are Nasdaq 100 Index futures and options on Nasdaq-100 Index futures traded on the Chicago,
Mercantile Exchange: On December 1, 2004, QQQ switched its listing venue to The Nasdaq Stock Market under
the trcker symbol “QQQQ” from, Amex. As. discussed in “Market Services,” as a result of QQQ becoming a
N asdaq listed securrty, we beheve that there may be an mcrease in the total number of shares traded.in-
Nasdag-listed securities, there may be an increase in the total number-of trades reported to the N asdaq Market "
Center, and our percentage of trades reported in Nasdaq- hsted securities to the Nasdaq Market Center may e
decline. o

o

For the: yearaended December 31, 2003 QQQ s average daily: tradmg volume was.77. 5 million shares and its
average daily dollar volume was approxrmately $2.4 billion. For the year ended December.31, 2004; Qs .. -,
average daily trading volume was 98.5 million shares and its averagé dally dollar volume was approx1mately
$3.6 billion. QQQ is the most actively traded ETF in the world and the'most actively traded listed equity security
. in the-United- States ‘A of‘December 31, 2004, the QQQ trust had 1ssued approxrmately 555.8 rrnlhon shares and

assets under management had reached $22 2 billion. -+ .

: C o FANR ' o Coi . e .
We have been Workrng towards expandlng the number of ﬁnancral products hnked to the Nasdaq Composrte-
Index. In October 2003 the' Fldehty Nasdaq Composite Index Tracking Stock, or ONEQ, was listed on The
- Nasdaq Stock Market. ONEQ is an ETF based on the Nasdaq:Composite Index used under license by FMR. .
Corp., which owns Fidelity. Investments. We also license other Nasdaq Compos1te derivative products mcludrng
futures optrons and structured products S R . e




‘Markét Services. Our Market Services segment mcludes our transaction-based business and our market
information services business. . : :

The Nasdaqg Market Cem‘er. The Nasdaq Market Center is our transaction-based platform that provides our
market participants with the ability to access, process, display and integrate orders and quotes in The Nasdaq
Stock Market. The Nasdaq Market Center also_allows us to route and execute buy and sell orders as well as to
report transactions for over 7,800 equity securities (including ETFs) consisting of Nasdag-listed securities and
securities listed on national stock exchanges, such as the NYSE and Amex. Our market participants include
market makers, broker-dealers operating as ECNs, registered stock exchanges and other broker-dealers. We
provide these.quoting, trading, and trade reporting services for Nasdag-listed securities and securities authorized
for trading on the OTC Bulletin Board as well as exchange-listed securities.

Trade Execution Services. We provide market participants with the ability to access, process, display and
integrate orders and quotes In The Nasdag Stock Market. Specifically, the Nasdaq Market Center:

» Provides a comprehensive display of the interest by our market participants at the highest price a
pammpant is willing to buy a secunty (best bid) and also the lowest price a pamcrpant is willing to sell
that seeurlty (best offer)

* Provides subscnbers quotes orders and total-anonymous interest at every price level in the Nasdaq
- Market Center for Nasdag-listed securities and critical data for the Opening Cross and Closing Cross;
and '

» Provides anonymity to market participants, i.e., participants do not know the identity of the firm
displaying the order unless that firm chooses to reveal its identity, which can contribute to improved
pricing for securities by reducing the potential market impact that transactions by certain investors
whose trading activity, if known, may influence others.

Our execution services generate revenues from:

+  Transaction execution charges, which are charges assessed on a per share basis to the party that accesses
the liquidity provided by another market participant. In most circumstances, we credit a portion of the
‘per share execution charge as a rebate to the market participant that provides the liquidity (liquidity is
the’ fnumber and range of buy and sell orders available to our market participants). These charges
represent our primary fee for execution services; and

«  We also earn revenues based on our share of tape fees for the trading of securities listed on the NYSE
and Amex. .

In September 2004 we acqurred Brut from SunGard Data Systems, Inc for $190.0 million i in cash, subject ,
to certam post- closmg adjustments. The Brut acquisition benefits our operatrons for various reasons. As a result
of acqumng Brut:

- = --we provide our Nasdaq Market Center customers with deeper pools of hqurdlty in N asdaq -listed and
exchange -listed securities by adding Brut’s liquidity to ours;

¢ we expect to be able to apply Brut’s sophrstlcated order routing technology to al] orders entered into the '
’ Nasdaq Market Center beginning in the first half of 2005;

*  we connect drrectly with a number of customers who did not historically access our system, including
new customers such as retail broker-dealers, hedge funds and program trading desks;

"' in the first half of 2005, we expect that our customers will be able to access the order books of the
" - Nasdaq Market Center and Brut, which effectively will be combined into a central pool of liquidity
allewing our customers to obtain the best price, regardless of whether the trade was entered on the
- Nasdaq Market Center or Brut; and ‘

* we expect the Brut acqu1smon to generate synergies and to help further strengthen our operating
‘margins and profitability.




To enhance market transp_arencji, we. introduced 'thé_Opening_Crosé and Closing Cross in 2004. The Opening
. Cross is a new process for pre‘-m'arké; open-trading and price discovery consisting of a centralized order facility |
that provides market participants and investors with a highly transparent and accurate-opening price in
Nasdaq-listed secirities. Similarly, the Closing Cross is a centralized order facility that provides an orderly
market close for Nasdag-listed securrities. These facilities bring together buy and sell interest-in Nasdag-listed*
securitiés and execute all sharés for each stock at a single price, one that reflects the true supply. and demand for
the securities at thé«respéc‘:ﬁve ‘'open-or close of trading: Previously, our open and closing price for a particular
stock was the first-anid last transaction in the stock, respectively, regardless of size of the order or how much this

. transaction moved the stock pfi:cg:. Certain sponsors of stock indices, including the sponsors of the Russell, Dow
Jones, and Standard & Poors indexes; currently utilize the Closing Cross as a reference price for their stock
indices and we expect others to follow.. - e c R S

- Tradeé Reporting Services, All registered stock exchanges and securities associations are required to
establish a transaction reporting plan for the central collection of price and volume information c‘onceming‘_ trades

executed in those.markets. We provide three primary revenue-generating reporting services:

*  Trade rép’éifg_ing:CurrentIy, we do not charge market participants for most of the trades they report to
us. We do, however; earn revenues for all trades reported to us in the form of shared market information
revenues under the UTP Plan. The majority of trades reported to us are orders that broker-dealers have

" matched internally, or internalized, are submitted to.us for reporting purposes only and are reported to
the Securities Information Processor as part of the UTP Plan;

~* Trade éofhpariéonf—Wé also generate_'r‘eYerides by providiﬁg trade comparison to our market
~ participants by matching and locking-in the two market participants to a trade that they have submitted
to us forreporting and clearing; and " - BT
. *  Risk management—We provide clearing firms with risk management services to assist them in
. monitoring their exposure to their corréspondent brokers. . - : -

" Access Services to Our Trading Platform. We provide our market participants with several alternatives for.
accessing the Nasdag Market Centér for a fee..Some of the access services that we have historically provided are
low margin businesses, which we are taking steps to exit. By shifting connectivity to the Nasdaq Market Center
from proprietary networks to third-party networks, we have significantly reduced our technology and network
costs and increased our systems’ scalability without affecting performance or reliability. -

.+ The Nasdaq Market Center may be accessed using opir Financial Information Exchange (“FIX") product that

" uses the FIX protocol, a standard method of financial communication between trading firms and vendors, which
enables firms to leverage their existing FIX techriology with cost-effective connections to us. We are developing
QIX, a derivative of.FIX, t6 be a iew proprietary programming interface that will provide a more streamlined *

. and efficient protocol-for our users with expanded functionality, including price quotations that will also be tnore

- cost effective than existing: Nasdaq proprietary interfaces, -As' part of QIX and FIX; individual market participants
will be responsible for directly maintaining connectivity to the Nasdaq Market Center in most cases by
‘connecting through a third party financial, extranet provider. Market participants may also access the Nasdaq.
Market Center using:Computer-to-Computer- interface, which allows market participants to enter transactions

- directly from their computer systems to our computer systems. Many small order-entry and market making firms
‘access'the Nasdaq M'arket Centet using our Internet browser-based access method, Workstation Weblink, which
- provides small firms'with a:low-cost option for performing basic trade reporting and risk management functions

. as well as order routing: Finally, market participants may access the Nasdaq Market Center using our software

application Nasdaq.Workstation II or our application program interface. Both Nasdaq Workstation II and our

* application program interface-aré slated for retirement by the end of 2005 and all current market participants

’using‘these access rhl;thods will be migrated to FIX and/or QIX. We are migrating users away from Nasdaq

Workstation II in pa;'f't;bg:ca'use we are exiting the low-margin business of providing proprietary network

connectivity to.the Nasdaq Market Center. - I o

10




-Market Information. We provide varying levels of quote and trade information to market participants and to
data vendors, who in turn sell subscriptions for this information to the public as part of our Nasdaq Market Services
Subscriptions business. We collect information, distribute it and earn revenues in different roles. Recently, the QQQ
switched its listing venue to The Nasdaq Stock Market. As a result of QQQ becoming a Nasdag-listed security, we
believe that there may be an increase in the total number of shares traded in Nasdag-listed securities, there may be
an increase in the total niumber of trades reported to the Nasdaq Market Center, and our percentage of trades
reported in Nasdag-listed securities to the Nasdag Market Center may decline.

We operate as the exclusive Securities Information Processor as part of the UTP Plan for the collection and
dissemination of the best bid and offer information and last transaction information from the exchanges and
markets that quote and trade in Nasdag-listed securities. We do not generate any profits from our role as the
Securities Information Processor. In our role as the Securities Information Processor, we collect and disseminate
quotation and last sale information for all transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities whether on The Nasdaq Stock
Market or on other exchanges. We sell this information to data vendors, which the data vendors then sell to the
public. After deducting certain costs associated with acting as an exclusive Securities Information Processor, we
distribute the-tape fees to the respective UTP Plan participants, including us, based on a combination of the
participants’ respective trade volume and-share volume.

In addition, all Nasdaq Market Center trades in exchange-listed securities are reported and disseminated in
real time, and as such, we share in.the tape fees for information on NYSE- and Amex-listed securities.

Our market participants have real-time access to quote and trade data. Interested parties that are not direct
market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market also can receive real-time quote and trade information through a
number of proprietary products that we offer. We have expanded our ability to offer market data to market
participants that choose to display trading interest on the Nasdaq Market Center that goes beyond the best bid and
offer information. We offer-a range of proprietary data products including Total View, our flagship market depth
quote product. TotalView shows subscribers quotes, orders and total anonymous interest at every price level in
the Nasdaq Market Center for Nasdag-listed securities and critical data for the Opening Cross and Closing Cross.
TotalView is offered through distributors to professional subscribers for a monthly fee per terminal and to
non-professional subscribers for a lower monthly fee per terminal. In addition, we charge the distributor a
monthly distributor fee.

We operate several other proprietary services and data feed products, which include:

+ the Mutual Fund Quotation Service, a listing service for over 20,000 mutual funds, money market funds
-and unit investiment trusts that supports fund data, including net asset values, and capital gains and
“dividend income distribution and provrdes print and electromc media exposure for the funds;

Te the Mutual Fund Dissemination Service, a service that facrhtates the real-time and end-of-day recap
dlssemlnatron of all mutual fund pricing 1nforrnatron and is used by data vendors and media to receive
complete net asset value data on funds listed with us;

¢ Nasdaqg.com, a leading financial website for the investor community that generates revenues from-
advertising and product sales; :

. Néisdaq’i"rader com, 4 financial website that provides broker-dealers and market data venders with
. information and data regarding our corporate initiatives (such as Open and Closing Crosses) and other
. '_products and services for a monthly subscnptlon fee;.and '

. ~ Nasdaq Index Dissemination service, a real-time data feed that carries the values for a number of
_ broad-based and sector indices and ETFs.

Other Products and Markets

Nasdaq Insurance Agency, . LLC. We operate The Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC (“NIA”), which provides
insurance brokerage services.and specializes in the-directors and officers liability insurance market. On January
1, 2005, we acquired the 50% of NIA that we did not already own from a wholly-owned subsidiary of American
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Internat10nal Group, Inc Prror to J: anuary 1, 2005 Nasdaq accounted for its investment in NIA under the equrty
method of accountmg S f s . . . . , _

f : OTC Bulletm Board The OTC Bulletln Board is an electronrc screen-based market for equrty securities
that, among. ‘other things; are not; listed'on The. Nasdagq Stock Market or any primary-U.S. riational securities
, exchange The OTC, Builletin: Board is only a quotation service without any execution facilities. Companies do’
"'not list on the OTC Bulletin Board; rather, NASD members may post.quotes only for companies that file periodic
repoits with the SEC and/or with a banking or insurance regulatory authority. In addition, these companies are
required to be current w1th their perrod1c filings: Market makers are charged a fee per position‘and are billed
. based-on their numiber of pos1t10ns dunng a.month. A position is defined as any price quotation or indication of "
-~ interest entered by amarket maker in 4 sécurity’ quOted on'the OTC Bulletin Board. There are no fees charged to
- companies whose' sécurities are quoted on the OTC Bulletm Board -‘Revenues generated from the OTC Bulletm :
Board are 1ncluded in Market SerV1ces revenues : : . R

! 'tf'\ ey [ORREN

o

The Nasdaq Board of Drrectors and NASD Board of Govemors are cons1der1ng whether N asdaq will
continue to operate the OTC: Bulletm Board-after exchange registration or whether the OTC Bulletin Board will’
‘be transferred to NASD or another entrty In order to operate the OTC Bulletin Board after exchange regrstratlon
‘Nasdaq would need to enter into l1st1ng agreements with OTC Bulletin Board issuers or to receive an exemptlon
* from certain SEC hstmg requ1rements that apply to natlonal securities exchanges “We beheve that such an ‘
exemption is authorized under the Exchange Act! but’it is‘Unclear whether the SEC would grant such an - '

- exemption were Nasdaq to request 1t As a result, it is not certain whether Nasdaq will continue to operate the
: OTC Bulletm Board followmg exchange regrstratron o ‘

‘ aFeeChanges - . tf : -;‘ coplt , ‘

- We'may change the prrcrng of olir products and services in response to competitive pressures or changes n’
rnarket or general gconomic cond1t10ns Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, Nasdaq must file all
proposals for a change in its pr1c1ng structure with the SEC. Nasdaq provides updated information on the pricing-
of its products-and Services-on its websrte at www. nasdaqtrader com. Information on Nasdaq s website is nota
part of this Form-10- K See also"“—Competmon and “—Risk Factors—We face s1gn1ﬁcant competmon m our
bus1ness : L

‘ Technology

" Over the past two years we have reduced our technology costs consxstent with our regulatory obhgatrons
by migrating to fewer, less.expensive technology platforms, introducing less expensive network solutions, and by .
reducing our workforce We use state-of-the-art computer networking and information technologies, which we
believe contmues to. d1st1ngu1sh us from other U.S. securities markets Using technology, we eliminate the need
fora physrcal tradmg floor and énable qualified mvestors across the country to compete freely with one another
in a screen-based environment by placmg the1r orders through broker-dealers for executron in the Nasdaq Market
Center.- * - S (S B -

The Nasdaq Market Center systems are located in a processing complex in Trumbull, Connecncut The

- systemis have handled trade volume of over.thrée billion;shares daily and over 19,600 transactions per second and
are des1gned to maxmnze transaction relrabrhty and network security across each of the most crrtrcal system
services that comprise The Nasdaq Stock Market. In addition, these systems currently have reserve capacity to’

* handle far greater levéls of act1v1ty, incliding the ability'to handlé trade volume exceéding five billion shares -
daily. To maxrrmze rehablhty, we have developed a backup system in the event the pnmary systéms are unable
to perform '

. Market data from our. quote and trade execution systems are transferred via high-speed communications
‘ links'to a market data repositorysand are available for real-time analysrs historicdl analysis; market surveillance
“and regulat1on and data mlmng ‘The information: is:provided to apphcat10ns and users through relat1onal

_database, h1gher—leve1 access facilities. and Internet appl1cat10ns SR S e T




Competition

The €quity securities markets are intensely competitive and we expect to Temain one of the leaders in each
of our principal businesses. We compete based on a number of factors, including the quality of our technological
and regulatory irifrastructure; total transaction costs, the dépth and breadth of our markets, the quality of our
value-added customer services, reputation and price.

Issuer Servlces .

Lzstmgs -We compete pnmanly with the NYSE for larger company listings on The Nasdaq National Market.
We compete for new listings in a company’s initial public offering as well as for companies to change their
listing venue. from an exchange to The Nasdaq Stock Market. Prior to.2003, the NYSE rules made it very
difficult for companies to voluntarily-delist from the NYSE. In January 2004, we announced an initiative to allow
NYSE-listed issuers to dually list their stock on The Nasdaq Stock Market and the NYSE. Since the
announcement of this initiative, several NYSE-listed companies have dual-listed with Nasdaq. While we agreed
to waive our listing fees in 2004 for the first year, we believe that the dual-listing program will enhance .
competition, thereby benefiting investors, and has the potential to generate revenues for us from listing fees in
subsequent years and from a possible increase in the trading of these stocks through our systems. We continue to
target additional companies about joining the dual- listing program. In addition to our dual- listing program, we
continue to target companies about changing their listing venue from the NYSE to The Nasdaq Stock Market.

Financial Products. Nasdag-sponsored financial producis are subject to intense competition from other
ETFs, derivatives and structured products as investment alternatives. The source of this competition is not only
large ETF family sponsors, but also, increasingly, from other mutual fund sponsors originating ETFs. Likewise,
The Nasdaq Stock Market is subject to intense competition for the listing of these products from other exchanges.
The indices on which ‘these products are based face competition from other indices which can be considered -
competitive with Nasdaq indices. For example, there are a number of indices that aim to track the technology
sector and may from time to time have a high degree of correlation with the Nasdaq-100 Index and Nasdaq
Composite Index. We, as a new product innovator, face competition among other investment banks, markets or

" other product developers in des1gnmg products that meet investor needs.

Market Services. Our core trading services provide access to The Nasdaq Stock Market; execution services, -
such as quoting and trading capabllmes and reporting services, such as trade reporting and risk management. We
expect to face competition from a number of different sources in providing these services including:

+ ECNs, which have consolidated to form large transaction service providers, particularly in the execution
of Nasdag-listed securities. In addition, if ECNs obtain reglstratlon as exchanges, they will compete for
- market data services, and potentially, for listings;

+ Competing regional stock exchanges, which are attracting trading activity and trade reports previoﬁslj'

" submitted to Nasdaq, and NASD’s Alternate Display Facility, which provides an alternative quotation
and trade reporting venue. In addition, competing stock exchanges are perrmtted by the SEC to regulate
trading in their markets at a lower cost than us;

* The NYSE and Amex as well as ECNs as we seek to increase our share of trading in exchange-listed
securities; and '

+  Companies that could prov1de tradmg services for products and services, including software companies,
-information and media companies and other companies that are not currently in the securities business.

‘To address competitive concerns, we have enhanced our technology and:the services we provide to our
market participants. We have also reduced the number of technology platforms that we offer, thereby lowering .
data center and network costs, eliminated non-core businesses and reduced our work force so that we can offer
market participants some of the most competitive prices in the industry. For each component of the Nasdaq
Market Center, we have attempted to make pricing more attractive in order to retain usage of our services. We
have also-actively marketed ourselves to ECNs to induce participation in our systems.
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- We seek to improve our competitive position by e‘nhancing the functionality of the Nasdaq Market Center "
and related products We also beheve that we have enhanced our competitive position through.our acquisition of
Brut ECN Brut was acqurred to deepen our pool of hquldrty, enhance our competitive posrtronmg and enable our
‘ customers to access multrple th1rd party dest1nat1ons not prevrously avallable through our systems. :

Our market services subscnptron revenues are under competrtlve threat from other securities exchanges that ’
trade Nasdag-listed securities, mcludmg the established regional exchanges and NASD’s Alternative Display

- Facility. Current SEC regulatlons permit these regional exchanges and NASD’s Alternative Display Facility to

. quote and trade certain securities that are not listed on anational securities exchange, including Nasdag-listed -
securities. Nasdaq’s:UTP Plan entitles these exchanges and NASD’s-Alternate Display Facility to a share of UTP"
_ Plan tape fees, in proportion.to $uch exchange’s share.of trading as measured by share volume and number of "+ -
trades. Participants.in the UTP:Plan have used tape fee revenues to establish payment for order flow. -
arrarigements with.their members-and customefs. In January-2004, we implemented anew ‘tiered pricing structure
‘and the Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Program, which provides incentives for quoting market participants o °
" send orders and report trades to'the Nasdaq Market Center. To remain competitive, our trade reportlng fees or
tape fee shanng may ‘be ad]usted in-the future to respond to compeutrve pressures ERER :
it RTINS B - : :
i ArcaEx whrch’ 18 operated by Archipelago Holdrngs ‘Inc., once quoted and reported its trades to us. As the "
. -current. facility of the Pacific:Exchange, ArcaEx-now quotes and reports certain of its trades to the Pacific
. Exchange and is able to parucrpate in the consolidation, dissemination and sale of market data through the
" Pacific Exchange! In -addition, Archrpelago Holdings, Inc. anmnounced in January 2005 that it had reached an
agreement to acqurre ‘the parent‘company of the Pacific Exchange Another of our competrtors INET, which i is
an'ECN; has announced plans to-apply for exchange registration and has expressed interest in becormng a UTP
Plan’ parttcrpant INET would be’ elrg1ble for a share of thé' UTP Plan tape fees generated by the sale of ¢ our R
market 1nformat10n products New UTP Plan partrcrpants may also reduce therr use of our systems '
We aré also respondrng aggressrvely to competmon by updatmg ‘and 1nnovat1ng new data products to -
’ pr0v1de market part101pants with increased funct1onal1ty and new and more extensive market mformatron '

Regulatlon

' Federal securmes laws estabhsh a two- trered system for the regulat1on of securmes markets market | :'
‘participants and listed companiés. The SEC occupies the first tier and has primary responsrblhty for enforcmg
" federal securitiess laws Self-regulatory ‘organizations or'SROs, which are non-governmental organizations,
occupy the. second tier. Self-regulatory organizations are registered.-with the' SEC and-are subject to-the SEC’s
- extensive regulation and over51ght NASD is an SRO. We operate pursuant to delegated authority under NASD’s
SRO regrstratron ThlS regulatory framework applies.to our busmess in the following ways: S

*”-l regulatron of The Nasdaq Stock Market and- R

e regulanon of our broker dealer subsrdrary, Brut, LLC

The rules and regulatrons that apply to ourbusiness are focused ‘ptimarily on safeguardmg the 1ntegr1ty of

. the securities markets and of market participants and investors generally. While we believe that regulation

improves the quality.of The Nasdaq Stock Market and, therefore, our company, these rules and regulatlons are

- not-focused on the protection.of our stockholders. Federal securities laws and the rules that govern our operations

- are subject to frequent change. Any subsequent change in law -or regulation, or changes in the interpretation or -
enforcement of exrstmg laws or regulatrons may adversely affect iour busmess ﬁnanc1al condrttons and operatlng

results. _ o : : .
" SEC and Self-Regulatory Organization Regulation. As the operator of a securities market, virtually all -

facets of our operations are subject to.the SEC’s oversight, as prescribed by the Exchange Act and we are subject -

to' periodic and special examinations by the SEC. We.also .are potentially subject to regulatory or legal action by .
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the SEC or other interested parties at any time in-connection with alleged regulatory violations. We have been
subject to.a number of routine reviews and inspections by thé SEC. To the extent such actions or reviews and
inspections result in regulatory or other changes, we may be required to. modify the manner in which we conduct
our business, which may adversely affect our business. We are also subject to Section 17 of the Exchange Act,
which imposes record- keepmg requxrements including the requlrement to make certain records available to the
SEC for examination.

Section 19 of the Exchange Act also provides that we must submit proposed changes to any of the SRO
rules, practices and procedures, including revisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, to the SEC.
The SEC will typically publish the proposal for public comment, following which the SEC may approve or
~ disapprove the proposal, as it deems appropriate. The SEC’s action is designed to ensure that applicable SRO
rules and procedures are consistent'with the aims of the Exchange Act and its rules and regulations. If the SEC
disapproves a proposal that we have submitted, it could have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and operating results. In addition, pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, we must file all
proposals for a change in our pricing structure with the SEC.

Unless and until our exchange registration application is granted by the SEC, our authority to operate The
Nasdaq Stock Market is delegated to us pursuant to the Delegation Plan by NASD. SROs in the securities
industry are an essential component of the regulatory scheme of the Exchange Act for providing fair and orderly .
markets and protecting investors. The Exchange Act and the rules thereunder impose on the SROs many
regulatory and operational responsibilities, including the day-to-day responsibilities for market and broker-dealer
oversight. In general, an SRO is responsible for regulating its members through the adoption and enforcement of
rules and regulations governing the business conduct.of its members

NASD is currently responsible for the regulation of the trading activity on The Nasdaq Stock Market as well
as other segments of the over-the-counter market. Nasdaq has a limited role in conducting real-time market
monitoring through its MarketWatch department. This department, among other things, monitors for trades
whose prices are away from the current market and initiates trading halts as necessary. Suspicious trading
behavior discovered by MarketWatch staff and all other Nasdaq employees is referred to NASD for further
investigation. NASD also performs the market surveillance functions of Nasdaq. We will seek to preserve this
regulatory separatlon if exchange registration is granted to us:

We have certain additional regulatory functions related to companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market
that are handled by our Listing Qualifications department. This department is responsible for maintaining a -
compliance-monitoring and enforcement program with respect to our requirements for initial and continued
listing. Companies that wish to list on The Nasdaq Stock Market are required to satisfy a variety of quantitative
and qualitative requirements to become listed and to continue to be listed, including all our corporate governance -
listing standards. Companies that fail to maintain compliance with these requirements are subject to being
delisted. To provide regulatory transparency and assist issuers in maintaining compliance, our Listing
Qualifications department provides written interpretations with respect to the application of our listing
requirements and maintains a website providing interpretive guidance.

The SEC recently approved new listing standards with respect to listing our common stock on The Nasdaq
Stock Market. These listing standards require periodic reporting of compliance to the SEC and an annual
compliance audit by an independent accounting firm. Our failure to maintain compliance with these listing
standards could result in our common stock being delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market. See “—Risk
Factors—The SEC may challenge or not approve our plan to become a national securities exchange or it may
require changes in the manner we conduct our business before granting this approval which may adversely
impact our business or our shareholders.”

Broker-Dealer Regulation. In addition, Brut, LLC, our broker-dealer subsidiary, is subject to regulation by
the SEC, the SROs and the various state securities regulators. Brut, LLC is registered as a broker-dealer with the
SEC and in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. It is also a member of NASD. Brut also is
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- examiring authority, or DEA. The DEA is Tesponsible for-examining a broker-dealer for compliarice with'the' -

registered as.an Alternative T radl‘ng<S‘ystem under the SEC’s Regulation ATS and is required to comply with
Regulation ATS: The SEC:anid NASD adopt rules @nd examine brokerdealers-and require strict compliance with..

- their rules and regulanons The:SEC, SROs and state securities commissions may conduct administrative .
proceedlngs whiich can result in censure, fine, the issuancé of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or:
expulsion of a broker-dealer, ifs officers-or ‘employees, The SEC and state regulators may also institute

* proceedings against broker-dealers seeking an 1nJunctron or other sanction. The SEC and SRO rules cover many. *
aspects of a broker-dealer’s business, including capital structure and withdrawals, sales methods, trade practices -

. among broker- dealers usé and safekeeprng of customers’ funds and securities; record- keeprng, the ﬁnancrng of ‘
customers’ purchases broker-dealer and employee: regrstratron and the-conduct of directors, officers and - '

‘ ’employees All'broker- dealers have an SRO that is assigned by the SEC as the broker-dealer’s designated

SEC’s findncial responsibility rilles. NASD s Brut’s ¢urrént DEA; and the SEC has requested that Brut-become a
member of the NYSE so that the NYSE ‘can become Brut”s DEA. A failure to comply with the SEC’s request'in a
: satrsfactory manner may have adverse consequences and changrng Brut’s DEA may entarl addrtronal regulatory :
) ,costs . o :

. ‘As a registered- broker-dealer and member of NASD Beut, LLC is subject to the Uniform Net Capital Rule

under the Exchange ‘Act. The Uniform Net Capital Ruile’ specrﬁes the minimum level of net capital a broker- .- - -

- dealer must mdintain and also requires that-at least a rhinimum paft of its assets be kept in relatively liquid form. *

- As of December 31, 2004, Brut; LLC was fequiréd to maintaifi minimum net capital of $1.7 million and had total

_net capltal of approxrmately $8.1 rrullron or $6 4 million in excess of the minimum amount requrred

The SEC and NASD 1mpose rules that requ1re n0t1ﬁcat10n when net capltal falls below: certam predeﬁned

criteria, dictate the tatio of debt to equity in the regulatory capital composition of a broker-dealer and constrain
the" abrhty of a broker- dealer-to. expand its business. under certain ¢ircumstances. Additionally, the Uniform Net

‘ Caprtal Rulé and NASD rules impose-certain requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer

- from distributing or w1thdraw1ng cap1tal and requrrmg pnor notice to the. SEC and NASD for certain wrthdrawals
ofcap1tal * ol ‘ : - e
- Recent Regulatory Developments In February 2004 the SEC proposed Regulanon NMS, whrch is des1gned

" to modernize the regulatory structure of the U.S. equity markets. In December 2004, the SEC reproposed a -
revised Regulation NMS for publlc comment. Regulation NMS addresses the trade-through rule, intermarket
access, market data.and sub- -penny pricing. The “trade- through” rule generally prohibits a market center from
executing transactions in its:own market-if a’better-priced buy or sell order is displayed in a competing market
center such as the. NYSE. Market centers must, instead, route the customer order through the Intérmarket Trading’
System to the other market center.in an-attempt to execute against the better-priced order. Under current rules, a

- market center has between 30 secondstand two minutes.to decide whether to execute orders routed from Nasdag;
during which time, the customer-order routed-from Nasdaq cannot be canceled. Nasdaq believes that the * "
requirement to route orders through the Intermarket Trading System, and the time delay attendant to such
rout1ng, drscourages some, customers from trading- NYSE listed securities on Nasdaq

-»

Specrﬁcally, Regulatwn NMS would

Kl establlsh a: unlform trade through rule for all tradmg centers that generally would requrre tradrng centers
to establish procedures o prevent the executron of trades at a price inferior to displayed quotatrons that
-, -are capable of 1mmed1ate automatrc executron Under one: SEC proposal; the rule-would only protect :
_ the best bids and offers (“BBO”) of the exchanges Nasdag and NASD’s Altematrve Drsplay Facility.
' Under an altematrve proposed by the SEC, the rile would protect the BBOs of these trading centers and
would also establish a fiechanism for a market voluntanly to secure protectton for its quotatrons at
prices below its best bid or above its best offer.

1.e . establish a umform market access rule.to promote non- discrinnnatory access to the best prices displayed
"~ byr market centers, cap aceess fees at three-tenths of a cent per share per trade and restrict entry of: -
quotatrons that’ lock or cross the quotations of otheér markets :
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+ update the formulas for allocating revenues derived from market:data fees by including a component
- that reflects quoting activity and ehmrnatmg allocations for manual quotations, require the creation of
advisory committees composed of non-SRO representatlves to the national market system plans, and
. _ authorize market centers to distribute the_rr own data independently of other markets.

-+ prohibit market participants from ac‘(:epting, ranking, or displaying orders; quotes, or indications of
interest in a pricing increment less than a penny in national market system stocks, except when such’
orders, quotes, or indications of interest are priced below $1.00.

Under Regulation NMS, the potential modifications to the “trade through” rule would require trading
centers 1o establish procedures designed to prevent trade throughs. Protection under this rule would be given only
for automated quotes capable of immediate execution without himan intervention. The rule would also include,
certain exceptions. We generally believe that the SEC’s review of the “trade through’ rule and focus on
electronic markets has positive elements for us as it will lead to a more electronic trading model, which is
consistent with our strategy. However it is unclear whether and, if so which, changes will be made to the trade-
through rule and whether any such changes would impact the Nasdaq Market Center’s share of trading in NYSE-~
listed securities or Nasdag- -listed securities. In addition, Regulation NMS may lead to structural change in how
securities trade and report, which are unknown and could have an adverse 1mpact on our financial results or’

‘whichc "could adversely affect our competitive posmon

+

In addition, the SEC has recently proposed Regulat1on AL, a'new regulation that would institute a set of
rules for demutualized exchanges and securities associations that list their own securities or those of an affiliate.
If Regulatron AL is adopted by the SEC, we may have to amend our listing standards related to the listing of our
common stock on the Nasdaq National Market to comply with Regulatlon AL to the extent that Regulation AL
supersedes our listing standards

The SEC pubhshed a concept release in November 2004 requestlng public comment on the structure of the
self-regulatory system, including alternative approaches to securities industry self—regulatron Certain of the
approaches discussed by the SEC in the release call for a single SRO (the “Universal Regulator”) that would be
responsible for all rules, for all markets and for all members. Under these models, all markets, both the Nasdaq
and exchange markets, would be registered with the Universal Regulator and would not have any self-regulatory
authority. Other models discussed by the SEC would srgmﬁcantly reduce or even eliminate securities industry
self-regulation altogether.

Nasdaq’s ability to compete effectively in the future may be impacted hy the provrsrons of Regulation NMS
and Regulation AL, if approved by the SEC, and any changes resultmg from the SEC’ s concept release issued in
November 2004.

Finally, in January 2005 the SEC in a letter addressed to all SROs requested that all SROs, 1nclud1ng
Nasdagq, consider adopting rule changes that would prohlbrt broker-dealers from splitting large orders into a
series of smaller ones for the purpose-of maximizing the tape fee revenues they-receive from the SRQOs to which
they report their trades. The SEC staff also indicated that the market data plans are flawed by an excessive focus
on the number of trades reported by. an SRO. The staff indicated that it remains concerned with the incentive
structure in the market data plans and asked the SROs to further consider how to modify their methods for
reporting trades to the consolidated tape. The SEC staff has requested that the SROs coordinate their efforts and
provide a response by February. 22, 2005. At this time, we cannot predict what changes if any, will be
1mp1emented as a result of the SEC’s letter. :

Employees
As of March 1, 2005, Nasdaq had 784 -employees. None of its employees is subject to collectrve bargarmng

agreements or is represented by a umon Nasdaq considers its relatrons with its employees to be good.
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Nasdaq Websrte and Avarlablhty of SEC Filings . . - . .

‘Nasdaq’s Internet websrte is wiww. nasdaq com. Informatron on our website is not a part of this Form 10-K.
We 'will make avarlable free of charge on our website, or provrde a link to, our Forms 10-K, Forms 10-Q and
"Forms 8-K and any amendments to these documents, that dre ﬁled or furnished pursuant to Section l3(a) or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act.as: ;5000 a§. reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furmsh it
.to the SEC. To access these ﬁhngs go to Nasdaq’s websrte and clrck on “Inside NASDAQ then clrck on
“Investor Relations,” then clrck on “SEC Fllmgs e X .

Servrce, Regulatory and Technology Contractual Relatlonshlps with'NASD, NASDR and Amex

- . Regulatory Servzces Agreement Pursuant to the Delegatron Plan NASD Regulatron Inc. (“NASDR”) a’
wholly -owned subsrdrary of NASD currently provrdes us with regulatory services, including the regulation of
trading activity on The Nasdaq Stock Market and the over-the-counter market and market surveillance functions
of Nasdaq We do not have a formalrzed Wrrtten agreement with NASDR for the performance of regulatory
services prior 10 us receiving exchange registration. We. have approached NASD about formahzrng the servrces ,
provrded pursuant to the Delegat1on Plan in a new written contract to be effective until exchange registration is
granted but we ¢an offer no. assurances that NASD will enter into such an agreement with us. In 2004, we pard

" NASDR $45.6 mrlhon for regulatory servrces provrded pursuant to the Delegation Plan, versus $61.8 million in,
2003. The reduction was due to careful review of NASDR charges and the allocation of these charges among the :
markets and mémbers it regulates The ongoing review of these charges and the related services will continue and
may result in‘a further reductron of these costs in 2005 wrthout affectrng the qualrty of regulatory oversrght

" We have entered mto a regulatory sefvices agreement pursuant to'which NASDR woild provide regulatory
services to u§ commencrng “‘upén-the effectivéness of excharge registration. As we have not been granted
“exchange registration by the SEC, no services have been performed under this agreement. Pursuant to.thé terms
of the regulatory services agreement the services provrded will be of the same type and scope-as are currently
provrded by NASDR to us under thé' Delegatron Plan. Each regulatory service is to be provided for a minimum of -
ﬁve years, after whrch trme the partles may, determrne to terrmnate 4 particular service. The termination of a
.partrcular servrce wrll generally be based upon a revrew of pncmg “and the need for such services.

- :Srmrlar to the servrces NASDR currently provrdes us, under the regulatory servrces agreement NASDR will:
.« review and approve new member apphcatrons

. . perform automated surverllance of tradrng on The Nasdaq Stock Market;

E N I . -
.. revrew member ﬁrm complrance wrth the rules and regulatlons applrcable to tradrng and market-makmg
functrons in The Nasdaq Stock Market;

. 1nvest1gate susprcrous actrvrty in quotrng and tradmg on The Nasdaq Stock Market
, o :'conduct exarmnatrons of member firms s -,l.; ‘ ’ ‘

e 1n1t1ate the drscrplrnary process once it is deterrnmed that a potentral vrolatron of a federal securrtres law
. or.rule, or:an'SRO rule may have occurred; and -

. operate an arbrtratron program and a medratron program for the resolutron of customer member ﬁrm
. employee and Nasdaq member—to member drsputes

. Separation q and Common Servzces Agreement Although it is contemplated that NASD will eventually
~.completely divest its ownershrp interest in Nasdag, there may ‘still exist certain contractual relationships between
'the parties once this happens For example, under the separatron and common services agreement with NASD,
'NASD has provided us certam facilities sharing services for which we have paid NASD the costs of the services
-provided, mcludmg any mcrdental expenses associated with such services. The services provided by NASD have
declined in recent years and were $1.2 million in 2003 and dé minimis in 2004. We do not anticipate NASD
 providing servrces of thrs nature to Nasdaq in future periods. .
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Agreements related to Amex. We enteréd into a technology transition agreement with NASD and Amex to
provide for the sharing of certain administrative and regulatory technologies between us and Amex and the
provision of certain technology services by us to Amex. Pursuant to this agreement, Amex will pay us the direct
costs of the services provided by us, plus certain administrative costs. In addition, this agreement provides that
we and NASD contribute to a fund, administered by NASD, to pay the costs incurred in the implementation of
this agreement. In 2002 and 2001, we accrued $5.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively, under this
commitment, fulfilling our commitment. As of December 31, 2003 $9.5 million has been paid to Amex. The
remaining funds were paid in 2004,

InJ anuary 2005, Amex announced that a transactlon transferrmg control of Amex to The Amex
Membership Corporation from NASD had closed.

We also entered into a master agreement with NASD and Amex to govern certain non-technology related
matters among the parties. This agreement, among other things, set forth the terms, as between Nasdaq and
Amex, pursuant to which Amex continued to list the QQQ. In November 2004, we amended the master
agreement and on December 1, 2004, the QQQ switched its listing venue to The Nasdag Stock Market and trades
under the ticker symbol “QQQQ.” Under the agreement, as amended, Amex will pay us a fee of $1.6 million for
its listing, trading and marketing of QQQ for a period prior to transfer of the QQQ listing to Nasdag, which was
partially offset by a payment by us to Amex of approximately $0.5 million for past services.

For further discussion of these agreements and our other related. party transactions, see “—Risk Factors—
We have a lack of operating history as for-profit entity,” “—Risk Factors—Our agreements with NASD and its
other affiliates may not be on terms as favorable to-us as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties
and we have potential conflicts of interest with NASD and related parties,” “—Risk Factors—NASD will
continue to maintain voting control over us until exchange registration is granted and may have interests that are -
different from yours and, therefore, may make decisions that are adverse to your interests” and “Item 13. Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions.” .

Executive Officers

The executive officers of Nasdaq are as follows:

Robert Greifeld ............ 47  Chief Executive Officer and President

Bruce Aust ............ ... 41 Executive Vice President—Corporate Client Group

Christopher R. Concannon ... 37 Executive Vice President—Transaction Services

AdenaT. Friedman ......... 35 . Executive Vice President—Data Products and Corporate Strategy

RonaldHassen ............ 52 Senior Vice President, Controller, Principal Accounting Officer and

. Treasurer

JohnL.Jacobs ............. 46  Executive Vice President of Nasdaq Global Funds and Worldwide
‘ . ‘ - Marketing

Edward S. Knight .......... 54 Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Steven J. Randich .......... 42 Executive Vice President Operations & Technology and Chief

Information Officer
David P. Warren ........... 50 Executive Vice President—Chief Fmanmal Officer

Robert Greifeld, a member of the Nasdaq Board, was appointed our President and Chief Executive Officer
in May 2003. Prier to joining us, Mr. Greifeld was an Executive Vice President at SunGard Data Systems, Inc., a
global provider of integrated software and processing solutions for financial services and a provider of
information availability services. Mr. Greifeld joined SunGard in 1999 through SunGard’s acquisition of
Automated Securities Clearance, Inc., where from 1991-1999, Mr. Greifeld was the Chief Operating Officer.
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Bruce Aust becarii¢ the Executive Vice President of the Corporate Client Gioup in July 2003. Prior to his
‘ current posmon M. Aust served as Executive Director and Vice President of the Corporate Client Group.-Before
© joining Ndsdaq.in 1998; Mr ‘Aust served 12 years atFidelity Investments in a variety of sales, tradmg and

‘management posmons in Dallas Boston Los Angeles and San Francrsco - ‘

: oa SRR S I SRR EFNEE - : S

, Chrtstopher R: Concannon became the Execut1ve VICC Pre51dent of. Transactron Serv1ces in October 2003

and joined Nasdaq as: Executive ‘Vite President of Strategy and Business Development in May 2003. Before

jdining Nasdagq, Mr‘ Concannon worked from 2002 to' 2003 at Instinet Group, Iric., a holding company that

_ operates an alternauve trading system and whose subsidiaries provide global agency and other brokerage

© - services. Mr. Concannon»served most recently as. President of Instinet Clearing Services, Inc. From 1999 to 2002,
* Mr; Concannon worked at Island ECN, Inc., an alternative trading system, in several positions including Special -
Counsel and Vice President of Business Development Prior to that Mr Concannon worked at Morgan Lewrs
and. Bockrus LLP from 1997:i0'1999- ashan: assoc1ate o S ‘

...,, {..._l‘u,“ 4“ e g St -': = . .

o Adena T Frnedman became Executlve Vrce Pres1dent of Data Products in January- 2002 and oversees our
Market Information. Services. In‘October 2003, Ms. Friedman assumed additional responsibilities as head of our
5?Corporate Strategy Prror to her current’posumn Ms. Friedman was Senior Vice President of Nasdaq Data -

Produects from J anuary 2007 to January:2002, Vice President of QTC Bulletin Board; Mutual Fund Quotation
-Service and NasdaqTrader com from January 2000 to January 2001, Director of OTC Bulletin Board and Mutual
* Fund Quotation Service from August 1997 to January 2000 and Marketmg Manager overseeing our marketing

efforts to broker -dealers from Aprtl 1995 1o’ August 1997. Ms Fnedman ]omed Nasdaq in 1993

. Y ) Ly . T T
Ronald Hassen became‘Semor V1ce Pres1dent and Controller in March 2002 Pr1n01pal Accountmg Ofﬁcer
in May 2002°and Treasurer ih November: 2002. Priof to joining Nasdaq, Mr. Hassen served as Controller of ™

Deutsche Bank North-America. from June 1999; after its acquisition of Bankers Trust Company. Mr: Hassen
joined Bankers Trustin 1989, serving tnost recently as Prmcrpal Accountmg Officer from 1997 until the o

company 5 acqu1s1t1on by Deutsche Bank co : .

John L. Jacobs became Execunve V1ce Presldent of Nasdaq Global Funds (formerly Nasdaq F1nanc1al
- Products) and Worldwrde Marketing in July 2002 and-oversees our Financial Products business and various
marketing activities."Mr. Jacobs serves as CEO of Nasdaq Global Funds, Inc. and Chairman of Nasdaq Financial
: Product Services Ireland Limited. Prior to his current position, Mr. Jacobs served as Senior Vice President of
‘ Worldw1de Marketmg and Financial Products since January 2000 and as Vice President of Investor Serv1ces and
) Worldw1de Marketmg since J anuary 1997 Mr Jacobs Jomed Nasdaq in 1983 ‘ '
) lEdward S. nght became Executive Vtce Presrdent and: General Counsel in October 2000. Pnor to h1s
_ current position, Mr.:Knight. served as:Executive Vice President and: Chief Legal Officer of NASD:since July. .
1999. Prior toijoining NASD;Mr: nght served as General Colinsel of the U.S. Depanment of the Treasury

from September 1994 to June 1999 - , R

e . co e Lo

Steven J Randnch became Executrve Vice President of Operatrons & Technology and our Chref
) Informatlon Officer in October 2001 *Prior.to his:current position; Mr. Randich served as Executive Vice - -
_ President and our Chief Technology Officer since October 2000. Prior to joining us, Mr. Randich was Exécutive' -
~ Vice Presrdent and Cmef Informatlon Ofﬁcer of the’ Chlcago Stock Exchange from November 1996 to October

2000. o

'+ ' David P..Warren, became Executive Vice President and ourChief Administrative Officer in January 2001
and Chief Financial Officér in September2001. Mr: Warren oversees finance, human resources and all-
.administrative'services including real estate, property. management and purchasing. Prior to his current pos1t10n ,
Mr. Warren Was CFO of the Long Island Power Authonty from 1998 to 2000 : : :

et ..l-\‘n"
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Risk Factors

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing Nasdaq. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to Nasdaq or that Nasdaq currently believes to be immaterial may also
adversely affect Nasdaq's business. If any of the following risks actually occur, Nasdaq'’s buszness financial
condition, or operating results could be adversely affected.

Our operating results could fluctuate significantly in the future.

The financial services industry is risky and unpredictable and is directly affected by many national and
international factors that are beyond our control. Any one of these factors could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and operating results by causing a substantial decline in the financial services
markets and reduced trading volume.

" Our operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, including:

'+ adecrease in the tradmg volume in The Nasdaq Stock Market;

* increased competition from regional exchanges, ECNs, the Alternative Display Facility operated by
‘NASD or other alternative tradinig systems that might reduce market share and create pricing pressure;

*  competition from the NYSE or new or existing exchanges competing for new listings;

' reduction in the rate at which The Nasdag Stock Markct obtams new listings and rnamtams its current
“listings;

. a reduction in industry use of market data;

» regulatory changes and increases in compliance costs;

*  our ability to utilize capital effectively;

* our ability to integrate acquisitions;

* our ability to manage‘ personnel, oVérhead and o‘ther’ expenses, particularly technology expenses; and

» general market and economic conditions.’

Our operating results are affected by the seasonality in our business. We generally expect to have our lowest
trading volume of any year during the third quarter. As seasonal trends affect our operating results, they may
have a negative impact on the market price of our common stock.

As aresult of all the foregoing factors, you will not be able to rely on our operating results in any particular
period as an indication of our future performance.

QOur business and operating results could be harmed by market ﬂuctuatzons and other risks associated with the
securities industry generally.

Trading volume is directly affected by economic and political conditions, broad trends in business and
finance, and changes in price levels of securities and by the overall level of investor confidence. Weak economic
conditions or a reduction in prices of securities trading on the securities markets could result in a decline in
trading volume. A decline in trading volume would lower revenues from our Market Services segment-and our
profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to reduce costs at the same rate. We are particularly
affected by declines in trading volume in technology-related securities because a significant portion of our
customers trade in these types of securities and a large number of technology-related companies are listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market. In addition, investor confidence and trader intérest can be affected by factors outside our
control, such as the publicity surrounding several recent investigations and prosecutions for corporate governance
or accounting irregularities at public companies. Any stagnation or decline in the IPO market will have an
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adverse effect on our revenues 1nclud1ng, in partlcular revenues from listing fees. Poor economic conditions
could also lead to an increase in the number of companies delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Markeét also causing-a
decline in ouf revenues. Dunng the year ended December 31 2004; 63 compames were delisted from The

' Nasdaq Stock Market for regulatory non- comphance and 259 companies voluntanly delisted primarily due to

. mergers or to switch hstmg venues.- k - o

-If our revenues decline and we dre unable to reduce our costs, our proﬁtability could be adversely affected. - '

We base our cost structure on ‘historical and expected levels of demand for our products and services. Any
decliné in demand for our products and services and our resultrng revenues may not cause a corresponding
decline in our expenses. and therefore, we may not be able to adjust our cost structure on a timely basis. Over the
last several years, the securities 1ndustry and securities markets have faced generally adverse conditions and
increased competition. As a result, we have not been able, and in the future may not be able, to maintain revenues
and-income levels from prior periods when there was substantial growth in the securities industry. In addition, we
may have d1fﬁculty managmg our busmess as we are forced to reduce our expenses to deal with contractlon in

our busmess ‘ - o Co
U ER] e

Any farlure to ach1eve our goals on cost savmgs w111 have an adverse 1mpact on our business, ﬁnanc1al
condition and results of operations. We. ‘may fail in our initiatives to try to increase our business. We also may not
have made adequate allowances for the changes and risks associated with the increasingly competitive securities
market landscape or a weakened equmes market. Our systems and procedures may not be adequate to support

_our operations. Qur managément may not be able to offer or expand our services successfully, particularly in
adverse market conditions. If we are unable to manage our operations effectlvely, our busmess fmancral
condition and operatrng results could be adversely affected.

We face szgmﬁcant competmon in our business.

The securities tradlng busmess is hlghly competltrve We face competition from numerous entities in the
securities trading mdustry, 1ncludmg competition for listings and trading services from other exchanges and
"market centers. Such competmon also includes pricing competition. In addition, corhpetition could increase as a
result of the regrstratlon ‘of new exchanges The following factors are some of the risks associated with
‘ competltlon that may.affect our business and results of operanons :

FE

Competmon by nanonal and régional exchanges, ECNs and the Alternafive Dzsplay F acility may reduce our
transactzons, trade reportmg and market 1nf0rmatton reveniies and impact. our.ability to zncrease our
market share of transacnons in Nasdaq -listed and exchange lzsted securities.

We have invested consrderable cap1ta1 in the trading services we offer through the Nasdaq Market Center.
These services have been lainched into a competitive environment. Any decision by market participants to quote,
execute or report trades through regional exchanges or the Alternative Display Facility maintained by NASD, as
discussed below, could have a negative 1mpact on our share of quotes and trades in securities listed on The '
Nasdaq Stock Market and may adversely affect our busmess financial condltlon and operating results.

We currently” face mcreased competltron from reglonal exchanges for quotatlon execution and trade -
reporting business for sécurities listéd on The Nasdaq Stock-Market; which affects revenues from the Market o
Services segment. ECNssuch as Instinet Group, which operates INET::quote and report trades to regional- -
exchanges and ArcaEx quotes and reports to the Pacific Exchange ' -

. \“v, T . . el

Addition‘ally, the NYSE has formally requested entry into the UTP Plan that governs the sharmg of market
information revenues for Nasdaq-hsted: secufities, with thestated purpose of being-able to trade QQQ now that it
" has listed on The-Nasdaq Stock Market. If the:NYSE chooses to trade QQQ and other:Nasdaq-listed stocks once -

they are a participant, then we cotld faée competltlon in.ouf Market Servrces segment -in addltlon to listing
competition from the- NYSE - : : C
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It is possible that a competing securities exchange, ECN, market maker, network provider, or technology
company could develop ways to replicate the network offered through the Nasdaq Market Center in a more
efficient manner than we do and persuade a critical mass of market participants to switch to such a new netwoik.
If there is an increase in the number of market makers or ECNs that determine they do enough order routing
traffic to justify setting up a proprietary network for their traffic, we may be forced to alter our pricing structure
or risk 10sing share in the order routing or execution business.

As a condition for the SEC’s approval of our current trading platform, the SEC required NASD to provide
NASD members with the ability to opt-out of reporting trades to the Nasdaq Market Center by providing the
Alternative Display Facility as an alternative quotation and trade reporting facility for NASD members. If
additional market participants quote through the Alternative Display Facility, we face the risk of reduced market
share in revenues from the Market Services segment which could adversely affect our business, financial
condmon and operating results.

Through the Nasdaq Market Center, we also compete for trading in exchange-listed securities, including
securities listed on the NYSE and Amex. Historically, we have had a comparatively small percentage of this
market due in part to the centralized nature of NYSE and Amex. As a result, the national exchanges offer greater
liquidity in these stocks than'we do. In addition, regulatory limitations currently hinder us from increasing our
market share in trading NYSE-listed securities. See “—Regulation—Recent Regulatory Developments.”
Accordingly, we face major obstacles in trying to increase our market share of trading in exchange-listed
securities. :

The NYSE has stated that it intends to increase its focus on its electronic trading capabilities. In August
2004, the NYSE sought the SEC’s approval of an NYSE rule proposal to expand its electronic trading system and
to make it a permanent facility of the NYSE. We believe our electronic trading model has significant advantages
over the NYSE’s current floor-based model. Accordingly, a move to enhance market participants’ ability to
engage in automated electronic trading on the NYSE could undermine one of our competitive advantages and
could negatwely impact our business.

Our responses to competition may not be sufficient to regain lost business or prevent other market
participants from shifting some of their quoting and/or trade reporting to regional exchanges. We may be
required to take further action to remain competitive such as reducing prices. If we are unable to compete for
transactions, trade reporting and market information revenues, it could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results: :

Over the past few years, competition from ECNs and other electronic trading platforms has significantly
reduced our market share of trade executions in Nasdag-listed securities. If this trend of declining market share of
trade executions in Nasdag-listed securities continues, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, or operating results. :

Substantial listing competition could reduce our revenues.

The Nasdaq Stock Market faces competition for listings from other primary exchanges and especially from
the NYSE. In addition to competition for initial listings, The Nasdaq Stock Market also competes with the NYSE
to maintain listings. Every year, a net number of issuers listed on The Nasdag Stock Market switch to the NYSE.
The 50 largest Nasdaq-listed issuers (based on U.S. market value and excluding ETFs) accounted for
approximately 49.5% and of total dollar volume traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market for the year ended
December 31, 2004. While the loss of one or more of these issuers would result in a decrease in listings revenues
for our Issuer Services segment, such a loss would cause an even more significant reduction in revenues from the
- Market Services segment because of a decline in quoting, reporting and trading revenues: In addition new
entrants to the listing services business could provide additional competition for us. For example ArcaEx, the
exclusive equities trading facility of the Pacific Exchange, has begun competing for listings and the associated
listing fees. The reduction in initial listings or the loss of one or more large issuers could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, or operating results.
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In 2002, the U.S. Congress, énacted-the Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act,
commonly known as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, in response to a perceived need for reform in the oversight of listed.
companies.-The Sarbanes-Oxley Act may- discourage some U.S.-companies from makmg public offerings and ’
listing with us or any-U.S. exchange- In addition, although Congress exempted non-U.S. companies from certain
provisions of the. Sarbanes-Oxley, Act in-2003, the increased-regulatory requirements imposed by the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act may deter non-U.S. companies from listing in the United States. Accordingly, these companies may .
choose not to List w1th Nasdag or any Us. exchange .

| . . . AT R R

Our market ceriter data revenues are adversely aﬁ‘eczed by competztzon Jrom ECNs and regtonal exchanges '

. Exchanges that are part101pants in the UTP Plan, which collects and dlssermnates pnce and transacuon
information for securmes listed.on. The Nasdaq Stock Market, are: entrtled to a share of fees collected by the
exchanges and The Nasdaq Stock Market from data vendors for price and transactlon mformatlon These fees are
referred to as “tape fees.” Over the last several years other participants in the UTP Plan have received increasing
percentages of the UTP. Plan fees as;a result:of EENs reporting to regional exchanges instead of to us. As a result,
our share of UTP Plan fees has declined accordingly. In addition, as a facility of the Pacific Exchange, ArcaEx is
able to earn UTP Plan fees, which has reduced our share of UTP Plan fees. If this trend centinues and our share

“of the UTP Plan-fees. continues to. expenence -reductions, then our, business, ﬁnanc1al cond1t10n and results:of
: operatrons could be adversely affected S e : .

Prlce competmon has lmpacted and could continue to zmpact our busmess ‘ o

The securities trading, 1ndustry is. characterlzed by intense price,competition and we have deterrmned that it
is in our best.interest to.gain price leadershrp in transaction. and market data fees. We have recently implemented
changes o our. pncmg desrgned to make us, more attractive to hlgh Volume customers. However, to date, our
trading volume has not 1ncreased to compensate “for the reduction in revenues caused by these price decreases.
* Should our trad1ng volume not 1ncrease in the future, we will continue to suffer from:a decline in revenues as a
. result of ouir new reduced pnces and our bus1ness financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected Addmonally, if any competitor sought to increase its market share by further reducing its
transaction fees offermg higher liquidity paymerits or other incentives;, our busmess financial condition and
t results of operauons could ‘be adversely affected wr T : :
[ i .
Our revenues denved from market data fees are also subJect to pnce compet1t1on We currently rebate to our

~ customers 50% of the rharket data fees that we receive for trading in exchange-listed securities, and also have a

program to share a portion of revenues associated with the trading of Nasdag-listed securities, including a portion
- of Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues. Many of our competitors offer their customers similar
‘rebates. Price Lom'petition( with respect to-market data rebates or our program relating to sharing revenues
" associated with. trading Nasdaq hsted securities could attract trading . volume away from us, leadmg to loss of

market share and decreased revenues. . . .

Fmally, pursuant to our aggressive pricing strategy, although we price many of our products and services at _

prices that are competmve with the prices charged by our competitors for similar products and services, our
‘ overall operatmg costs are currently 51gmﬁcantly higher than those of our competitors which puts us at a
drsadvantage If we are unable to reduce our cost structure to‘a poinit where it is comparable to that of our
competitors, then we rnay be. unable 10 contmue to offer our products and services at’ competmve prices and
consequently our busrness ﬁnanc1al cond1t1on and operatmg results could be adversely affected o

S e . N

Our revenues may be zmpacted by competmon in the busmess for ﬁnanczal products

We have grown eur ﬁnancral products business, Wthh creates and licenses Nasdaq-branded financial -
products. Nasdag- sponsjored ﬁnancral.:produ_ct_s,are subjectﬁto intense competition from other ETFs, derivatives
and structured productsas investmient;alternatives. Our revenues may be adversely affected by increasing |
competition from comipetitors financial products des1gned to rephcate or cotrelate with:the performance of
. Nasdaq financial products : :
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In addition, the legal and regulatory climate, which supports the licensing of these financial products, may
change. For certain license agreements there could be an increased risk of counterparty default. In this intensely
competitive environment, new entrants may seek to avoid the cost of licensing by trading QQQ or other Nasdaq
financial products without a license. We have filed one lawsuit against a party trading QQQ without a license.
While the trial court dismissed certain of our claims in September 2004, in November 2004 we petitioned the
court to allow us to file an amended complaint. We intend to defend our intellectual property rights and take
appropriate legal action against any other entity that seeks to trade Nasdaq financial products without obtaining a
license from us. If we are unsuccessful in our lawsuit, it may negatlvely impact our ability to receive license fees
from U.S. markets that trade the QQQ on a UTP basis.

System limitations, failures or security breaches could harm our business.

Our business depends on the integrity and performance of the computer and communications systems
supporting it. If our systems cannot be expanded to cope with increased demand or otherwise fail to perform, we
could experience unanticipated disruptions in service, slower response times and delays in the introduction of -
new products and services. These consequences could result in lower trading volumes, financial losses, decreased
customer service and satisfaction, and regulatory sanctions. We have experienced occasional systems failures and
delays-in the past and could experience future systems failures and delays especially as we implement new
systems. In particular, in connection with the Brut acquisition, we are in the process of integrating Brut’s systems
with our systems while concurrently trying to update our systems. The integration of the Brut systems and the
implementation of new systems could increase the likelihood of system failures or delays.

We use internally developed systems to operate our business, including transaction processing systems to
“accommodate increased capacity. However, if our trading volume increases unexpectedly, we will need to
expand and upgrade our technology, transaction processing systems and network infrastructure. We do not know
whether we will be able to accurately project the rate, timing, or cost of any increases; or expand and upgrade our
systems and infrastructure to accommodate any increases in a timely manner.

Our systems and operations also are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, natural
disasters, power loss, sabotage or terrorism, computer viruses, intentional acts of vandalism and similar events.
We have active and aggressive programs in place to identify and minimize our exposure to these vulnerabilities
and work in collaboration with the technology industry to share corrective measures with our business partners.
Although we-currently maintain multiple computer facilities that are designed to provide redundancy and back-
up to reduce the risk of system disruptions and have facilities in place that are expected to maintain service
during a system disruption, such systems and facilities may prove inadequate. Any system failure that causes an
interruption in service or decreases the responsiveness of our service could impair our reputation, damage our
brand name and negatively impact our'business, financial condition and operating results.

We could encounter dzfﬁcultzes in integrating Brut our recent ECN acqutsztwn, with the Nasdag Market
Center.

On September 7, 2004, we acquired the Brut ECN. Brut's integration with our existing business operations
presents many challenges and has demanded significant attention of several key managers. The demands placed
on the time of our management team in the Brut integration may adversely affect the operation of our existing
businesses. The integration could take longer than planned and be subject to unanticipated difficulties and
expenses.

Key risks involve:

* failure to execute as well or as quickly as anticipated on our integration plans, including the integration
of the acquired employees, operations, technologles and products Wlth our existing business and
products;

¢ retention of business relationships with suppliers and customers of Brut;
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o loss of key Brut personnel .o

[

. the diversion of our management dunng the 1ntegrat1on process and

. res1stance tO'cultural changes:m the Iacqtured o’rgamzatlon.'

Lo

Future acquts:tzons, partnershtps and Jomt ventures may requtre szgntf cant resources and/or result in
szgmﬁcant unanttctpated losses, costs or lrabthtzes ' '

In the future we may seek to grow our company and businesses by making acquisitions or entering into
partnerships and joint ventures. We may finance future acquisitions by issuing additional equity securities and/or
with additional indebtedness. The i issuance of equity may be dilutive to existing stockholders. In addition,
announcement or completion of future transactions could have a material effect on the price of our stock. We
could face'financial risks’ assoc1ated ‘with incurring additional indebtedness such as reducing our hqurdrty and

“cuitailing our access to ﬁnancmg markets and 1ncreas1ng the amount of cash flow requ1red to serv1ce such
1ndebtedness T - :

I addition, acqursmons partnershrps or investments‘may require significant managerial attention, whrch
may be diverted from our other operations. These cap1ta1 equity and managerial commitments may impair the
operation of our biisinésses. Furthermore, any future acqu1s1trons of businesses or facrhtres could entail a number
of additional risks, mcludlng . ‘ : .

. problems with effectrve mtegranon of operat1ons
. the 1nab1hty to mamtam key pre acqu1s1t10n busmess relatlonshlps
. 1ncreased operatmg costs
Ce exposure to unant101pated hablhtres -and - o o s

.. d1fﬁcu1t1es in reahzrng prOJected efﬁcrencres synergres and cost savmgs

We may not be able 0 keep up wzth rapzd technologtcal and other competztwe changes affectmg the structure
“of the securmes markets RS j

The markets 1n Wthh we compete are charactenzed by raprdly changmg technology, evolvmg industry
standards, frequent enhancements to existing services and products, the introduction of new services and
products and changing customer demands. Our future success will depend on our ability to respond to changing
technologies on a trmely and cost—effectlve basis and continuing to implement lower cost technologies, which
require srgnlﬁcantly less customlzatlon If we fail to implement these lower cost technologles or if these
technologies fail to work as expected our business would be negatively 1mpacted Our business, financial
cond1t1on and operating results may be adversely affected if we cannot successfully devéelop, introduce, or market
new services and products or if we need to adopt costly and customized technology for these services and
products In addltlon any fallure by us to anticipate or respond adequately to charges in technology and
customer preferences or any significant delays in other product development efforts; could have a material
, adverse effect on our business, ﬁnancral cond1t1on and operating results. o

1 : ¢

We may. need addltwnal funds to support our busmess

' We depend-on the availability of adequate capital to-maintain and develop our busmess We believe that our
" current capital requrrements will be' met from internally generated funds and from the funds previously raised. -
However, based upon a varrety of factors mcludmg our market share, reductions in fee levels caused by
increased compet1t10n ‘the cost of service and technology upgrades and regulatory costs, our ablllty to fund our
capital requlrements may vary from those currently planned. In addition, in 2006, $240.0 million -aggregate
principal amount of our convertible notes will become due and payable. Should we raise additional capital
through debt issuances, any restrictive covenants contained in such debt instruments may likely impose

[ A
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significant limitations on our ability to take certain business actions. Furthermore, if we issue additional equity,
our equity holders may suffer dilution. There can be no assurance that additional capital will be available on a
timely basis, or on favorable terms or at all.

Our financial condition and results of operations may suffer if we incur more charges than citrrently
anticipated.

In June 2003, we announced the results of a strategic review designed to eliminate non-core products and
initiatives in order to position us for improved profitability and growth. Through the end of 2003, we had incurred
$145.5 million in pre-tax charges related to the elimination of these products and services. See Note 3, “Significant
Transactions—Strategic Review,” to the consolidated financial statements. We continue to evaluate our cost
structure relative to our revenue levels-and may take additional charges in the future. If our estimates about future
charges prove to be inadequate, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Regulatory changes and changes in market structure could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We operate in a highly regulated industry. In recent years, the securities trading industry and, in particular,
the securities markets, have been subject to significant regulatory changes. Regulatory changes are generally '
made in response to innovations in markets and technology or to address regulators’ specific concerns, such as
ensuring best execution for investors. Moreover, the securities markets have been the subject of increasing
political and public scrutiny over the past year in response to a number of developments and inquiries. Any of
these factors or events may result in future regulatory or other changes, although we cannot predict the nature of
these changes or their impact on our business at this time. Our customers also operate in a highly regulated
industry. The SEC and other regulatory authorities could impose regulatory changes that could impact the ability
of our customers to use The Nasdaq Market Center or could adversely affect The Nasdaq Stock Market. The loss
of a significant number of customers or a reduction in trading activity on The Nasdaq Stock Market as a result of
such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

The SEC published a concept release in November 2004 requesting public comment on the structure of the
self-regulatory system, including alternative approaches to securities industry self-regulation. Certain of the
approaches discussed by the SEC in the release call for a single self-regulatory organization, or SRO (the
“Universal Regulator”), that would be responsible for all rules, markets and members. Under these models, all
markets, both the Nasdaq and exchange markets, would be registered with the Universal Regulator and would not
have any self-regulatory authority. Other models discussed by the SEC would significantly reduce or even
eliminate securities industry self-regulation altogether. The adoption of any of these models could adversely
affect our control of our market and may adversely impact our business, financial condition and operating results.

We are subject to extensive regulation that may harm our ability to compete with less regulated entities.

Under current federal securities laws, changes in our rules and operations, including our pricing structure,
must be approved by the SEC. The SEC may approve, disapprove, or recommend changes to proposals that we
submit. In addition, the SEC may delay the initiation of the public comment, process or the approval process. This
delay in approving changes, or the altering of any proposed change, could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results. We must compete not only with ECNs that are not subject to the SEC
approval process, but also with other exchanges that have lower regulation and surveillance costs than us. This
self-regulation cost that we are required to undertake contributes to the high quality regulation of our market.
However, with the fragmentation of trading that has occurred through SEC encouragement, fragmentation of
regulation has followed. There is a risk that trading will shift to exchanges that spend significantly less on
regulation services. In April 2003, we raised both concerns—regulatory fragmentation and regulatory arbitrage—
to the SEC in an attempt to ensure that the SEC does not permit competition to harm regulation. The SEC has
sought and received public comment with regard to our concerns and recently published a concept release that,
among other things, seeks additional comment on these issues. There can be no assurance that the SEC will act
favorably regarding our arguments in the foreseeable future. ‘
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In addition, Brut, LLC is a-broker-dealer. Broker-dealers are subject to certain regulations that did not apply
- to us prior-to the Brut acqursrtron (AlL broker-dealers have an SRO that is assigned by the SEC as the . .
~ broker-dealer’s designated examining authorlty, or DEA. The DEA is responsible for examining a broker-dealer .
" for compliance with the SEC’s financial responsibility rules; NASD is Brut’s current DEA, and the SEC has
requested that Brut become a member of the NYSE so that the NYSE can become Brut’ s DEA. A failure to :
» comply with the SEC’ s request in a satisfactory manner may have adverse consequences and changing Brut’s . ,
- DEA may entail additional regulatory ‘costs. See “—Regulation” for further discussion of broker-dealer
+ regulations. Any failure' to comply with these broker-dealer regulations could have a matenal effect on the
operatron of our. busrness ﬁnancral condrtron and operatrng results :

- We have self regulatory orgamzatmn obltgatwns and also operate a for-prof’ t business, and these two roles
may create canﬂlcts of mterest o

‘Parsuant.to the Exchange Act we have obhgatrons pursuant to delegated author1ty from our SRO, NASD, to

' ‘regulate and momtor activities.on' The 'Nasdag Stock Market and ensure compliance with applicable law and the -
rules of our market iby mnarket partrcrpants and Nasdaq listed companies. The SEC staff has expressed concern
about potential conflicts: of interest of “for-profit” markets’ performmg the regulatory functions of a

. self- regulatory orgamzatron While we outsource the majonty of our market regulation functions to NASD; we

- do perform certarn  regulatory funct1ons related to our listed companies and our market. In addition to the risk of

- ovetly aggresswe regulauon potent1al conﬂlcts of interest could also result in overly lenient regulation,

motivated by a nnsplaced attempt to- 1ncrease tradlng volume and’ revenues In either case, any failure by usto  ~

~ diligently and falrly regulate our. market or'to otherwise fulfill our regulatory obligations could srgmﬁcantly harm
our reputatron prompt SEC scrutmy and’ adversely affect our business. The SEC recently issued a concept -
reledse relating to the' efﬁcacy of thé self regulatlon system, including the inherent tensions in the SRO model.”
The SEC has also recently proposed new rules w1th respect to SROs The proposed riew rules would, among

~other thmgs R :

° requrre a majorrty mdependent board for SROs and normnatlng, governance, audrt compensatlon and
regulatory oversrght committees of the board cornposed solely of independent directors;

° requ1re separatron of an SRO’s regulatory functrons from its market operatlons and other busmess
interests; " . ?” v : :

.= restrict ownershrp and votmg levels of members of the SRO that are: broker—dealers to 1o more than
20%: b are

. ’requrre SROs to comply w1th additional reportmg and other requ1rements in the event that the SRO lists
~ or trades its own or an affiliate’s securities; and -

* require that all regulatory fees, fines and penaltres recerved be used to fund regulatory programs and not
be made avarlable for dlstnbutron to shareholders

Any Tule- makmg that may result from this release.could have a material effect on the operatron of our

| bus1ness ﬁnanc1al condition. and operatrng results !
R o rl S . .

" The adoptwn of Regulatmn NMS by the SEC could have a materzal adverse effect on our business.

In February 2004, the SEC proposed Regulatron NMS a series of proposals designed to modermze the
- regulatory structure’of the-U.S. equity markets: In December 2004, the SEC proposed a revised Regulation NMS
for:public comment. Regulatron NMS addresses the trade-through rule, intermarket access, market data and -
- sub- penny pncmg See Regulatron—Recent Regulatory Developments

' \ ‘
‘We cannot predrct whether the changes proposed by Regulatron NMS will-be adopted by the SEC in therr
' prop_osed form, a different form,:or at all. Accordingly, we cannot predict the impact these proposed rule changes
will have on-our business. If the SEC adopts a proposal that (i) reduces the market data fees or revenues we
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receive for trade executions, (ii) imposes significant regulatory compliance costs upon‘us, (iii) reduces the
number of orders routed to our systems, for execution, and/or (iv) reduces the number of internalized trades
reported to The Nasdaq Stock Market, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
adversely affected. Internalization occurs when a broker-dealer receives a customer buy or sell order and, instead
of routing the order to another broker-dealer or market for execution, chooses to fill the order from shares in the
firm’s own trading account or by executing it against other customer orders that the firm holds. In addition,
Regulation NMS may lead to structural change in how securities trade and report, which are unknown and could
have an adverse impact on our financial results or which could adversely affect our competitive position.

Failure to protect our intellectual propertj’ rights could harm our brand-building efforts and ability to compete
effectively. - - ' ‘

To protect our rights to our intellectual property, we rely on a combination of trademark laws, copyright
laws, patent laws, trade secret protection, confidentiality agreements and other contractual arrangements with our
affiliates, clients, strategic partners and others. The protective steps that we have taken may be inadequate to
deter misappropriation of our proprietary information. We may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or
take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. We have registered, or applied to register, our
trademarks in the United States and in over 40 foreign jurisdictions and have pending U.S. and foreign
applications for other trademarks. Effective trademark, copyright, patent and trade secret protection may not be
available in every country in which we offer or intend to offer our services. Failure to protect our intellectual
property adequately could harm our brand and affect our ability to conipete effectively. Further, defending our
intellectual property rights could result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources,
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. '

Failure to attract and retain kej’ personnel may adversely affect our ability to conduct our business.

Our future success.depends, in large part, upon our key employees who execute our business strategy and
identify and pursue strategic opportunities and initiatives. In particular, we are highly dependent on the continued
services of Robert Greifeld, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and other executive officers, key
employees and technical personnel who possess extensive financial markets knowledge and technology skills.
The diminution or loss of the services of these persons for any reason, as well as any negative market or industry
perception arising from that diminution or loss, could have a material adverse effect on our business. We do not
maintain “key person” life insurance policies on any of our executive officers, managers, key employees or
technical personnel. We may have to incur costs to replace key employees that leave, and our ability to execute
our business model could be impaired if we cannot replace departing employees in a timely manner.

We are Sitly"ect to risks relating to litigation and potential securities laws liability.

Many aspects of our business potentially involve substantial risks of liability. While we enjoy immunity
from private suits for self-regulatory organization activities, we could be exposed to liability under federal and
state securities laws, other federal and state laws and court decisions, as well as rules and regulations
promulgatéd by the SEC and other federal and state agencies. These risks include, among others, potential
liability from disputes over the terms of a trade, or claims that a system failure or delay cost a customer-money,
that we entered into an unauthorized transaction or that we provided materially false or misleading statements in
connection with a securities transaction. As we intend to defend any such litigation actively, significant legal
expenses could be incurred. An adverse resolution of any future lawsuit or claim against us could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

In addition, we are subject to oversight by the SEC. The SEC regulaﬂy examines us for compliance with our
obligations under the securities laws. In the case of non-compliance with our obligations under those laws, we
could be subject to investigation and judicial or administrative proceedings that may result in substantial
penalties. : .
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We have a limited operating history as a.for-profit entity.

While we have.an. éstablished operatmg history, we have only operated as a for-profit company with private
ownershrp interests since June 28, 2000 Therefore we are subject to the risks and uncertamtres assocrated wrth
any recently mdependent company

Cur, agreements wzth NASD and its other afﬁllates may not be on terms as favorable to us as could have been
obtained from unafﬁlzated third partles and we have potential conflicts of interest with NASD and related
partzes. ‘

+ For purposes of governmg our ongomg relat1onsh1p, we and NASD, or their affiliates; have entered into
varlous agreements and arrangements'involving the provision of services, such as market surveillance and other
regulatory and facilities sharing functions. We have negotiated an agreement with NASD, pursuant to which
NASD will regulate our membership and market surveillance activity commenéing upon the SEC granting our
application for exchange regrstranon ‘At the time the parties negotiated this‘agreement, the parties envisioned
that NASD would continue regulating trading activity on The Nasdaq Stock Market under a long-term contract
that establishes the. various functions NASD will perform for us and the pricing methodology for the services that
we receive from NASD The functions covered under this agreement, as negotiated, are substant1ally of the same
type and scope as those NASD currently performs under the Delegatlon Plan

Untrl exchange reglstratron is granted by the SEC the regulatory services agreement between Nasdaq and
NASD is not effective. Thus, Nasdaq and NASD currently operate pursuant to the Delegation Plan. We have
approached NASD about formahzlng the services provided pursuant to the Delegation Plan in a written contract -
" to be effective until exchange. reglstratlon However, the parties have not agreed to the terms of such an
agreement-to date. Since we have no formal regulatory services contract with NASD, we negotiate pricing on
services annually and we can offer no assurances that we will be able to obtain services from NASD at
comparable or reduced price levels in'future periods. In addition; we may determine that it is necessary to
negotiate.other new contracts with NASD or its affiliates, or to renegotiate existing contracts between the parties.
_ Although it is the intention of the: parties to .negotiate. agreements that provide for arm’s length, fair market value
l pricing, there can be no assurance that these contemplated agreements, or the transactions provided in them, will
be effected on terms as favorable'to us as could liave been obtained from unaffiliated third parties. The cost to us*
for such services could'increase’at'a faster rate than our revenues and could adversely affect our business,

" financial. condmon and operatlng results e L :

N

. Conflicts of 1nterest may anse between us and NASD or its afﬁhates in a number of areas 1nclud1ng the
nature, quality and pncrng of setvices rendered tax and-employee benefit matters; indemnity agreements; sales
or distributions by NASD of all or any portion of its ownership interest in us; or NASD’s ability to influence
certain affairs of ours priorto exchange registration. There can be no assurance that NASD and Nasdaq will be
able to resolve any potential conflict or that, if resolved we would not receive a more favorable resolution if we
were dealing with an unafﬁlrated party C ‘

On November 29, 2004 we entered mto an exchange agreement with NASD. pursuant fo Wthh NASD

~ exchanged 1,338,402 shares-of our Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, representing all the outstanding shares
" of Series A Cumulatrve Preferred Stock, for 1,338,402 shares of newly issued Series C Cumulative Preferred
Stock. Under. the exchange agreement we njust obtain NASD’s prior written consent before incurring or
assuming long term debt or engaging in extraordinary ; asset sales that in aggregate equal or exceed $200.0
- million in outstanding long-term debt and sales-of our assets for cash outside of the ordinary course of business. . -
. NASD’s consent may not be unreasonably withheld; however, if we elect to proceed with such a transaction, .
- NASDis permrtted to condition its consent on the proceeds being used to redeem the Series C Cumulative
Preferred Stock. Debt outstanding as of February 21, 2002 and debt incurred to refinance such outstanding debt
are excluded from this calculation, Also, sales of capital stock and sales or transfers of assets in connection with
a Jomt venture, strategrc alliance-or similar arrangement (if not primarily for cash and to raise capital) are
excluded from the-definition of sales of our assets for cash ‘outside of the ordinary course of business.
Y o

30




NASD will continue to maintain voting control over us until exchange registration is granted and may have
interests that are different from yours and, therefore, may make decisions that are adverse to your interests.

The SEC requires that NASD retain greater than 50% of the voting control over us. Pursuant to our authority
to operate The Nasdaq Stock Market as delegated to us by NASD and as approved by the SEC, NASD must
continue to have voting control over us until the SEC approves our application to become a registered exchange.
Giving effect to an underwritten offering of shares of our common stock owned by NASD that closed on
February 15, 2005, NASD continues to own approximately 26.6 million shares of our common stock, including
shares underlying unexercised and unexpired warrants. Following exchange registration, the voting rights related
to the shares underlying unexercised and unexpired warrants will revert to the holders of the warrants. However,
NASD will still be entitled to approximately 6.3% of the vote of holders of our common stock. Upon expiration
of the warrants that are not exercised, the voting rights of our common stock underlying such warrants will revert
to NASD and, therefore, will increase NASD’s voting percentage. Until exchange registration is granted, as a
result of NASD’s voting control, its share ownership and our operating pursuant to NASD’s SRO registration
pursuant to delegated authority, NASD will be in a position to continue to control substantially all matters
affecting us, including any determination with respect to our direction and policies, acquisition or disposition of
assets, future issuances of ouf securities, our incurrence of debt and any dividend payable on our common stock.
NASD may have interests that conflict with your interests as a holder of our common stock. NASD’s control may
delay or prevent a change in control, impede a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination
involving us or discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain
control of us or result in actions that may be opposed by other stockholders including those who purchase
common stock in this offering.

The SEC may challenge or not approve our plan to become a national securities exchange or it may require
changes in the manner we conduct our business before granting this approval, which may adversely impact
our business or our shareholders.

The SEC may not approve our application for exchange registration or may require changes in our corporate

governance structure and the way we conduct our business before granting this approval. Failure to be so registered

“could adversely affect our competitive position and could have a material adverse effect on our business conditions
and business prospects. For example, we would remain subject to NASD’s control if we do not obtain our own
license to operate as a self-regulatory organization. This may limit our ability to raise additional capital to expand
and improve our products'and services or to pay off our obligations. In addition, until exchange registration is
granted, we likely will be required to continue sharing UTP Plan fees with other UTP Plan participants for Nasdaq
Quotation Dissemination Service (“NQDS”) data, which provides subscribers with the best bid and offer .
information from each individual Nasdaq market maker and ECN. The obligation to share revenues with other UTP
Plan participants for this NQDS data will cease upon exchange registration. Accordingly, any delay or failure to
obtain exchange registration will impede our ability to retain fees for NQDS data.

Further, in connection with exchange registration, certain changes must be made to the national market
system plans so that we can become a participant. Certain participants in the plans may object to, or request
modifications to, amendments that we propose. In addition, in order to become a participant in these plans, we
will need to pay amounts, which have not yet been determined, but which may be significant and could impact
our business, financial condition and operating results. We may need to adjust our business practices to join these
plans in a manner that will impose costs on us and could adversely impact our business, financial condition or
operating results. Failure to resolve these issues could result in a denial or.delay of exchange registration.

We have previously sought and obtained approval from the UTP Plan operating committee for changes to
that plan to enable us to-become a member once our exchange application has been approved. We have also
sought the approval of the operating committees for the other three national market system plans. The operating
committee of one national market system plan voted not to accept our proposed changes to that plan that would
allow us to become a.plan member and to operate our execution system in accordance with our chosen business
strategy upon exchange registration. We plan to continue negotiating with the members of the plan; however, we
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_ canniot predict the outconie of those negotiations at this time. A failure to achieve a successful outcome could ‘
require us to alter our business'strategy in an uiifavorable manner or could otherwise limit our ability to
partrcrpate as an exchange under such, rplan
In addrtron the SEC has advrsed us that asa condition to exchange regrstratron, we will need to comply with
the provrsron of Sectron 6 of the Exchange Act requiring that-national exchanges provide for representation of
their “members;” (as. deﬁned in the Exchange Act) on their boards of directors. The SEC recently proposed rule .
: changes that could affect the. governance of SROs. The proposed rules would require that at least 20% of the total
" number of drrectors of an exchange must be selected by its. broker-dealer members. While the outcome is not yet: i
. clear, we may have o revise our board structure as a condition to exchange registration so that only our members
would elect a certam percentage of our board and our stockholders would elect the remainder of the.board. In
" addition, the proposed rules would, among other things, require 'SROs to 1mplement certain minimum governance
standards, 1nclud1ng a rnajorlty 1ndependent board, fully independent nominating, governance, audrt .
compensation and regulatory oversight committees, and the separation of an SRO’s regulatory functions from 1ts
market operations and other business rnterests We cannot predict whether these proposed requirements will be
‘ 'adopted by the SEC.in their proposed form a dtfferent form, or at all, and cannot now predtct the impact of the
proposed reqnlrements on our busrness : :
_ The SEC recently approved new lrsnng 'standards wrth respect to lrstrng our common stock on The Nasdaq
‘Stock Market. These' lrstmg standards requ1re periodic reporting of compliance to the SEC and an annual
' cornphance audit by an 1ndependent accounting firm. Our failure to maintain compliance with these listing
" standards could result in our.common stock being delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market. In addition, the SEC
has recently proposed Regulatron AL, anew regulation that would institute a set of rules for demutualized-
exchanges and secuntres assocratrons ‘that intend tolist their pwn securities or those of an afﬁllate If Regulatron .
- AL is adopted by the SEC, we' may have to alter our operations and business to comply with Regulation AL to
the extent that Regulation AL supersedes our listing standards. We cannot predict whether this new rule proposal
will be adopted by the SEC.in its proposed form, a drfferent form or at all, and cannot now predict the-impact of .
the proposed requrrements on our, busmess ‘
: The SEC als_o has raised a concern»about_our desire to remain a venue to which our market participants can
report internalized trades; since internalization may result in-orders being executed ahead of similarly priced
orders for the same security already entered in.the Nasdaq Market Center. In December 2004, we filed a
proposed rule change with.the' SEC designed to address the SEC’s concern about us not always according strict -
time priority to similarly priced orders for the same security entered in the Nasdaq Market Center: The SEC has
published our proposed rule:change: for public-comment. The proposed rule change.seeks to eliminate any
deviations from strict time priority'in the execution algorithm of the Nasdaq Market Center’s execution system,
mcludrng the current internalization exception. The only remaining exception in the new algorithm would be for
instances when a deviation is necessary for a member to avoid internalizing an order if that member has a
‘regulatory or fiduciary’ obhgatlon totdo-so. We are continuing to work with the SEC on how to address the time -
. priority issue with respect to; trades that -are reported to us but executed outside the Nasdaq Market Center
execution systerm. We are' contrnurng dtscussrons -with the SEC to resolve th1s issue, but we can make no.
assurances as to the result of such drscussrons o C
Also, in order for broker-dealers to continue as our market partlcrpants after the SEC grants our-application
for exchange registration, broker-dealets’ will'need to become members of Nasdaq. After we become an
exchange, these broker- dealers will nd longer be able to rely on their NASD membership to utilize our products
and services. There i is no assuranceé that broker-dealers will choose.to become members of Nasdaq. If broker-
dealers determine not to become: ‘Nasdaq meriibers upon the SEC granting our application to become an
exchange our busmess ﬁnancral condrtron and operatlng results could be adversely affected
Accordrngly there can be no assirance that exchange regrstranon will-occur or that the registration process
will occur in a timely manner.-Because of the' nature of the régulatory process and the variety of market structure

32




issues that would have to be resolved across all markets, the registration process has been lengthy. In the long-'
term, the failure to be approved as an exchange by the SEC may have negative implications on our ability to fund
our planned initiatives. )

We depend on third party suppliers and service providers for a number of services that are important to our
business. An interruption or cessation of an important supply or service by any third party could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

We depend on a number of suppliers, such as MCI, Microsoft, Cisco, Hewlett Packard and Dell for elements
of our trading, market data and other systems, as well as communications and networking equipment, computer
hardware and software and related support and maintenance. We cannot assure you that any of these providers
will be able to continue to provide these services in an efficient, cost-effective manner or that they will be able to
adequately expand their services to meet our needs. An interruption in or the cessation of an important supply or .
service by any third party and our 1nab1hty to make alternative arrangements in a timely manner, or at all, could
result in lost revenues and hlgher costs and adversely affect our business, financial condmon and operating
results.

There is a limited trading history for our common stock.

Our stock began trading on The Nasdaq National Market on February 10, 2003, and, prior to that date,
traded on the OTC Bulletin Board, where it experienced limited trading volume and significant volatility. We .
cannot predict the extent to which a trading market will develop on The National Market or how liquid that
market might become. Broad market and industry factors may adversely affect the market price of our common
stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.

Item 2. Properties.

The following is a description of Nasdaq’s material properties as of December 31, 2004. °

(apprsol;iemate,
Location Use in square feet) Type of Possession
New York, New York Location of MarketSite 26,000  Leased by Nasdaq
New York, New York Nasdaq headquarters 83,000 Subleased from NASD
New York, New York General office space 24,000  Leased by Nasdaq
New York, New York General office space 53,000 Leased by Nasdaq
Rockville, Maryland . . . General office space. 78,000  Leased by Nasdaq
Trumbull, Connecticut Location for Nasdaq’s 162,000 Owned by Nasdaq
' ~ technology services, systems

engineering and market

operations
Trumbull, Connecticut General office space 47,000  Leased by Nasdaq
Rockville, Maryland Location of Nasdaq data 99,000  Owned by Nasdaq

center

In addition to the above, Nasdaq currently leases administrative, sales and disaster preparedness facilities in
Chicago, lllinois; Menlo Park, California; Norwalk, Connecticut; Jersey City, New Jersey; London, England,
Washington, DC and Eugene, Oregon.

Nasdaq continues to explore its options for subleasing or disposing of the certain office space in New York,
New York, Jersey City, New Jersey and Rockville, Maryland. As of December 31, 2004, the total available space
for sublease or sale was 146,000 square feet. We had sublet an additional 56,000 square feet as of December 31,
2004.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedmgs SR PR e o ,

‘ Nasdaq is not currently a party to any htlgatlon that it believes could have a material adverse effectonits
business, financial condition, or operating results. However, from time to time, Nasdaq has been threatened with,
or named asa defendant in 1awsu1ts
Item 4. Submission of Matteérs to a Vote of Security Holders. ,

No matters were subnntted to a vote of Nasdaq’s stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2004,

' ety .
gt |

. PartII
‘ Item 5 Market for Reglstrant’s Common Equlty and Related Stockholder Matters
' Market Informatlon Our common stock began tradmg on The Nasdaq National Market on February 10,
-2005 under the symbol “NDAQ » Dunng the period from July 1, 2002 through February 9, 2005, our common
stock traded on the OTC Bulletin Board. No established public trading market existed for the common stock
prior to July. 2002 due to certaln contractual transfer restrictions contalned in the private placements of common
stock ‘ '

o 'The foliowmg chart lists the ouarterly h'iéh'and 16w bid prices for shares of the common Vsto‘ck for 2004 and
2003. These. pmces are between dealers and do not 1nclude retail markups, markdowns or other fees and
. comnnss1ons and may not represent actual transactlons

High Low

Fiscal 2004 - . - :

‘ Fourth quarter . ........... S ... $1050 '$6.40
Third quarter .......... .....c.oo...... T 7.00 5.3
Second quarter . ..., ... T e S 8.80 . 6.30

- First quarter .......... R PP . 1260 855

, Fzsca12003 S R : .

Fourth quarter R S T e P $935 $8.05 -
Third quarter .. 5. 1.0 S 1005~ 675
Second qUArter . ... ... o ... T A 855 515
Frrstquarter..".‘.‘.‘."..,f.‘:‘.;.‘.‘.....;L ..... ....... PR ... 1040 675

Holders As of March 4 2005 Nasdaq had approx1mately 1,475 holders of record of its common stock.

-~ Dividends. N asdaq does not pay, ‘dnd does not ant1c1pate paymg in the foreseeable future, any cash
d1v1dends on its common equ1ty :
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

The following sets forth selected consolidated financial information on a historical basis for Nasdaq. The
following information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated ﬁnanc1al statements and notes thereto
of Nasdag included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.-

- Selected Consolidated Financial Data

. o Year Ended December 31,
2004 T 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Statements of Income Data:(V :
Total Tevenues . .......o.vvvevnnn... $ 540,441 $ 589,845 § 787,154 § 848,070 $ 832,459

Cost of revenues® .. . . .. ol (55,845 - — — — —
Gross margin . ........oivniin... 484,596 589,845 787,154 848,070 832,459
Total eXpenses . ......ovvveuiniis 476,413 647,159 675,307 764,533 634,130
Net income (loss) from contmumg :

OPEerations ..................... 1,804 (45,112) 65,021 60,055 126,177

Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle, net of tax of

$67,9563) .. — — — — (101,090)
Net income (loss) from discontinued o ' : o '
operations, net of tax® ....... ..., 9,558 (60,335) - (21,893) (19,592) (1,781)
Net income (loss) ................. 11,362 (105,447) 43,128 40,463 23,306
Net (loss) income applicable to .
common stockholders ............ (1,826)  (113,726) - 33,363 - 40,463 23,306
Weighted average common shares
outstanding®™ ................... 78,607,126 78378376 83,650,478 116,458,902 112,090,493
Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per :
share:
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle ......... $ — 3 —  $ — 3 — 3 (0.90)
Continuing operations .......... 0.14) (0.68) 0.66 0.52 1.13
Discontinued operations . ....... 0.12. 0.77) (0.26) 0.17) (0.02)
Total basic and diluted net (loss) ‘
earnings per share .. ... e $ (0.02) $ (1.45) $ 040 $ 035 3% - 0.21
December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:(»
Cash and cash equivalents and _ :
investments available-for-sale .. . ... $ 233,099 $ 334633 $§ 423588 $§ 521,760 $ 494,347

Total assets® .. ... ...... ... ...... 814,820 851,254 1,175,914 1,326,251 1,164,399
Total long-term liabilities® . ..... ..., 449,941 452,927 636,210 529,029 221,464
Total stockholders’ equity® ......... 156,563 160,696 270,872 518,388 - 645,159

@ Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

@ Pursuant to the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Issue No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,” (“EITF
99-19") Brut execution revenues are recorded on a gross basis in revenues and expenses such as liquidity
rebate payments are recorded in cost of revenues as Brut acts as principal. Nasdaq’s other execution

35




3

. @

)

©®

revenues will continue to be reported net of the liquidity rebate ‘as Nasdaq doés not act as principal.

. As aresult of _the adoptio_h of Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, “Reyenue Recognition in Financial
- Statements” (“SAB 101*), Nasdagq recognized a one-time cumnulative effect of a change in accounting

principle in the first quarter ‘of 2000, . ‘

Net of tax (provision) benefit for income taxes of‘$(5,‘595), $3,663, $(128) in 2004, 2003, 2002,
respectively, and $0 in 2001 and in 2000.

Gives effect to the June 28, 2000, 49,999-for-one stock dividend of the shares of common stock for year
ended 2000. S '

Includes continping and discontinued operations. For further discussion of the impact of these items from
discontinued operations, see Note 3, f,‘Sig'niﬁcaht Transactions—Discontinued Operations,” to our

- consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7. Management’s D1scuss1on and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
0verv1ew '

The following discussion and analyms of the financial condition and results of operations of Nasdaq should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this |
Form 10-K. Certain prior period amounts presented in the discussion and analy51s have been reclassified to
confornr with the 2004 presentation.

This discussion and analysis may contain statements with respect to Nasdaq’s financial condition, results of
operations, future performance and business that are considered “forward-looking statements™ as defined in the.
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Nasdaq’s actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those
set forth under “Item 1. Business—Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Nasdaq is a leading provider of securities listing, trading, and information products and services. Nasdag -
operates The Nasdaq Stock Market, the largest stock-based equity securities market in the United States, both in
terms of number of listed companies and traded share volume. As of December 31, 2004, Nasdaq was home to
3,271 listed companies. Nasdaq also operates the Nasdag Market Center, which as of December 31, 2004 enabled
our customers to trade over 7,800 equity securities. Our revenue sources are diverse and include transaction-
services revenues, market data product and services revenues, listing fees, and financial product revenues.

Nasdaq offers our products and services for fees that are among the lowest in the industry and are designed
to help us maintain and extend our market share. In order to sustain this competitive price strategy, we have
significantly reduced operating expenses consistent with our regulatory obligations. We intend to implement
further changes to our cost structure to further reduce expenses so that we can maintain our competitive pricing
advantage, to attract additional business, and achieve .our profitability goals. See “—Cost Reduction and
Operating Efficiencies” for further discussion. -

Nasdaq manages, operates and provides its products and services in two business segments, our Market
Services segment and our Issuer Services segment. The Market Services segment includes our transaction-based -
business (Nasdaq Market Center) and our market information services business (Nasdaq Market Services
Subscriptions), which are interrelated because the transaction-based business generates the quote and trade
information that we sell to market participants and data vendors. The Issuer Services segment includes our
securities listings business (Corporate Client Group) and our financial products business (Nasdaq Financial
Products). The companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market represent a diverse array of industries. This
diversity of Nasdag-listed companies allows us to develop industry-specific and other Nasdaq indices that we use
to develop and license financial products and associated derivatives. Because of the foregoing interrelationships,
our management allocates resources, assesses performance and manages these businesses as two separate
segments. Prior to 2003, Nasdaq operated in one segment. See Note 18, “Segments to the consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.

On September 7, 2004, Nasdaq completed its acquisitidn of Brut and paid total cash consideration of $190.0
million, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. Nasdaq financed the purchase from available cash and
investments: Accordingly, 2004 results include activity related to Brut from September 7, 2004 through
December 31, 2004. See “Acquisition of Brut,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” and Note 4, “Acquisition
of Brut,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. »

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Nasdaq’s net income was $11.4 million compared with a net loss of
$105.4 million in 2003, an increase of $116.8 million. Included in 2004 results is a net gain of $9.6 million from
discontinued operations related to the release of a reserve for potential claims established in December 2003 in
conjunction with the transfer of Nasdaq’s ownership of Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. (“Nasdaq Europe”). 2004
results also include pre-tax expenses of $62.6 million incurred in connection with taking certain actions to
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improve our operating efﬁciency. See ““2004'Cost Reductions,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion. In 2003, results include pre-tax expenses totaling $97.9
million associated with Nasdaq’s strateg1c review. The strategic review, initiated in the second quarter 2003,
includés the elimination of-non-core product lines, initiatives and-severance. See “—Cost Reduction and -

' Operating Efficiencies™ for further discussion. Also included in 2003 results was a net loss of $60.3 million from
discontinued operanons related to the transfer of Nasdag’s interest in Nasdaq Europé and the sale of

’ IndlgoMarkets Ltd. (“IndigoMarkets”). Nasdaq completed the sale of IndigoMarkets on September 30, 2003 and
‘completed the transfer of its interest in Nasdaq Europe on December 18, 2003. Following the sale of
IndigoMarkets and the transfer of Nasdaq’s interest in Nasdaq Europe; results from these subsidiaries have been
reclassified as drscontlnued operatlons in Nasdaq’s Consolidated Statements of Income. All prior period

- information-has. been. presented on the same basis: See Note 5 “Discontinued Operattons to the consolidated
financial statements for further d1scuss1on ‘ :

~ The remainder of this discuSsion and analysis reflects results from continuing operations, unless otherwise
noted. On this basis; Nasdaq’s-net ificome from continuing operations was $1.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared with a riet loss of $45.1 million for year ended December 31, 2003, an increase of
$46.9 million. Results were posiﬁvely impacted by lower operating expenses from corporate-wide cost reduction
programs and Nasdaq’s 2003 strategic review. Total expenses were $476.4 million for the year ended Deceniber
31, 2004 compared with.$647.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, a decrease of $170.7 million.or
26.4%. However, 2004 total fevenues and gross margin (total revenues less cost of revenues) both decreased
“when compared with 2003. Total revenues were $540.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared -
with' $589.8 million for the year ‘ended December 31, 2003, a decrease of $49.4 million or 8.4%. Gross margin
was $484.6 million for the.year ended December 31, 2004 ¢ompared-with $589.8 million for the year ended
December 31,2003 a decrease of $105:2 million or 17.8%. These. declines were primarily due to continued
compétitive pressure on. Market Services segment revenues and gross margin due to a decling in the percentage
of share volume reported to N asdaq’s systems, decréases.in certain fees and increases in certain rebates and
revenue sharing. Increased trading activity of Nasdaq-listed securities for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to 2003 and additional trading activity due to the acquisition of Brut partially offset these decreases.
Market Services segmerit revenues decreased$49.2 million or 12.8% and Market Services segment gross margin
“"decreased $105.0 million or 27. 49 for, the year ended December 31,.2004 compared with the year ended
December 31, 2003. These current ‘and prior year items are: d1scussed in more detail below.

!
T 3 RN A . o

Busmess and Operatmg Envnronment

In recent” years, the busmess environment.in- wh1ch we operate has been charactenzed by challengmg
business and economic conditions: In addition, the business environment has been marked by intense -
competition, both in-the trade execution and trade reporting businesses and for new and existing listings, -
aggressive price cutting in an attempt to-increase trading volume market share and an increased emphasis on
electronic trading dueto *technologrcal advancéments and regulatory changes. Our busmess has been and will
continue to be 1mpacted by the followmg key external factors

. », the number of compames seekmg equrty ﬁnancmg, wh1ch is affected by factors such as 1nvestor
" demand, the economy, altematlve sources of ﬁnancmg and tax policy;

. tradmg volumes in U S. equ1ty secuntles Wthh are dnven primarily by overall macroeconomic
et condmons o ‘ : ‘

e competmon (m terms of hstmgs market share pricing, and product and service offerings); and '

e ‘technologlcal advancements and regulatory developments ‘
¥ These factors will affect our future Tevenue, gross margm and proﬁtablhty Each major factor is dlscussed in
this Management s Dlscuss1on and Analys1s S , :
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'The following table includes data showing average daily share volume in Nasdaq-listed securities and the -
percentage of share volume of Nasdag-listed securities réported on the Nasdaq Market Center. In addition, the
table shows drivers for our Issuer Services segment, including initial public offerings and numbers of listed
companies. In evaluating the performance of our business, our senior management closely watches these key -
drivers.

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Average daily share volume in Nasdaq-listed securities (in billions) ........... ©1.81 1.69 1.75
Percentage of share volume of Nasdag- hsted securities reported to the Nasdaq _

Market Center . ........oiunr il i e i e 51.3% 67.0% 89.3%
Initial public OFfErINES .5 ..o vttt et ettt et 148 54 46
Secondary offerings ......... S PP ©233 190 149
New listings® ............. e e e 260 134 121
Number of llsted compames@) ......... e 3,271 3,333 3,659

@ Includes initial pubhc offerings, including those completed ona best efforts basis, and listings that swuched
from other listing venues.
@ Number of listed companies as of period end.

Improving economic conditions at the end of 2003 contributed to an increase in equity prices from the
relative lows in 2002, which stimulated an increase in the issuance of equity capital and the number of initial
public offerings during 2004. Trading volume in U.S. equity markets increased by 7.2% during 2004 as
compared to 2003. During 2000 through early 2003, the weak and uncertain economic climate, together with
corporate governance and accounting concerns and concerns arising from the war in Iraq, contributed to a decline
in new equity financing, an inability of certain listed companies to meet listing standards, lower equity prices,
higher market volatility and more challenging business conditions for companies in the financial services
industry, including us.

We experience competition in our core trading activities such as execution services; quoting and trading
capabilities; and reporting services. Many of our competitors have engaged in aggressive price competition by
reducing the trade execution transaction fees they charge their customers. As a result of this competition, we -
have also significantly reduced the trade execution transaction fees we charge our customers, particularly our
large-volume customers. In connection with our aggressive pricing strategy, we have initiated significant cost
reduction plans consistent with our regulatory obligations and we intend to continue to reduce our cost structure-
to a point where it is comparable or favorable to our competitors. Our revenues from the sale of market
information products and services are also under competitive threat from other securities exchanges that trade
Nasdaq-listed securities. We have implemented a new program that provides monetary incentives for quoting
market participants to send orders and report trades to the Nasdaq Market Center. Nasdaq has reduced the
percentage shared under this program throughout 2004 and may: continue to further reduce the percentage shared.
In addition, the acquisition of Brut is designed to accelerate our growth initiatives and enhance our competitive
position. v . : :

We aggressively compete for new listings of initial public offerings. Our primary competitor for larger
company listings on The Nasdaq Stock Market is the NYSE. We also compete, to a limited extent, with Amex
for listing of smaller, less active, companies. In addition, at least one regional exchange, the Pacific Exchange,
together with ArcaEx, its exclusive equities trading facility, has indicated that it intends to expand a listings
business. Nasdag-sponsored financial products are subject to intense competition from other ETFs, derivatives
and structured products as investment alternatives and we are subject to competition for the listing of these
products from other exchanges.

- The securities industry continues to experience considerable technological and regulatory change. Some of -
our competitors who have historically supported a floor-based trading model are increasingly moving to more
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fully automate their processes.: Wh11e oneiconsequence of these initiatives has been to highlight the advantages of
the electronic,trading model, anothet; consequence has been to, shorten the expected life of legacy hardware and
architecture as market centers rapldly innovate in order to offer therr customers the best possible platform. In .-
addltlon our competrtors rmgratron to electronic tradmg could further increase the competitive pressures on us.

fl

Cos’t Reduction and'bperaﬁng Efficiencies

In response to mcreased competition, we performed a strategic review in 2003 of our operations to develop
a plan to focus our business and improve our proﬁtablhty, margins and growth In implementing our strategic
plan, we have successfully reduced our technology costs elrmrnated non-core products, scaled back dur
workforce and consolidated our real estate facilities. In addition, we are also taking steps to exit certain low-
margin businesses, primarily relatmg to providing propnetary network connectivity to the Nasdaq Market Center
As we phase out these low margin access services, we expect our revenues to decrease but we expect the
correspondmg expensés to decrease at a greater rate. In 2003, we reduced total direct expenses by approxrmately
$92.5 million or'15.8%, from $585.2 million to $492.7 million, as compared to 2002. In 2004, we continued to
implement operating efﬁcrencres and further reduced total direct expenses from continuing operations by .
approximately $61.9 million or12.6%; from $492.7 million to $430.8 million for the year ended December 31,
- 2003 and 2004, respectrvely During 2004, in' connection with taking certain actions-to improve our operational
efficiency, we mcurred expenses of approx1mately $62.6 million. Our results for 2003 include $97.9 million of
: smular expenses. :

Sy N : . v

We plan to contmue to ratronahze our: busmess actrvmes and generate additional cost savings by managmg
,our expense base and pursumg addrtlonal _operational efficiencies and have identified additional expense
reduction opportumtles iy, computer operations and real estate that we intend to pursue. In addition, we also . -
expect to increase operatronal efficiency:as a result of our integration-of Brut. .

[ T
il Vo
. .

Sources of Revenues
' Market Services.

‘In March 2004 Nasdaq rebranded its execution services and trade reporting services—Autormnated
Confirmation Transaction Service (*ACT”).as the Nasdag Market Céenter, which is within the Market Services
- segment. Revenues from execution systems previously’known as SuperMontage and Computer Assisted
Execution System (“CAES”) and revenues from ACT are-included in the Nasdaq Market Center. Beginning with
» the quarter.ended June 30, 2004, revenues from Access-Services; Advanced Computer Execution Systems '
(“ACES”) and Nasdaq;‘lnterMarket (revenues derived from the sale of tape data (tape fee revenues) for securities
listed on exchanges) weré. also included with Nasdaq'Market Center revenues as these:products and services-are
considered transaction-based services. In addition, beginning September 7, 2004 with the acquisition of Brut,
execution revenues from transactions executed through Brut are included in Nasdaq-Market Center revenues:
Pursuant to EITF 99-19 revenues from these transactions-are recorded on a gross basis in revenues and expenses
- such:as liquidity rebate payments.are recorded in cost of revenues:as Brut acts as principal. Nasdaq’s other
- execution revenues: will: continue fo be reported net of the liquidity rebate as Nasdaq does not act:as principal.
Also, beginning with.the quarter ended June 30, 2004, revenues from Nasdaq’s Level 1 Service, the Nasdaq
’ Quotation Dissemination’ Service (“NQDS”), TotalView and Mutual Fund Quotation Service (“MFQS”) were
rebranded as’ Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions révénies as-these products and-services are considered
. subscription-based services. ‘Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions is also within the Market Services segment
Revenues from SuperMontage CAES} ACT, Accéss Sérvices and ACES were previously reported as Transaction
Services and revenues from'Nasdaq InterMarket, Level 1 Service, 'NQDS; TotalV1ew and MFQS were prevrously
reported as Market Informatron Servrces both w1th1n the Market Serv1ces segment R

Nasa’aq Market Center

The Nasdaq Market: Center prov1des market part1c1pants w1th access to.The N asdaq Stock Market executron )
services, such as.quoting and.trading ‘capabilities, and reportirig sérvices such as trade reporting and risk- -
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management. We provide these quoting, trading, and trade reporting.services for securities listed on the Nasdag
National Market and the Nasdaq SmaliCap Market as well as for securities authorized for trading on the OTC
Bulletin Board and for exchange-listed securities that are traded in the over-the-counter market by NASD
members.

We provide our customers with the ability to electronically execute trades in equity securities. The primary
fee for these execution services is a fransaction execution charge, assessed on a per share basis to the party that
accesses the liquidity provided by another market participant. In most circumstances, we credit a portion of the
per share execution charge as a rebate to the market participant that provides the liquidity. We also earn révenue
baséd on our share of trading securities listed on the NYSE and Amex." Many of our competitors engage in
aggressive price competition by reducmg the transaction fees they charge customers for trade execution. As a
result of this competition, we have also significantly reduced the transacnon fees we charge our customers for .
trade execution, particularly for large- volume customers.

The Nasdaq Market Center also provides three primary reventie-generating reporting services: trade’
reporting, trade comparison and risk management. Although we do not currently chaige market participants for
most of the trades they report to us, we do earn revenues for all trades reported to us.in the form of shared market
information revenues under the UTP Plan ,

Trade comparison revenues are generated by matching two market participants to a trade that they have
submitted to us for trade reporting for a fee. We also provide clearing firms with risk management services for a’
fee to assist them in monitoring their exposure to their correspondent brokers.

Finally, the Nasdaq Market Center provides market participants with the ability to access, process, display
and integrate orders and quotes. We provide our market participants with several alternatives for accessing the
Nasdaq Market Center for a fee. We are taking steps to exit certain low-margin business such as providing
proprietary network connectivity for access to the Nasdag Market Center. As we phase out these low margin
access services, we expect our revenues to decrease but we expect the correspondmg expenses to decrease at a
greater rate.

Nasdag Market Services Subscriptions

The primary source of revenues for Nasdagq Market Serv1ces Subscnpnons is the collection and
dissemination of price quotations and information regarding price and volume of executed trades. We collect
information, distribute it and earn revenues in two capacities as a member of the UTP Plan and as a distributor of
our proprietary market data. We also operate as the exclusive Securities Information Processor as part of the UTP
Plan for the collection and dissemination of the best bid and offer information and last transaction information
from the exchanges and markets that quote and trade in Nasdagq-listed securities. We do not generate any profits
from our role as the Securities Information Processor. ‘

In our role as the Securities Information Processor, we disseminate information to data vendors, which the data
vendors then sell to the public. After deducting our expenses incurred as the Securities Information Processor, we
distribute the tape fees to the respective UTP Plan participants, including ourselves, based on a combination of the
participants’ respective annual trade volume and share volume. Since our sharing in the UTP Plan is based on our
market share, our revenues from the sale of market information products and services are under competitive
pressure from other securities exchanges that trade Nasdag-listed securities. As a result, we have implemented a
new tiered pricing structure and a new program that provides an incentive for quoting market participants to send
orders and report trades to the Nasdaq Market Center to stabilize and increase our market share.

We also sell proprietary data products to market participants that choose to display trading interest on
Nasdaq. We offer a range of proprietary data products including TotalView, our flagship market depth quote
product. We operate several other proprietary services and data feed products, including the Mutual Fund
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‘ Quotanon Service; the. Mutual Fund Drssemmatron Service; our financial websites, Nasdag.com and -
* NasdaqTrader. comy; and Nasdag Index Dissemination service. See Item 1. “Busrness—Products and Services” for
- adiscussion of our propnetary data products & : ST S

“ IssuerServzces s .

D Corporate Clzent Group

The Corporate Chent Group provrdes customer support servrces and products toN asdaq hsted compames
and is responsrble for obtammg new hstmgs on The Nasdaq Stock Market. We charge i issuers an initial listing
- fee, a fee for hstlng of addrtronal shares and an annual fée. The initial listing fee for securities listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market 1ncludes a hstrng apphcatron fee and a total shares outstanding fee. The fee for hstrng of
addrttonal shares 1§ based ‘on the totall shares outstandrng, which we review quarterly. Annual fees for securities

" listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market are based on total shares outstandmg Beginning in 2005, Nasdaq increased

the amount of its annual fees for both The National and SmallCap Markets in a range of approximately 14.0% to
31.0%. Imtlal hstrng and hstmg of additiorial shares fees are recognrzed on a straight- -line basrs over estimated

. service penods Wthh dre six and four years, respectrvely, based on our historical listing experience, pursuant to’
© the Tequirements of SEC Staff Accountmg Bulletin Topic.13: Revenue Recognition. The hstmg fees that are
amortized over thelr respectlve servrce penods prov1de us with recurring revenue.

o .4,‘ B .
Nasdaq Fmanczal Products . *’j i

‘ Nasdaq Financial Products i 18 responsrble for mtroducmg products that 1everage extend and enhance the
Nasdaq brand, such as ‘Nasdagq indices and QQQ, an exchange traded fund based on the Nasdaq-100 Index.
Nasdaq Flnancral Products oversees ‘the development and hcensrng of Nasdag-branded ﬁnancral products based
on Nasdaq indices: In addrtron to hcensrng revenues, thesé products, particularly exchange traded funds; or ETFs
can lead to mcreased mvestments in compames listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market whrch in turn, could beneﬁt
- our Market Serv1ces revenues :

We have hcensed 1o ma]or stock markets in the United States the right to use our trademarks in connection -
with trading QQQ under the UTP: Plan. Every major options market in the United States also licenses the right to
use our trademarks. to trade the equity options on QQQ from us. We receive license fees for our trademark -

licenses that vary by product based on assets or number or underlymg dollar value of contracts issued. In :
.+ addition, QQQ has a nattonal advertrsmg campargn Wthh is separate from ours, that demonstrates the success of
. the issuers. 1nc1ude ‘in the Nasdaq 100 Index

il

Operatlng Results An TR
‘ The followmg table sets forth ‘total revenues by segment cost of revenues and gross margm

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
" (in millions)
$334.5 - $383.7 $581.8
2058 -204.2 2040

0.1 19 1.4
5404 5808 7872
(55.8) — =
$484.6 $589.8 $787.2

Cost of revenues

- Gross margin et
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MARKET SERVICES:

' Th¢ following table sets forth total revenuies, cost of révenues and gross margin from Market Services:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
o s (in millions)
Nasdaq Market Center: . : : ‘
~ Revenues ............ P U P P © $378.7 $3885 $523.8
“Liquidity rebate ...t ... i ST LML I a300)  (1274) (88.8)
Tape fee revenue sharing ...................... L L 8.1) (13.8) (174
Nasdaq Genefal Revenue Shanng Program ........... T 23 - — —
" Total Nasdaq Market Center revenues net . e U ... 2382 2473 4176
Nasdaq Market Services Subscnptrons o R U .
Revenues® ...... ... ... ... .. N T = 183.0 179.0. - 182.0
Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Program ............................ (17.8) — —
Nasdaq data tape fee réverue sharing . ... ...... . ..o ot i ... — - (9.0)
* UTP Plan revenue sharing ............. T e (794) (50.8) (18.3)
Total Nasdaq Market Services Subscnpuons revenues, net ... ... 858 1282 1547
Other Market Services revenues ................ e NP 105 8.2 9.5
' Total Market Services revenues . ............... eewmeeas a0y $.3345 $3837 §$581.8
Cost of revenues .. .. .. e P T wo. - (55.8) — —

Gross margin from Market Services "...... ... . ... P A $ 278.7 $ 383.7 $ 581.8

M - Inc¢ludes eligible and non-eligible UTP Plan revenues. Eligible UTP Plan revenues are associdted with the
calculation and dissemination of the consolidated national best bid and best offer (“inside quote”) and last
sale information. These revenues are shared among UTP Plan participants. Non-eligible UTP Plan revenues
are associated with the calculation and dissemination of proprretary Nasdaq information and are not shared
among UTP Plan partrcrpants

¢

Nasdaq Market Center

Nasdag Market Center revenues decreased $9.8 fillion, or 2.5%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and
decreased $135.3 million, or 25.8%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These decreases were primarily due to a
decline in the percentage of share volume reported to Nasdaq’s systems, the effect of price reductions, the
elimination of a quote update fee and a decline in the number of trader log-ons to Nasdaq*s systems. Share
volume declined as competitive pressures from regional exchanges and ECNs continued to draw activity away
from our systems to other, venues. Competitive pressures also caused a decline in market share in 2003 compared
. with 2002. In response to this eontinued competition, we reduced certain fees. In January 2004, Nasdaq
"implemented a new tiered pricing structure geared toward drawing increased liquidity to Nasdaq’s trading

platform. In April and November of 2004, Nasdaq further enhanced its pricing structure by increasing the -
liquidity rebate for.certain market participants, which impacted the Nasdag Market Center liguidity rebate. The
new tiered pricing structure lowers execution charges to market participants based on the amount .of liquidity a -
participant provides. These pricing changes are in addition to price reductions implemented in the second, third
and fourth-quarters of 2003 for trades reported to the Nasdag Market Center. Also, we eliminated a quote update
fee in February 2003 that. we had formerly charged market participants for updating a quotation or
non-marketable limit order on The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. The decline in
trader log-ons is due to continued market participant consolidations and firms moving to other venues to access
the market. In 2004, these decreases were partially. offset by additional activity from Brut and an increase in
average daily share volume. Average daily share volume was 1.81 billion for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to 1.69 billion for the year ended December 31, 2003. In 2003, the decreases discussed above were
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partially offset by an increase, during the fourth quarter of 2002, in the per share execution charge. However; the’
increase in the per share execution charge had no effect on Nasdaq Market Center revenues, net since the amount
shared through the Nasdaq Market Center hqurdlty rebate (see discussion below) also increased by the same
amount : . :

. B “N. asdaq Market Center 11qu1d1ty rebate in whrch we credit a portion of the per share execution charge to the
market participanit that provides the 11qu1d1ty, increased $2.7 million, or 2.1%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and
increased $38.6 million; or 43.5%, in 2003 compared with 2002. The increase in 2004 compared with 2003 was
due to an increase in the per share liquidity, rebate in April and November 2004 for Nasdag- -listed securities and
higher overall average. darly share volume of market participants on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Partially
offsetting the increase in 2004, was the elimination of the liquidity rebate for all NYSE-listed securities in ..
December 2003 and certam Amex listed securities in May 2004. The i 1ncrease in the Nasdaq Market Center ‘
~ liquidity rebate in 2003 compared with 2002 was due to an increase in the amount rebated beginning in the fourth
quarter of 2002. However, as discussed above, this increase did not effect Nasdaq Market Center revenues, net
because it was offset by the mcrease 1n the per share execution charge. :

- We share tape, fee revenues from NYSE-listed and Amex hsted securities through Nasdaq Market Center
tape fee revenue shanng ‘We earn. tape fee revenues from NYSE-listed and Amex-listed securities based upon
both the percentage of trades reported to the Nasdaq Market Center for securities listed on these exchanges and
Jthe size of NYSE and Amex revenue shanng pools. Nasdaq Market Center tape fee revenue sharrng decreased
$5.7 million, or 41. 3% in 2004 compared with 2003 and decreased $3.6 million, or 20.7%, in 2003 compared
with 2002. These decreases were pnmanly due to the INET ECN reporting certain trading activity to The -
National Stock Exchange begmmng in the fourth quarter of 2002 and additional trading activity in the first

' quarter of 2004 as opposed to us as it had previously done. These changes reduced both Nasdaq Market, Center
revenues and the’ amount of tape fee revenues Nasdaq was obligated to share with INET, resulting in an overall
decline in: Nasdaq Market Center revenues, net.:Also throughout 2004, Archipelago significantly increased the

: number of trades 1t prints; whrch resulted in lower market share for Nasdaq along with a decrease in the amount

of tape fee revenue shanng ) : : »

" In January 2004, the Nasdaq.Market Center began sharing reveniles under a new program, the Nasdaq
General Revenue Sharing Program. This new discretionary program which shares operating revenue is designed
to provide an incentive for quoting market participants to send orders and report trades to The Nasdaq Market
. Center. For the year.ended December 31, 2004, Nasdaq shared $2.3-million of Nasdaq Market Center revenues. -
_ under this program See “Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing” of Note 3, “Significant Transactlons,” to the
consohdated ﬁnanc1al statements for further discussion.

-
hl' l. .

'Nasdaq Market Servrces Subscrlptlons

© We provrde subscnbers with'inside quote and last trade mformauon through Level 1, the best quote’

* information for each‘iarket participant through Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Services and all price levels for
- each market’ pammpant through Total View. These services are provided for securities listed on The Nasdaq
~Stock Market to ‘both profess1onal and non—professmnal users. We also provide Mutual Fund Quotation Service

- (“MFQS”), a Service that collects and disseminates daily price and related data for unit investment trusts, mutual
funds and money .arket funds that are subscribers to this service. These subscription revenues, which include
eligible and non- ehgrble UTP Plan revenues, increased $4.0 million, or 2.2%, in 2004 compared with 2003. This
increase was prrmarrly due to incréases in non-professional Level 1 and NQDS subscriptions and professional

- NQDS subscnptrons resulting from iricreased interest in‘the equity markets during 2004. Professional Level 1
subscrrptrons remamed flat year over year. Nasdaq introduced a distribution fee for MFQS beginning in the -
fourth quarter of 2003 whrch resulted in addrtronal revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004.

N asdaq Market Serv1ces Subscnptrons revenues decreased $3 0 nnlhon or 1.6%, in 2003 compared w1th o
2002: This decrease,was pnmanly due'to cost saving initiatives among our market participants and market -
participant consohdatlons causmg a decrease in professional Level 1 subscriptions. Also contribuiting to the e
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decline was a decrease in ﬂon-professional Level 1 subscriptions resulting from decreased consumer interest in.
the equity markets. These decreases were partially offset by revenues received from TotalView. We began
charging for our TotalView data products in the first quarter of 2003.

In Janvary 2004, Nasdaq began sharing Market Services Subscriptions revenues under the new program, the
Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Program. For the year ended December 31, 2004, Nasdaq shared $17.8 million
of Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues under this program. See' “Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing”
of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

In-2002, Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions shared tape fee revenues with its market participants in a pilot
program based on their share of trades and volume reported to us. This revenue sharing plan was introduced in the
first quarter of 2002. During-2002, Nasdaq shared $9.0 million in tape fee revenues with its market participants. The
data revenue sharing program was part of a larger strategy to compete with UTP exchanges and provide incentive
for Nasdaq members to continue to fully utilize our Market Services. Effective June 1, 2002, the SEC abrogated
certain market participant tape fee sharing pilot programs, which resulted in an elimination of the Nasdaq member
revenue sharing program for data covered under the UTP Plan. See “Nasdag Member Revenue Sharing” of Note 3,
“Significant Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

. Nasdaq also shares tape fee revenues (i.é., revenues from the sale of tape data) for Nasdag-listed securities
through the UTP Plan. Under the revenue sharing provision of the UTP Plan, Nasdagq is permitted to deduct
certain costs associated with acting as the exclusive Securities Information Processor from the total amount of
tape fees collected. After these costs are deducted from the tape fees, Nasdagq distributes to the respective UTP
Plan participants, including Nasdaq, their share of tape fees based on a combination of their respective trade
volume and share volume. Nasdaq tape fee revenue sharing allocated to UTP Plan participants increased $28.6
million, or 56.3%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and increased $32.5 million in 2003 compared with 2002. These-
increases were primarily due to a declinein the percentage of share volume reported to Nasdaq’s systems as
continued competitive pressures from ECNs continued to draw activity away from Nasdaq’s systems to regional
exchanges that are members of the UTP Plan and that trade Nasdaq-listed securities. In 2004, the increase was
partially offset by a decline in trade reporting activity from The Boston Stock Exchange after Brut began to
report its trades to the Nasdaq Market Center on September 1, 2004. This change resulted in a decrease to UTP
Plan revenue sharing of approximately $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. See “Acquisition of -
Brut,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” and Note 4, “Acquisition of Brut,” to the consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues were $55.8 million for the year ended December 31 2004. Pursuant to EITF 99 19,
Nasdaq has recorded execution revenues from transactions executed through Brut on a gross basis in revenues
and has recorded expenses such as liquidity rebate payments as cost of revenues as Brut acts as principal.
Nasdaq’s other execution revenues will continue to be reported net of the liquidity rebate as Nasdaq does not act
as principal. ‘

ISSUER SERVICES
The fojlowing table sets forth revenues from Issuer Services:
‘ * Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
K (in millions)
Issuer Services: : ‘ : : .
" . Corporate Client Group ............coonunn... P $165.3 $168.3 $174.2
Nasdaq Financial Products ........ P P e - 40.5 35.9 29.8
" Total Issuer Serviee's_revenues e U $205.8  $204.2 - 3204.0




. Corporate Chent Group

The followmg table sets forth the r revenues from the Corporate Client Group as ‘reported in accordance with
" “accounting prrncrples generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) (“as reported”) and as would be reported
" on a non-GAAP basis (“billed basis”). We believe that the presentation of billed basis revenues, as they relate to
. listing of additional shares and;initial listing fees, is a good indicator-of current Corporate Client Group act1v1ty
as billed ba51s 1nformat10n excludes the effects of recognizing revenues related to initial listing fees and listing of
additional shares fees over the six and four year periods, respectrvely ‘ ‘

Year Ended December 31,

L ST 00d 7003 T 2002

: “ As | Billed .. As Billed As Billed' ~

b T Reported Basis© Reported ,  Basis - Reported  Basis

. S IR 5 -7 (in millions) : -
Annual renewal fees .. .:.. ... PP A S $ o14 $ 914 " $93.9 $:939 $100.8° $100.8
Listing of addrtlonal shares fees Il e 036,80 459 0 371 302 37.5 279
Initial listing fees /. ('3, ... .. 3.1 271 . 323 169 . 336 - 228
Other Corporate Chent Group revenues ... ....... 60 60 50 5.0 23 23

“Total Corpora‘teaChent Group Tevenues .. ... .. $165'.3. $170.4 . $168.3 ,$146.0 $174.2 $153.8

L

Corporate Client Group revenues, on.an as reported basrs, decreased $3.0 million, or 1 8%, in 2004
compared with. 2003 and- decreased $5 9 Imlhon, or 3. 4% in 2003 compared w1th 2002.

Corporate Client. Group revenues ‘are pnmanly denved frorn fees for annual renewals, listing of additional

' shares and-initial listings for companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Fees. are generally calculated based
upon total shares:outstanding for the issuing, company. These fees are initially. deferred and amortized over the .
estimated periods for which the services are-provided. Revenues from annual renewal fees are amortized on'a
pro-rata basis over the calendar year and initial listing fees and listing of additional shares fees are amortized

. over six and four years; respectively: The difference between the as reported revenues and the billed basis.
revenues is due to the amortization-of fees in accordance with GAAP. See Note 6, “Deferred Revenue,” to the -
consohdated ﬁnancral statements for further dlscussron :

Annual renewal fees on both an as reported and b111ed bas1s decreased $2 5 mrlllon or 2 7% in 2004
compated with 2003 an_d decreased $6.9.million, or 6.8%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These decreases were
primarily due to a reduction in the number of companies listed on The Nasdag Stock Market from 3,659 on |
+ January 1, 2003 to 3,333 onJ anuary 1, 2004, the date on which companies are billed their annual fees. The -
decrease in the number of listed cornpanies in 2003 was due to 460 issuers-delisted by Nasdaq during 2003
: pnmarlly for farlure to meet The Nasdaq Stock Market’s listing standdrds and-other reasons, including mergers
and acqmsmons Pamally offsetting this decline were 134 new listings'in 2003. The number of companies listed
on‘The Nasdaq Stock Market on'J anuary-1, 2002 was 4,109, The decrease in number of listed companies'in 2002 .
© was due to 571 i issuers delisted by us, during 2002 also for failure to meet The Nasdaq Stock Market’s listing
standards and other reasons, including mergers and acquisitions. Partially offsetting this decline were 121 new
listings in 2002. Also in 2002, annual renewal fees were impacted by a revised increased fee structure. .

 Listing of additional shares fees, on an as reported basis, decreased $0.3 million, or 0.8% in 2004 compared
~with 2003 and decreased: $0.4 million, or 1.1%, in 2003 compared with 2002. On a billed bass, listing of
additional shares fee's increased $15.7 million, or 52.0%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and increased $2.3
: ‘mﬂhon or 8.2%,in 2003 compared with 2002. The increases in listing of additional shares fees on a billed basis
in-2004 and 2003 were primarily due to an improved economic environment, which resulted in higher activity for
secondary offerings as well as other additional share activity. There were 233, 190 and 149 secondary offerings
‘during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In 2004, the increase in listing of additional share fees on a billed basis
was also due to t_he adopt1on of a new fee structure. This’ fee structure increased the minimum fee and eliminated
a-quarterly cap. The annual cap was not 1mpacted ‘
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Initial listing fees, on an as reported basis, decreased $1.2 million, or 3.7%, in 2004 compared with 2003
and decreased $1.3 million, or 3.9%, in 2003 compared with 2002. On a billed basis, initial listing fees increased
$10.2 million, or 60.4%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and decreased $5.9 million, or 25.9%, in 2003 compared
with 2002: The increase in initial listing fees on a billed basis in 2004 was primarily due to the number of new
listings and initial public offerings. There were 260 new listings, including 148 new initial public offerings,
during the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 134 new listings, 1nc1udmg 54 new initial public
offerings, during the year ended December 31, 2003. )

The decrease in 1n1t1a1 listing fees on a bﬂled basis in 2003 was primarily due to a temporary suspension of
listing requirements due to the events of September 11, 2001. This temporary suspension was lifted on January 3,
2002. As a result, a higher number of companies transferred down in 2002 from one tier of The Nasdaq Stock
Market to the other at the end of their respective time periods for review of non-compliance. These companies
were charged an initial fee in 2002 upon entering the new tier. Partially offsetting this decrease in 2003 was an
increase in the number of new listings and initial pubhc offerings for the year. In 2003, there were 134 new
listings, including 54 new initial public offermgs compared to 121 new listings, mcludmg 46-new mmal public
offerings, in 2002. ‘

Nasdaq F mancnal Products

 The followmg table sets forth the revenues from Nasdaq Fmanmal Products

Year Ended December 31, -

2004 2003 2002
. o . : (in millions) '

Licensing revenues ................. O . $36.7 $32.9 $28.1
Other Nasdaq Financial Products TEVENUES .. .................. e 3.8 © 3.0 1.7
~ Total Nasdaq Financial Products revenues .. . .. . . [P PR - $405  $359  $29.8

Nasdaq Financial Products revenues increased $4.6 million, or 12.8%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and
increased $6.1 million, or 20.5%, in 2003 compared with 2002.

- Licensing revenues increased $3.8 million, or 11.6% in 2004 compared with 2003 and increased $4.8 “
million, or 17.1%, in 2003 compared with-2002. These iricreases were primarily due to an-increase in options
trading volume on the QQQ and an increase in optlons and futures trading volume on Nasdaq indices. Also
contributing to the increase in 2004 was a fee increase implemented dumng the year. Licensing revenues
primarily include trademark and licensing revenues related to the QQQ and other financial products linked to
Nasdaq indices issued in the United States and abroad. The QQQ is the trading symbol for the shares of the
Nasdag-100 Index Tracking Stock: QQQ represents units of beneficial interest in a unit investment trust, the

Nasdag-100 Trust, that holds shares of the top 100 U.S. and international non- -financial stocks listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market that comprise the Nasdaq 100 Index. ‘

Other Revenues

Other revenues decreased $1.8 million, or 94.7%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and increased $0.5 million,
or 35.7% in 2003 compared with 2002. In September 2003, Nasdaq recorded the receipt of a business
interruption insurance claim related to the events of September 11, 2001 of $1.9 million.
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Direct Expenses .. ... . 'y b

Year Ended December 31,

La 102004 2003 . 2002

e N b e e oo .t (inmilliens) o
Compensation and benefits . R S et 0o 814820 $159:1 -, $18301
Marketing and.advertising- .. ..\ 0 ool s, ceesnbico DL 8 195 269
Depreciation and arhortization ...... ... .. .. . et seeoiiio 7630 0 90,0, 885
Professional and contract services .......... e R - 237 375 60.5
Computer operations and data.commimications . . . 1. .. - el c.. 0 989 1256 .-136.7
Provisionfor bad debts .......0..0 ... ... R L1 14 8.4
©Oceupancy. . e e e i e e 287 31.2- - 324
- General and administrative . .c..c.o.7. . oL e wewiienn.ioo 4L1 284 . . 487
 Total direct'expénses™ ... . F. 0 f v AL, . $430.8 © $492:7 "$585.2

j ,' ""D‘irect’ expé‘n‘gev; decreased '$61:9‘Ln1illi‘on, of 12.6%, in 2’0104.c“(‘)mpared with 2003 and decreaspd $925 . )
million, or 15.8%, in 2003 compared with 2002. - o S ' :

Compeﬁsatiop and benefits expense decreased $10.9 million, or 6.9%, in 2004 compared:with.2003 and -
decreased $24.0 million, or 13.1%, in'2003 compared with 2002. These decreases were primarily due to lower
. Costs associated W_i-th‘decreasedfhe'adébunt du€ to workforce reductions as a result of our 2003 strategic review,
which eliminated a total of 329, positions, and additional headcount reductions in 2004 of 146 positions. Total
headcount was 786 on December 31, 2004 compared with 956 on December 31, 2003 and 1,227 (excluding 48
~ €émployees in discontinued operations) on December 31, 2002, Partially offsetting the decrease in 2004 were
charges, totaling.$9.4 million, recorded in 2004 for severance and outplacement costs related to workforce
reductions and additional costs for a‘sa‘_léls commission program introduced in the fourth quarter of 2003. In 2003,
severance charges were recorded in the elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance in the
Consolidated Statemerts’of Income. Partially offsetting the decrease in 2003 was an increase in'émpldy'eé benefit
.obligations. See “Strategic Review” and “2004 Cost Reductions” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” to the
“consolidated financial statements for. further discussion. R . o ‘ :
Marketing andﬂé‘dVe\rt‘isjng expense decreased $6.7 million, or 34.4%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and
decreased $7.4 million, or 27.5%,.in 2003 compared with 2002, :These decreases weré primarily due to a decline
.in overall marketing.and, gdv{enisfing expenditures, as part of Nanaq’s'cost reduction plan, ; R ;
Depreg‘:‘i_éation} and aiﬁorgizaﬁbn exp{:‘hée} )giécréaséd $13.7 million, or'15.2%,.ih- 2004 compared ‘with,200‘3 and

L

increased $1.5 million, or 1.7%, in 2003 .compared with 2002. The decrease _iq_degre:c‘i_fi‘tiqh' and amortization -
expense in 2004 was primarily due to-declines jn incremental depreciation and amortization expense on certain
. equipment associated with Nasdag’s quoting platform and its trading and quoting network as Nasdaq migrates to
lower cost operé'tilhgﬁe;nv‘i'rdn\r_héht's.- as part of Nasdaq’s cost reduction plan. The elimination of certain products as
part of Nasdaq’s 2003 strategic review also contributed to the decline in depreciation and amortization expense. .
See “Strategic Review” and “2004 Cost Reductions,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” to the consolidated
financial statements for further discussion. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense in 2003 was
primarily due.to capacity and technology infrastructure improverents required to support market activity and- ’

new initiatives.., . ‘

Professional arnlld’ contract ;séryiQPQT’gip*étﬁse‘ aé“créased $1 3.‘8‘_rlnil.li_0n,. or '36_.‘8%: m 2004 fc'ompdvr_ed ‘With‘ 2003 -'
and decreased $23.0 million, or 38.0%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These décreases were primarily due to less -
reliance on outside contractors as part of Nasdaq’s cost teduction plan. In addition,‘the decrease in 2003 was also :
due to a decline in expenses associated with our global expansion strategy. :

Compufer opgreitions and data communications expense decréased $26.7 million, or 21.3%, in 2004
compared with 2003 and decreased $1 1.1 million; or 8.1%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These decreases were
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primarily due to the renegotiated MCI WorldCom Communications, Inc., formetly WorldCom, Inc., (“MCI”)
contract effective in the second quarters of 2004 and 2002. Also contributing to the decreases were lewer costs
associated with maintenance contracts due to the favorable renegotiation of certain maintenance contracts and
lower costs associated with providing computer links to customers due to lower dernand for such services. The
elimination of certain products as part of Nasdaq’s 2003 strategic review further contributed to the decreases. -
These decreases were partially offset by a change in the terms of certain operating leases associated with
Nasdaq’s quoting platform and our trading and quoting network as Nasdaq migrates to lower cost operating
environmerits.

Provision for bad debts decreased $0.3 miilion, or 21.4%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and decreased $7.0
million, or 83.3%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These decreases were pnmanly due a decrease in past due
account balances . \

Occupancy expense decreased $2.5 million, or 8 0%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and decreased $1.2
million, or 3.7%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These decrease were primarily.due to consolidation of leased
office space as part of Nasdaq's cost reduction plans.

General and administrative expense increased $12.7-million, or 44.7%, i 2004 compared with 2003 and
decreased $20.3 million, or 41.7%, in 2003 compared with 2002. The increase in general and administrative
expense in 2004 was primarily due to sublease losses totaling $17.6 million recorded during the third and fourth
quarters of 2004 for space at Nasdaq’s headquarters located in New York and a write-down of a building Nasdaq
currently owns to fair market value recorded in fourth quarter of 2004 of $7.4 million. Nasdaq began marketing
the building for sale in the fourth quarter of 2004, Also in 2004, Nasdaq recorded a loss of $2.6 million on a lease
transaction for certain of its technology equipment. These increases were partially offset by the release of a
sublease loss reserve of $1.9-million, net of rental payments, on leased property in Rockville, Maryland during
the third quarter of 2004, lower overall spending in 2004 as a result of Nasdaq’s cost reduction plan and losses
from Nasdagq’s equity investment in Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC (“NQLX") recorded in the first and second
quarters of 2003. On July 24, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed its interest in'the NQLX joint venture and transferred its
ownership interest to LIFFE. See “2004 Cost Reductions” and “Strategic Review,” of Note 3, “Significant
Transactions” and Note 7, “Real Estate Developments to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion.

The decrease in general and administrative expense in 2003 was partially due to the fulfillment in 2002 of.
our technology transition commitment to Amex. In conjunction with the separation from NASD, we had
committed to fund $14.5 million of transitional support costs to Amex. In 2001, we accrued $9.2 million for such
costs. The remaining $5.3 million was recorded in the fourth. quarter of 2002. Further contributing to the decline
~ in 2003 were.lower discretionary spending, lower equity investment losses related to NQLX and Nasdaq Japan
and a $4.9 million write-down -of an auxiliary trading technology platform recorded-in the second quarter of
2002. See “Strategrc Review” and “Nasdaq Japan” below for further discussion.

Elimination of Non-Core Product Lines, Initiatives and Severance
Strategic Review

As discussed earlier in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, in 2003, we announced the results of a
strategic review of our operatrons designed to posmon us for 1mproved profitability and growth. The strategic
review included the.elimination of non-core product lines and initiatives and resulted in a reduction in our
workforce. For the year ended December 31, 2003, a total pre -tax charge to earnings of $145.5 million was
recorded. The net 1mpact to us was a total pre-tax charge of $143.5 million. The difference represented charges
absorbed by minority shareholders of Nasdaq Europe. The charge recorded reflects the completion of the charges
associated with our strategic review. As shown in the following table, the total charge of $145.5 million included
$97.9 million from continuing operations and $47.6 million from discontinued operations related to Nasdag
Europe and IndigoMarkets. See Note 5, “Discontinued Operations,” to the consolidated financial statements for
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further drscussron *The charge was prrmarrly recorded to  property and equipment, goodwill, other mtangrble
- assets,, other accrued: hablhtles and accrued personnel costs.on. the Consolidated Balance Sheets. .

The followmg table summarrzes the strategrc revrew charge 1nc1uded in the Consohdated Statements of
Income ! :

oy S N " ... YearEnded
R R S S A . . December 31, 2003 -

(in millions)

Continuing Operations . . :
“Non-Core Product Lines.and Initiatives: .~ . " : o S o
Impamnent of capltahzed software and fixed assets O - - $ 211

- Impairment of goodwrll and 1ntang1ble assets ..... SR - 82
Contract cancellatrons e T PO - 11.4
Other exit costs . Tt O PRSI 11.6 .
Total non- -core product hnes and rmtlatrves R RN S SR 52.3
Severance and benefit costs ... ......:.... e P 324
Loss: on early extrngulshment of debt... ..o o L0132
Total contlnurng operatrons strategrc revrew charge Ll e S 0 8979
Dlscontlnued Operatlons R ) o :
' Nasdaq Europe ‘ o e o o o o
. “Impairment 6f technology platform P L $ 294
K Severance and beriefit COSES. .. D e 2.5
Imparrment of goodw111 SN S TR PEUSTU T |
\ Othief exrt costs mcludrng contract cancellauons R
‘ Total Nasdaq Europe PR i, e DT e hveeeo o, 482
Gam on drsposmon of. IndrgoMarkets 2 U (0 6)
~ Total d1scont1nued operatrons strategrc review charge N D PR $ 476 0 -
' Total strategrc revrew charge R T $1455 - -
Contmurng Operatrons w :'%"5" A n B

Non core product hnes and”'mtlatrves 1ncluded m the strateg1c rev1ew were:

Przmex~Pr1mex was an electromc auction system. N asdaq ended its exclusrve rrghts agreement w1th
‘ _,_Prrrnex Trading N.A., L fL.C.son December:31, 2003. Nasdaq decided to.consolidate our trading services
; to a.commeon- functronahty within the SuperMontage system and ceased offermg anex effecnve
January 16,2004, -~ <. o Tl . :

*  Nasdaq T ools-—N asdaq’ Tools was an order management system that ran on the Nasdaq_ Apphcatlon

i . Programming Interface usmg the Nasdaq Workstation II and was wound-down throughout 2003. .
Nasdagq Tools was prevrously our wholly-owned subsidiary and was merged with and into us on J uly 31,
2002.

e NQLX-NQLX was a Jomt venture wrth the London Internatronal Financial Fatures Exchange;,
S (“LIFFE”) to create a market for smgle stock futures and other futures products On July 24, 2003,
"N asdaq redeemed our 1nterest in the N QLX Jornt venture and transferred its ownershrp interest to
"“LIFFE LIFFE assumed ﬁnanc1a1 and management responsrbrhty for NQLX. This change did not have )
any 1mpact on the operatron of NQLX but usage of the Nasdaq brand by the company ceased. :

e The, Bulletm Board Exchange ( “BBX i )— —BBX was'a proposed platform for companies not ehgrble for
the Nasdaq SmallCap Market to raise equity capital and i increase the vrsrbthty of their stock. The OTC.-
- Bulletin Board contmues 1ts exrstrng operations. ., , i ,

50



Liguidity Tracker—Liquidity Tracker was an automated order routing system designed to allow traders
to direct orders to specific market makers based on recent trading actwlty Liquidity Tracker ceased
operations as of June 30, 2003. .

o MarketSite Tower—Market81te Tower is located atour Tir_nes Square, New York location. The video
wall portion of the Tower was deemed impaired. '

The charge related to the elimination of the above non-core products and initiatives was approximately
$52.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Included in the charge was the reduction of our investment
in NQLX of $6.3 million due to the redemption of our interest in the NQLX joint venture, the impairment of
goodwill of $4.1 million associated with Nasdaq Tools, the impairment of certain intangible assets of $4.1
million, impairment of various capitalized software and fixed assets of $21.1 million, contract cancellations of
$11.4 million and other ¢osts of $5.3 million. Included in the $21:1 million impairment of various capitalized
software and fixed assets is a'$12.3 million impairment on the MarketSite Tower. See “Valuation of Long-Lived
Assets” of Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the consolidated financial statements for
further discussion. The remaining impairment of capitalized software and fixed assets relates to the eliminated
products specifically Nasdaq Tools, Primex, BBX and Liquidity Tracker.

In addition, the recorded charges from continuing operations included severance costs of $32.4 million and
the loss on early extinguishment of long-term debt of $13.2 million. The severance costs included $13.8 million
related to the reductions in force of 329 employees. The remaining $18.6 million of severance costs relate to the
fulfillment of employment contracts and obligations associated with the retirement and departure of certain
members of senior management. Total headcount was 956 as of December 31; 2003 versus 1,227 as of December
31, 2002 (excluding 48 employees in discontinued operations). The extinguishment of debt costs relate to the
redemption of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 5.83% senior notes (the “senior notes™) due
2007. In conjunction with our strategic review, we reassessed our capital needs and determined that we no longer
needed the liquidity of the senior notes.

Discontinued Operations
Dlscontmued operations included in the strategxc review were:

. Nasdaq Europe-—Nasdaq Europe was a pan-Eurcopean stock market licensed in Belgium. See below for
complete discussion of the wind-down and eventual transfer of shares of Nasdaq Europe.

»  IndigoMarkets.—IndigoMarkets was a joint venture with SSI Limited to develop international trading
- platforms. On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in the Jomt venture to SSI and
recogmzed a gam on the sale of approxxmately $0 6 million.

Europe

As a result of the strategic review, Nasdaq supported the closing of the market operated by Nasdaq Europe,
in which Nasdaq owned a 63.0% interest through December 18, 2003. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held
on June 26, 2003, the shareholders - of Nasdaq Europe voted to discontinue operations of the market and, as.a
result, market operations were. wound-down pursuant to a Transition Plan approved by the Belgian Banking and
Finance Commission. :

As Nasdaq Europe was winding-down its market operations, Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfer all of
Nasdaq’s shares in Nasdaq Europe to one of that company’s original investors; the cash consideration for the
transaction was nominal. The transfer of Nasdag’s shares of Nasdaq Europe was completed on December 18,
2003. The entity ceased using the Nasdaq Europe name after the transaction. As part of the transaction, Nasdaq
Europe’s new owner committed to seek to restructure that company’s obligations and, in that context, to request
from certain major creditors releases of any claims they might have against Nasdaq Europe’s former directors,
officers and shareholders (if such claims are related to Nasdagq’s prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe).
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~ At the time of the transfer; Nasdaq Europe had'$15.1 million of external debt;-accrued interest and other
- liabilities.. Nasdag ‘fecOrde_déHébilitieb:' of $15:1' million that management believed were sufficient to satisfy any. . -
potential claims against Nasdaq. Nasdaq and Easdaq SA/NV (“Easdaq”), formerly known as N asdaq Europe,
' entered-intp;.an.aggyeement:d'ated, éls of Qctober 27,2004, providing in relevant part that Easdaq was to reach
agreements with certain of its creditors to settle these creditors’ existing claims against Easdaq. On November: 9,
2004, Nasdaq was provided evidence that these claims (related to Nasdaq's prior ownership interest in Nasdaq " -
Easdaq’s _‘crqditors}Wercsaytisﬁed or otherwise settled without any liability for Nasdaq. Nasdagq
was the third party beneficiary of these creditor agreements and in the fourth quarter of 2004 released the $15.1. ...
- million reserve it mainfained in-"c:onr;ectior} with such claims and liabilities. The release of the reserve was - e

y The charge related to.the orqgrly wind-down and liquidation of market operations in Belgium and Germany
Was approximately $48.2 million (excluding the minority. interest benefit of $2.0 million) for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The $48.2 million charge includes the $29.4 million impairment of certain technology .
platforms held-for-sale-and ownég; by Nasdaq Europe, the impairment of goodwill of. $8. 1 million (Nasdagq :

. Europe and Nasdaq Deutschland), severance costs of $2.5 million and other costs of $8.2 million including - . ..
contract cancellations.-During the third quarter of 2003, the losses.incurred by Nasdaq Europe exceeded the
minority shareholders’ interests. Therefore, once the minority shareholders reached-this point, Nasdaq absorbed
100.0% of Nasdaq Europe’s losses and strategic review charges.. - . IR ‘
Nasdaq Japan Impairment Loss

During the second quarter of 2003, ;webreco‘gnizedﬁn other-than-temporary impairment charge on ouf-eciuiiy

investment in Nasdaq'Japari df'$1‘§.’2,rr1jllli';_)n. Nasdaq Japan entered into liquidation ‘status in late November 2002
and was completely dissolved in May 2003. - B S S '

_ Durihg the second-quarter of-2003, “wé.rev.e‘rsed $5.0 million of the reserves related to Nasdaq Japan due to
favorable contract negotiations and lower legal costs resulting from the complete liquidation of Nasdaq Japan.
See “Nasdaq Japan” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion, . EURN ' e : S

Support Costs i?"lj()'m Reﬂgmed Paﬁjfijeg,‘yﬁgt ' R T o .

: ‘Support costs frbﬁl‘rélatgd'parties, net were $45.6 million, $61°5 million and $75.0'million for the years -
ended December 31;:2004, 2003 ‘4nd 2002, respectively, a decrease of $15.9 million, or 25.9%, in 2004 compared
With 2003 and a decrease of $13.5,.n}illion, or-18.0%, in 2003 compared with 2002. These decreases primarily.

- Net interest expense was $5.6 million, $9.0-million and $5:9 million for the years-ended Decembe"r} 1,2004,
2003 and 2002; 'respectivély, a decr‘eﬂ'ase of $3.4 million, or 37.8%, in 2004 compared with 2003 and an increase
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of $3.1 million, or 52.5%, in 2003 compared with 2002. The decrease in net interest expense in 2004 was -
primarily due to a decrease in interest expense as a result of the redemption of outstanding debt in the third
quarter of 2003. On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed the $150.0 million outstanding principal amount of
our 5.83% senior notes due 2007. In addmon interest income also decreased in 2004 due to the acquisition of
Brut. As previously noted, Nasdaq used funds from available cash and investments to finance both the
redemption and acquisition of Brut. The increase in net interest expense in 2003 was primarily due to lower |
interest income earned on a reduced cash and investment balance as a result of the redemption of outstanding
debt in the third quarter of 2003. See “Acquisition of Brut” and “Long-term Debt ” of Note 3, “Significant
Transactions,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Income Taxes

Nasdaq’s income tax (provision) from continuing operations was ($0.7) million in 2004 compared to an
income tax benefit of $21.2 million in 2003 and an income tax (provision) of ($40.9) million in 2002. The overall
effective tax rate in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was 29.3%, 32.0% and 38.6%, respectively. The change in Nasdaq’s
tax (provision) benefit in 2004 compared with 2003 was primarily due to a-reduction of a valuation allowance
related to a foreign net operating loss carryforward. The change in Nasdaq’s tax benefit (provision) in 2003

- compared with 2002 was primarily due to the write-off of goodwill related to Nasdaq’s strategic review and
deferred tax asset write-offs. This goodwill was not deductible for U.S. income tax purposes. See “Strategic
Review,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. A

At this time, Nasdagq feels that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset for a portion of the
foreign net operating loss carryforwards will be realized based on a history of pre -tax income, forecasted pre-tax
income and the unhrmted life of the asset.

The effective tax rate may vary from year to year depending on, among other factors, the geographic and
business mix of earnings and losses. These same and other factors, including history of pre-tax earnings and
losses, are taken into account in assessing the ability to realize deferred tax assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Nasdaq s Treasury department manages Nasdaq’s capital structure, funding, hqu1d1ty, collateral and
relationships with bankers, investment advisors and creditors. The Treasury department works jointly with
subsidiaries to manage internal and external borrowings.

The Nasdaq Board of Directors approved an investment policy for Nasdaq and its subsidiaries for internally
and externally managed portfolios. The goal of the policy is to maintain adequate liquidity at all times and to
fund current budgeted operating and capital requirements and to maximize returns. All securities must meet
credit rating standards as established by the policy and must be denominated in subsidiary specific currencies.
The investment portfolio duration must not exceed 18 months. As of October 2003, the policy prohibits the
purchasing of any investment in equity securities. The policy also prohibits any investment in debt interest in an
entity that derives more than 25.0% of its gross revenue from the combined broker-dealer and/or investment
advisory businesses of all of its subsidiaries and affiliates. Nasdaq’s investment policy is reviewed annually.
Nasdaq also periodically reviews its investments and investment managers.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments available-for-sale totaled $233.1 million as of December 31,
2004 compared with $334.6 million at December 31, 2003, a decrease of $101.5 million or 30.3%. This decrease
was primarily due to Nasdaq’s acquisition of Brut on September 7, 2004 for a total cash consideration of $190.0
million, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. This cash outflow was partially offset by the collection of
Corporate Client Group’s annual fees, the receipt of a federal tax refund and lower spending as a result of
Nasdaq’s cost reduction plans in 2004 and 2003.
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OperatmgActzvztzes B L AP TS E T R DA

Nasdaq relres prtmarrly on cash ﬂows from contmumg operatrons 10 provrde working capital for current and
future operauons Cash ﬂows from contmumg operatmg dctivities totaled $107. 5 million, $145.8 million and *
$183.2 rnillion for the years ended December 31,2004, 2003 and 2002, respectlvely Cash inflows-are pnmarrly .
- due to cash recerved from customers less cash’ pa1d to suppllers employees and related partres The decrease in
operating cash flows for year ended December 31,2004 as compared to the year ended Décember 31, 2003 was
pnmanly duetoa decrease in revenues pamally offget by lower expenses and lower non- cash items mcluded in

" netincome. The decrease m operatmg cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to 2002 2 was

pnmanly due to payments for the elumnatlon of non core product hnes initiatives and séverance.

. Investmg and ananczng Actzvztles ‘ ' o : e

'Cash used in investing actwmes was $201.3 million, $0.2: mrlhon and $86.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 2003, and 2002 respectrvely The increase in cash used in 1nvest1ng activities for the year .
" ended December 31 2004Las compared t0 2003 was primarily due. to the’ acquisition of Brut completed on. -
September:7, 2004, for a total cash consuleratlon of $l90 0. million, subject t0.certain post- closing ad)ustments
See “Acqursmon of Brut” of. Note 3, “Stgmﬁcant Transactrons” and Note 4, “Acqursmon of Brut” to, the |
" consolidated financial statements for further drscussron Dunng the;year ended December 31, 2004 Nasdaq A
purchased $235.2 million of avallable-for sale secuntres Caprtal expendltures for property and equrpment were '
$26.0 mllhon Investmg act1v1t1es also: mcluded proceeds of $240, 9. mrlllon from the redemptron of avaﬂable for-' v
sale investments. Cash used in mvestmg activities decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due to lower caprtal
. expenditures related to, SuperMontage and general capacity decreases. During the year.ended December 31,
2003, Nasdaq, purchased $179.2 rmlhon of available-for- sale rnvestments Caprtal expendrtures for property and,
equrpment were $31.6 miilion. Investmg activities also mcluded proceeds of $212.7 million from the redemptron
of available- for-sale mvestments

Cash usedin ﬁnancmg acnvrtres was $6.5° mrlhon $157.6 rmlhon and $147 8 million for the years ended
December 341, 2004, 2003 and 2002 respecnvely ‘The decrease in 2004 as'compared to 2003 Was primarily due
to the redemption of Nasdag’s $150.0 mrlhon senior riotes ot September 30, 2003. In conjuiction with its
strategic review, Nasdaq reassessed its caprtal needs and détermined that it no longer needed the liquidity of the
senior notes. See “Long- -termy Debt” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions” to the consolidated financial
statements for further discussion. Financing aetrvrnes during the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 also
consisted of payments of preferred Stock dividehids to NASD of $8.4 million and $8:3 million, respectrvely None
of Nasdaq’s lenders are-affiliated with Nasdaq, except to the ‘extent if anythat Hellman & Frredman would be
deemed an affiliate of N asdaq due tois ownershrp of the Subordmated Notes. -

Capztal Resources and Workmg Capttal

Working caprtal (calculated as current assets reduced for held to- matunty mvestments classrﬁed as current
assets, less current llabrhnes) was $169 3 mrlhon at Decernber 31 2004 compared wrth $268.2 million at
December 31, 2003, a decrease of, $98 9 rmllron or 36. 9% Thrs decrease was pnmarrly due to Nasdag’s
acquisition of Brut ot September 7 2004 for a total cash consrderanon of $190.0 million, subject to certain post—
closmg adjustments N asdaq ﬁnanced the,purchase from avarlable cash and mvestments reducing current assets.

Nasdaq has been able to generate sufficient'funds from operatrons to meet workmg capital requ1rements
Nasdaq does not currently have any lines of credit. Nasdaq believes that the liquidity provided by existing cash *
and cash equrvalents investments and cash generated from operations will provide sufficient capital to meet,
current and future operatrng r’equrrements Nasdaq is explorrng alternanve sources of ﬁnancmg that rnay 1ncrease ‘

hqurdrty in- the future e ‘ i

Our broker-dealer subsrdrary Brut is subject to regulatory requrrements mtended to ensure therr respectrve .
general financial soundness, and. qumdrty, which require that they comply with.certain minimum capital' .
requirements. As of December 31, 2004, Brut, was required to maintain minimum net capital.of $1.7 million and :

had total net capital of ‘appr‘oximately'ﬁiS. I'million or $6.4 million in excess of the minimum amount required.

i
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Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments

‘Nasdagq has contractual obligations to make future payments under, long-term debt, long term non-cancelable
lease agreements and other obligations and has contingent commitments under a variety of arrangements as
discussed in Note 11, “Senior Notes,” Note 12, “Subordinated Notes,” and Note 16, “Leases,” to the consolidated
financial statements. The following table sets forth these contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Payments due by period

‘ More

Less than 1-3 3-5 than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years

. o ' ' - s (in millions) -
Long-term debt by contract maturity® .................. L. %2650 $—  $2415 $ 50 $ 185
Minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating ,

I8aSES, MEL . ..o\t e e 243.1 40.4 450 273 1304

Other obligations .. ... e SN . S .. 500 30.6 12.7 6.7 —
Total ............. R e L...... $5581  $71.0  $299.2 $39.0 $1489

() Consists of $25.0 million Senior Notes and $240.0 million dggregate principal amount of Subordinated
Notes. o

Long-term Debt

Nasdaq s $25.0 million senior note payable with a financial institution (the “Senior Notes™) contains a
financial maintenance covenant requmng that the ratio of our EBITDA (as defined below) for the four quarters
ended December 31, 2003 must be at least four times our interest expense for those four quarters (4.0 t0 1.0),
provided however, that the ratio was reduced to 1.0 to 1.0 through the quarter ended March 31, 2004, increasing
to 1.25 to 1.0 through the quarter ended September 30, 2004, increasing to 1.50 to 1.0 through the quarter ended
March 31, 2005 and returning to 4.0 to 1.0 for periods thereafter. EBITDA means the sum of consolidated net -
operating income and all provisions fer depreciation and amortization. Consolidated net operating income means
net operating income excluding the cost of strategic review and other charges incurred in the three quarters ended
December 31, 2003 as well as amounts related to minority interest and non-cash expenses related to stock options
as compensation. The note also limits the amount of secured debt we can incur to 10.0% of total assets. Our
inability to comply with the requ1red financial covenants, or 1n certain circumstances a default under another
financial agreement could result in default under the note.

Nasdaq's $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.0% convertible subordinated notes due May
2006 (the “Subordinated Notes”) held by Hellman & Friedman do not contain any financial maintenance
covenants, but a default under any outstanding financing agreement that results in the acceleration of any debt
having a principal amount in excess of $50.0 million would cause a cross default under the subordinated notes.
See Note 12, “Subordinated Notes,” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

If a default under one or more of these financial agreements causes amounts outstanding under the
applicable financial agreement or agreements to bé declared to be immediately due and payable, we will be
required to expend the funds to pay such amounts. If we did not have sufficient available cash to pay all amounts
that become due and payable, we would have to seek additional debt or equity ﬁnancmg, which may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at ail. ‘

Nasdaq’s ability to incur additional long-term debt and to sell assets for cash outside of the ordinary course:
of business also is subject to covenants in the exchange agreement between Nasdaq and NASD, dated as of
November 29, 2004, related to the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock that remain in force while the Series C-
Cumulative Preferred Stock is outstanding. Under this-agreement, we must obtain NASD’s prior written consent,
which may not be unreasonably withheld, before incurring or assuming long-term debt or engaging in
extraordinary asset sales that in aggregate equals or exceeds $200.0 million in outstanding long-term debt and
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sales of our assets for cash outside of the ordmary course of business. Debt. outstandmg as of February 21, 2002

. and debt 1ncurred to refinance stich outstanding: debt are excluded from this calculation. Sales of capital stock. and
sales or transfers of assefs.in connectlon with a Jomt venture strategic alliance or similar arrangement (if not .

. pﬂmanly for cash and to raise caprtal) are excluded from the deﬁmtron of sales of our assets for cash outside of
the ordmary course of busmess If we, elect to proceed with a transaction that exceeds this limitation, NASD is -
__permitted. to condrtton its consent on the proceeds being used to redeem the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock.

-* As of Deceniber: 3L, 2004,-we were in compliance with this limitation. See Note 21, “Caprtal Stock ” to the

consohdated ﬁnancral statements for further discussion. :

a ,' At De'c“ember 31’, ,;2_0(‘),41‘.,~We"we‘re‘ ,in’compliance‘with' the covenants of all of our debt agreements.

_ Leases ""’;. A

We lease certam ofﬁce space and equlpment in connectlon with our operations. The ‘majority of these leases
contain escalation’ clauses based on increases in property taxes and burldrng operating costs. Minimum lease
" payments, net of sublease mcome ‘of $26.1 million, at December 31, 2004 were $243.1 million (including. $38.9
_‘.rmlhon for equlpment) over the: remarmng lrves of the leases
“In October 2004 Nasdag entered mto a lease agreement for technology equipment and also renegotiated
related operating’ léases with a major vendor Nasdaq also upgraded related leased equipment and entered into a
new three year operating lease and extended the terms of license and maintenance agreements. Under the terms -
of these leases and license and marntenance agreements, Nasdag will pay a total of $36.2 million, over the
'remammg lives of the leases .and agreements whrch is included in the minimum lease payments mentioned
_ above. See “2004 Cost Reductrons " of Note 3 “Srgmﬁcant Transactrons ” to the consolidated financial
statements for further drscussron ' :

-

' . L
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' Ozher Obligations .

. ‘Brut contracted wrth a subsrdlary of SunGard SunGard Fmancral Systems Inc. (“SunGard Frnancral”) for.

. SunGard Frnancral to provrde Brut on-line’ processrng, report services and related services in connection w1th

Brut’s clearance of trades The term of this agreement is five years begmnmg in September 2004 and is
automatrcally renewed at yearly mtervals thereafter until terminated. by Brut or SunGard Financial. The annual ’
service fee is $10.0 mllhon inthe first § year, dropping to $8.0 mrlhon in the second year and $6.0 million in the
third year of the agreement The annual service fee is subject to prtce review in the years four and five based on
;market rates, but will not be less than $4 0 million per year. ‘

» Brut also contracted wrth SunGard to host certam software on. desrgnated equ1pment at a SunGard facrhty

~ fora transitional penod begmmng in September 2004 SunGard developed and operated the computer software,.

programs that enables Brut to operate and provrde order. entry and execution over its ECN. Under the terms of the

original agreement, Whlch began i in September 2004 through May 2005 Brut was obltoated to pay SunGard

approximately $0.1 million.per month On November 29, 2004, an amendment was signed which extended the

- original agreement.through-June 30, 2006 and begrnnmg November 30, 2005, Brut may cancel the agreement
within, 30 days wntten nottce to SunGard TP, RS _ . . :

On J anuary 30, 2004 Nasdaq and MCI entered 1nto a global services agreement effectlve May 31, 2004

(the “GSA”), related to the data network that connects our market facilities to market participants. The global

‘services agreement terminated’ the prior agreement between the two parties.. The global services agreement;
‘which expires on December 31, 2005 requires usage charges for:certain services to be at least $20.0 million
duriiig the period from June 1, 2004 to December. 31, 2004 and $20.0.million in 2005. In 2004, Nasdaq met the -
minimum usage charges and fully expects to meet the minimum usage charges in 2005,

LR
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Other Potential Obligations
Brokerage Activities '

Brut provides guarantees to securities clearinghouses and exchanges under their standard membership
agreements; which require members to guarantee the perforinance of other members. If a member becomes
unable to satisfy its obligations to the clearinghouses, other members would be required to meet its shortfalls. To
mitigate these performance risks, the exchanges and clearinghouses often require members to post collateral as
well as meet certain minimum financial standards. Brut’s maximum potential liability under these arrangements
cannot be quantified. However, we believe that the potential for Brut to be required to make payments under
these arrangements is unlikely. Accordingly, no contmgent liability is recorded in the consolidated statement of
ﬁnanmal condmon for these anangements

General Litigation

We may be subject to claims arising out of the conduct of our business. Currently, there are certain legal
proceedings pending against us. We believe, based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or settlements
arising from these proceedings will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or our results
of operations. Management is not.aware of any unasserted claims or assessments that would have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial _position and results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements '

Nasdaq d1d not have any off balance sheet arrangements as-of December 31, 2004.

Quantitative and Qualitati% Disclosuree about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risks of changes in the value of a financial instrument, derivative or
non-derivative, caused by fluctuations in interest rates and equity prices. Our primary market risk is associated
with fluctuations in interest rates and the effects that such fluctuations may have on our investment portfolio and
outstanding debt. As of December 31, 2004, investments consist of fixed income instruments with an average
duration of-1.12 years. Our primary investment objective in debt securities is to preserve principal while
maximizing yields, without sighificantly-increasing risk. Our outstanding debt obligations generally specify a
fixed intérest rate until May 2007 and a‘floating interest rate based on the lender’s cost of funds until maturity in
2012. These investment securities and outstanding debt are subject to interest rate risk and their fair values miay
fluctuate with changes in interest rates. Management does not believe that a 100 basis point fluctuation in market
interest rates will have a material effect on the carrying value of our investment portfolio or outstanding debt as
of December 31, 2004.. We do not currently hedge these interest rates.”

At December 31, 2004, we had no significant foreign currency exposure or related hedges. We periodically
reevaluate our hedging policies and may choose to enter into future transacti‘ons.

We are exposed to credit risk from tlnrd pames mcludmg custormers, counterpames and clearing agents.
These parties may default on their obhgauons to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or
other reasons. In particular, our subsidiary, Brut, may be exposed to credit risk, due to the default of trading
counterparties, in connection with the external routing and agency brokerage services Bmit provides its
customers. While we are not exposed to counterparty risk for trades executed on The Nasdaq Market Center, we
are exposed to counterparty risk in connection with trades executed on or through the Brut ECN system (“Brut.
System Trades”), given that Brut, acts as central counterparty for these trades. Brut System Trades in Nasdag-
listed securities and with broker-dealer clients are cleared by Brut, as a member of the National Securities
Clearing Corporation (“NSCC”). Brut System Trades routed to the NYSE and with non-broker-dealer customers
are cleared by Merrill Lynch Professional Clearing Corporation pursuant to a clearing agreement. Pursuant to the
rules of the NSCC and Brut’s clearing agreement, Brut is liable for any losses incurred due to a counterparty’s
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failure to satisfy its contractual -obligations, either by making payment or delivering securities. Adverse
movements in the prices of securities that are subject to these transactions can increase our credit risk. However,
. we believe that the risk of material loss is limited, as Brut customers are not permitted to trade on margin, NSCC
“rules limit counterparty risk on self-cleared transactions by establishing credit limit and capital deposit
requirernents for all brokers that.clear with NSCC, and.transactions with institutional customers are cleared only
if the institutional customer. delivers the appropriate securities or funds on the appropriate settlement date. Brut

has never incurred a liability due to a customer’s failure to satisfy. its contractual obligations as a counterparty to

a Brut System Trade. Credit difficulties-or insolvency or the perceived possibility of credit difficulties or
insolvency of one or more larger-or:visible market participants could also result in market-wide credit difficulties
or other market disruptions. We also have-credit risk related to transaction fees that are billed to customers on a
monthly basis, in arrears. Our potential exposure to credit losses on these transactions is represented by the -
receivable balances on out Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our customers are financial institutions whose ability to
satisfy their contractual obligations may be impacted by volatile securities markets. Credit losses such as those
described above could adversely affect our consolidated financial position and resuits of operations. -

Crltrcal Accoumtmg Pohcres L . _

‘ The following provides information about our crrtrcal accounting policies: Critical accounnng policies are -
defined as'those that are:reflective of significarit ]udgments and’uncertainties, and potentially result in materially
different results under different assumptions and conditions. These policies relate to revénue recognition and cost

of revenues, software costs, related party transactions and reserve for bad debts.

' ‘Revenue- Recogmtwn and. Cast of Revenues. Market Services revenues (61.9% of total revenues and
57.5'% of gross margin in 2004) are derived from Nasdaq Market Center and Nasdag Market Services
Subscription revenues. ‘Nasdaq Market Center revenues are variable, based on service volumes, and recognized
as transactions occur. Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues are based on the number of presentation
devices in service and quotes delivered through those devices. Nasdaq Market Services Subscnptrons revenues
* are recognized in the month that information is provided. These revenues are recorded net of amounts due under
revenue sharing arrangements with market participants. Pursuant to EITF.99-19, execution revenues from

transactions execnted through Brut are recorded on a gross;basis in revenues and expenses such as liquidity:

‘ rebate payments are recorded in cost of revenues as Brut acts as principal. Nasdaq’s other execution revenues
will continue:to be reported net of the liquidity rebate as Nasdaq does not act as principal. Issuer Services
revenues (38.1% of total revenues and 42.5% of gross margin in 2004) include Corporate Client Group revenues

“and Nasdaq Financial Products revenues. ‘Corporate Client Group revenues include annual fees, initial listing fees
and listing of additional shares, fees. Annual fees are recognized ratably over the following 12-month period.
Initial listing and listing of additional shares fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over estimated service

"periods, which-arejsix‘andf four years, respectively, based on our historical listing experience. For Nasdaq
Financial Products’ révenues, we receive license fees for our trademark licenses related to the QQQ and other
financial products- linked to Nasdaq mchces issued in the Umted States and abroad. These revenues are
recognized as earned.. :

Saoftware Costs. We capitalize and amortize significant purchased application software and operational
software that are an 1ntegral part of computer hardware on the straight-line method over their estrmated useful
lrves generally two to seven years We' expense other purchased software as mcurred

* Nasdag uses Statement of Pésition 98-1, “Accountmg for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or

- Obtained for Internal ‘Use,” for accountmg for'internally developed software SOP 98-1 requires that certain costs

incurred in connecnon ‘with developlng or obtaining internal use software be capitalized. We capitalize 1nternal
. and thrrd party costs 1ncurred in oonnecuon wrth the development of mternal use software.

Related Party Transactwns Related pany rece1vables and payables are the result of various transactlons

. between us and our afﬁhates Payables to related parties are comprised primarily of the regulation charge from
“NASD.NASD charges s for costs incurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. Receivables
- from related parnes relates to: cash dlsbursements and loans funded by us on behalf of our affiliates.
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Reserve for Bad Debts. The reserve for bad debts is maintained at a level that management believes to be
sufficient to absorb estimated losses in the accounts receivable portfolio. The reserve is increased by the
provision for bad debts which is charged against operating results and decreased by the amount of charge-offs,
net of recoveries. The amount charged against operating results is based on several factors, including a
continuous assessment of the collectibility of each account. In circumstances where a specific customer’s
inability to meet its financial obligations is known (i.e., bankruptcy filings), we record a specific provision for ‘
bad debts against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected.
For all other customers, provisions for bad debts are made based on the length of time the receivable is past due
and historical experience. For receivables past due 31-60 days, 61-90 days and over 90 days, the outstanding
account balances are reserved for at 10.0%, 50.0% and 100.0% of the outstanding account balances, respectively.
If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major,
customer’s ability to pay), our estimates of recoverability could be reduced by a material amount.

Future Accounting Requirements

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS™) No. 123
(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). SFAS 123(R) supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB 25”) and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash
Flows”. Generally the approach in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123. However,
SFAS 123(R) requires Nasdaq to expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, based on their fair values. This cost will be recognized
over the vesting period of the grants. Pro forma disclosure will no longer be an alternative. Nasdaq must adopt
SFAS 123(R) no later than July 1, 2005. We cannot predict the impact of adoption of SFAS 123(R) because the
impact will depend on the levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had we adopted SFAS
123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of SFAS 123 as
described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share in Note 15 “Stock Compensation and
Stock Awards” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

In March 2004, the EITF issued EITF No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and
its Application to Certain Investments” (“EITF 03-1”) which provides new guidance for assessing impairment
losses on debt and equity investments. Additionally, EITF 03-1 includes new disclosure requirements for
investments that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. In September 2004, the FASB voted to delay the
accounting provisions of EITF 03-1; however, the disclosure requirements remain effective and have been
adopted for Nasdaq's year ended December 31, 2004 and are included in Note 8 “Investments” to our
consolidated financial statements. Once issued, Nasdaq will evaluate the impact of adopting EITF 03-01.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Information about quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk is incorporated herein by
reference from “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condltlon and Results of
Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Nasdaq’s consolidated financial statements, including consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2004
and 2003, consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity for the years ended Décember 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and notes to
our consolidated financial statements, together with a report thereon of Emst & Young LLP, dated March 2,
2005, aré attached hereto as pages F-1 through F-46.

The consolidated financial statements of Toll Associates LLC as of December 31, 2004 and for the period
September 7, 2004 through December 31, 2004 have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP as stated in their
report, dated February 28, 2005, and attached hereto as page F-3.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Ttem 9A. Controls énd Procedures.

(a). Disclosure controls and procedures. Nasdaq’s managément, with the participation of Nasdaq’s President
and Chief Executive Officer, and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of Nasdaq’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation,
Nasdaq’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that, as of the end of such period, Nasdaq’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

(b). Internal controls over financial reporting. There have been no changes in Nasdaq’s internal controls
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred
during Nasdaq’s fiscal fourth quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
Nasdaq’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Managé)nent’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reﬁorting ,

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements
appearing in the reports that we file with the SEC. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in
conformity with United States generally accepted: accounting principles and include amounts based on
management’s estiinates and judgments. ' \

Management i$ also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over Nasdaq’s
financial reporting. We maintain a system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as
to the fair and reliable preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements, as well as to
safeguard assets from unauthorized use or dlsposmon that could have a material effect on the financial
staternents. :

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over-financial reporting, as of December
31, 2004, based on criteria set forth in the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). This evaluation included review
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of the documentatlon of controls evaluatlon of the desrgn effect1veness of controls, testing of the operating
effectiveness of controls and a conclusron on'this evaludtion. Although there are inherent limitations in the

’ effectrveness of any. system of mternal control over findricial reportrng, based on its assessment, our management
believes that, as of December 31 2004 our 1ntemal control over ﬁnancral reporting is effectlve

Management s assessment.of and conclusron on the effectrveness of internal control over financial reporting
did not include the' 1ntema1 control of Toll Associates LLC and its subsidiaries, including Brut ECN (the “Brut
Entities™), which are 1ncluded in the 2004 consolidated financial statements and in 2004 reflect total assets
constituting 29. 7% and gross. margrn constituting less than 1.0 % of the related consolidated totals. We did not
assess the effectrveness of internal controls over financial reporting at the Brut Entities because we did not
‘ complete our acqursrtron of these entrtres unt11 September 2004.

Ernst & Young LLP an mdependent regrstered pubhc accountmg firm, has issued an attestation report on
management 8 assessment of internal’ controls over ﬁnancral reporting, which is include herein.

Vi

Report of Independent Regzstered Publtc Accountmg an on Internal Control over Fmanczal Reportmg
. The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. ’

We have ‘audited managenient’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report-on
Internal Control over-Financial Reporting that The Nasdaq-Stock Market, Inc. (“the Company”) maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal

- control over ﬁnancral reporting:and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

- reporting. Our responsrbrlrty is to express an opinion on management s assessment and an opinion on the.
effectrveness of the, Company . 1nternal control over ﬁnancral reporting based on our audit.

‘ We conducted our audlt in' accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversrght

- Board (United States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtarnrng an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluatrng the. design and operatmg effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we cons1dered necessary in the c1rcumstances We beheve that our audit provrdes a
reasonable basis for our oplnlon

A company’$ internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial réporting and the preparation of financial statéments for external purposes in
* accordance with generally accepted accountlng principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and ‘procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect:the:transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only. in.accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable .
assurance regarding, preventlon or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company s assets that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements.

Because of its 1nherent lnmtanons mternal control over ﬁnan01al reportrng may not prevent or detect
" misstatements. Also projections'of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may becoms inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
‘ pohcres or procedures may detenorate AT .
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As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, -
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did
not include the internal controls of Toll Associates LLC and its subsidiaries, including Brut ECN (the “Brut
Entities™), which are included in the 2004 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted
29.7% of consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2004 and less than 1.0% of consolidated gross margin for
the year then ended. Management did not assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting at
the Brut Entities because the Company did not complete its acquisition of these entities until September 2004. -
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the
internal control over financial reporting of the Brut Entities.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over.
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria.
Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in-accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004 of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and our report dated March 2, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon. ' )

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

New York, NY
March 2, 2005

Part II1

Item 9B. Other Information.

Approval of Performance Parameters for Performance Accelerated Stock Option Awards

On February 11, 2005, the Committee approved the performance parameters for measuring vesting of
Performance Accelerated Stock Options (“PASOs”) for officers and a select group of non-officer employees that
were granted on November 15, 2004. The performance parameters are tied to Nasdaq’s 2005 operating income.
As a result, 50% of each PASO award will vest on the fourth anniversary of January 15, 2005, if Nasdag’s 2005
operating income is between $82.9 million and $97.9 million, subject to accelerated vesting of this portion of the
award on the third anniversary of January 15, 2005, if Nasdaq’s 2005 operating income is greater than $97.9
million, or extended vesting on the fifth anniversary of January 15, 2005, if Nasdaq’s 2005 operating income is’
below $82.9 million. The remaining 50% of this PASO award will vest on the fifth anniversary of January 15,
2003, if Nasdaq's 2005 operating income is between $82.9 million and $97.9 million, subject to accelerated
vesting of this portion of the award on the fourth anniversary of January 15, 2005, if Nasdaq’s 2005 operating
income is greater than $97.9 million, or extended vesting on the sixth anniversary of January 15, 2005, if
Nasdaq’s 2005 operating income is below $82.9 million..

Item 10. Directors and Exécutive Officers of the Registrant.

Information about Nasdaq’s code of ethics, as defined in Item 406 of Regulation S-K, and Nasdaq’s audit
committee composition and financial expert, as defined inTtems 401(h) and (i) of Regulation S-K, are
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incorporated by reference. from the discussion under the captions “Nasdaq Codes of Ethics” and “Board.and
Commiittee Meetings—Audit Committee,” respectively, in Nasdaq’s proxy statement for the 2005 Annual :
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy”). Information about Nasdaq’s directors is incorporated by reference from
the discussion under Proposal 1 in the Proxy. Information about Nasdaq’s Nominating Committee is incorporated
by reference from the discussion-under the caption “Board and Committee Meetings—Nominating Committee”

 in the Proxy. Information about:Section 16 reports, as required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by
reference from the discussion‘under the caption “Section 16(a):Beneficial Ownership Reporting'Compliance™ in

 the Proxy. The balance of the résponse to this item is contalned in the discussion entltled “Executrve Ofﬁcers”

: under Item 1 of Part I of thrs report ' oy o , :

; I[tem I Executwe Compensatmn

Infonnatron about executlve compensatlon is lncorporated by reference from the drscussron under the
headma “Executlve Compensatron in the Proxy »

- Item 12. Seeurnty @wnershlp of Certam Beneﬁc1al Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.. ... . .

Informanon about securlty ownershrp of certain beneﬁcral owners and management is 1ncorporated by
reference from the discussion under the heading “Security Ownershlp of Certain Beneﬁcral Owners and
Management” in the Proxy. :

Equity Compensatnon Plan lnﬁ'ormatmn :

Nasdag’s Equlty Incennve Plan (the “Equ1ty Plan”) provides for the issuance of our equity securities to -
officers and other employees, directors and tonsultants. In addition, employees of Nasdaq and its subsidiaries are
eligible to partrcrpate in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) at 85% of the fair market value of our
+.common stock on the price calculation date. The Equity Plan and the ESPP have been approved by our
stockholders. In 2003, we granted options for 1,000,000 shares of common stock and 100,000 shares of restricted
stock to Robert Greifeld as inducement awards to secure his employment as CEO and President of Nasdaq. These
two inducement awards were outside of the Equity Plan. The following table sets forth information regarding
outstanding options and shares reserved for future issuance under all of Nasdaq’s compensation plans as of
December 31, 2004: S :

* Number of shares-
remaining available

o & _Number‘of shares L for future issuance
e o to be issued Weighted-average . - under.equity
: upon exercise of exercise price of compensation plans
‘ ~'outstanding options, outstanding options,  (exclnding shares.
P . - -warrants and rights  warrants and rights reflected in
. Plan Category T . . - . N . {(a) (b) column (a)) {¢)
" Equrty compensation; plans approved by & e . o i - B
StOCKNOLAETS & oo v oo oo e 16,356763 $9.94 -'8,760,607
Equrty compensation; plans not approved by S ‘
. stockholders ‘ - ©. 700,000 - $5.28 R —
" Total . 17,056,763 - $9.75 -8, 760 607“)

) This includés 1,926, 663 shares of common stock that rnay be, awarded other than through options pursuant
~ to the Equity Plan and. 1,209, 615 shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the ESPP,

. @~ Mr. Greifeld recéived an 1nducernent award of non- -qualified stock options exercisable for 1,000,000 shares

" of common stock pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement. The award was granted on April 13,
2003 at an exercise price of $5.28 per share and expires on April 15, 2013 (the “Expiration Date”). The
‘Option became: _exercrsable with respect to 250,000 shares on July 10, 2003 and became or will become

: ei{er_cisable with\respect t0 250,000\shares oneach'of April 15,.2004, 2005 and 2006. In the event
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Mr. Greifeld’s employment is terminated by Nasdaq for Cause or by Mr. Greifeld without Good Reason
(each as defined in his employment agreement) the unvested portion of the option will be forfeited and the
vested portion will remain exercisable for a period ending on the earlier of ten days after termination or the
Expiration Date. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s employment is terminated by Nasdaq without Cause, by
Mr. Greifeld for Good Reason or in the event of death or disability, any portion of the option that would vest
within 12 months shall vest, in most circumstances, as of termination and the remainder will be forfeited. In
this case, Mr. Greifeld would have the earlier of 24 months after the termination date or the Expiration Date
to exercise the vested portion of the option. If Mr. Greifeld’s employment terminates as a result of
retirement (as defined in his employment agreement) unvested options that would have vested within 12

- months will continue to vest. Mr. Greifeld would have the earlier of 370 days or the Expiration Date to
exercise the vested portion of the option. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s employment terminates as a result of a
non-renewal by Nasdag, any vested portion will be exercisable until the earlier of 24 months from
termination or the Expiration Date and the unvested portion will be forfeited. This inducement award is
transferable by Mr. Greifeld only to certain immediate family members or to a trust or other entity for the
exclusive benefit of such immediate family members.

3 Does not include 100,000 shares of restricted stock granted to Mr. Greifeld as an inducement award on June
11, 2003. The shares of restricted stock vest in equal amounts on each of the first three anniversaries of May
12, 2003, Mr. Greifeld’s employment date. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s employment is terminated by Nasdag
for Cause, by Mr. Greifeld without Good Reason or as a result of a non-renewal by Mr. Greifeld, all

-unvested restricted stock is forfeited. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s employment is terminated by Nasdaq
without Cause, by Mr. Greifeld for Good Reason or in the event of death, disability or retirement, all
restricted shares that would have vested within 12 months of termination will vest and the remaining shares
will be forfeited. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s employment terminates as a result of a non-renewal by Nasdaq,
.any unvested shares shall vest as of termination. This inducement award is transferable only by the laws of
descent and distribution. '

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Information about certain relationships and transactions with related parties is incorporated herein by
reference from the discussion under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™ in the Proxy.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information about principal accountant fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from the
discussion under the heading “Proposal 2. Ratify the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm” in the Proxy. : :

Part 1V

Ttem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. -
(a)(1) Financial Statements

See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.”
All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have

been omitted.
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Exhibit

Number

31

32
32.1
4.1

9.1

92
93

10.1

102

10.3
| 10.5
106

“10.7
.-10.8

10.8.1

L T T

« .
R

Restated Cert1ﬁcate of Incorporatron of The Nasdaq Stock Market Inc. (“Nasdaq™) (prevrously filed
with Nasdaq S Quarterly Report on Forrn lO Q for the quarter ended September 30 2003 frled on

: November 14 2003)

Certrﬁcate of Desrgnatrons Preferences and Rrghts of Serres C Cumulanve Preferred Stock of
Nasdaq (prevrously filed wrth ‘Nasdaq’s Current Report on Forrn g-K filed on December 1, 2004)

. By-Laws of Nasdag; (prevrously filed with Nasdaq 5. Amendment No.5to Regrstratlon Statement on -

Form 10 (ﬁle number 000 32651) filed on. November 16, 2001).

--First Amendment to By-Laws of N asdaq (previously filed-with Nasdaq’s Annual Report ori
- Form:10-K:for the: year ended December-31, 2002 filed March 31, 2003). ‘

' R‘Form of Common Stock certrﬁcate (prevrously filed with Nasdaq s Regrstratron Statement on
. :Form lO (ﬁle number OOO 32651) filed on Aprrl 30, 2001)

Votrng Trust Agreement dated June 28; 2000 among The Nasdag Stock Market Inc , the N atronal

Assocranon of . Securrtres Dealers Inc. and The Bank of New York (previously filed w1th Nasdaq S

) Regrstratron Statement on Form 10 (frle number 000- 32651) filed on Apnl 30, 2001)

- First- Amendment 1o the Votrng “Trust Agréement, dated as of January 18, 2001, among The Nasdaq

. Stock Market, Inc., the National.Association of Securities Dealers; Inc. and The Bank of New York
- (previously.| frled wrth Nasdaq s Regrstranon Statement on Form 10 (ﬁle number 000- 32651) filed on
.- April 30, 2001) W .

Second Amendment tothe Votmg Trust Agreement dated as of July 18, 20()2 among The Nasdaq

Stock Market, Inc., thé National Assoeiation of Securities Dealers, Inc., The Bank of New York and .
Mellon Investor Services, LLC (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2002, ﬁled on November 14 2002) r

" Global Services Agreement dated as of J anuary 29 2004, between MCI WORLDCOM

Commumcatlons Inc:, and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

‘ for the:quarter ‘ended-March 31,2004, filed on May. 10, 2004).*- b

Consolidated Agreement between Unisys Corporation and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s
Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).* ~

Network User chense Agreement dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation and
Nasdaq (prev1ously ﬂled w1th Nasdaq S Regrstratron Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651)

‘ﬁled on Apnl 30, 2001) *
‘Software chense and Servrees Agreement dated November 30 1993, between Oracle Corporatron

and Nasdaq (prev1ously filed with Nasdaq’s Regrstratron Statement on Form 10 (file number
000-32651) filed.on Aprrl 30 2001) * .

Regulatory Services Agreement dated June 28, 2000, between NASD Regulation, Inc and Nasdaq
(previously filed with Nasdaq $: Regrstratroantatement on Form 10-(file number 000-32651) filed.on -
April 30, 2001).* -~ ", .

Separation and Common Servrces Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2002, between the National ‘
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaqg’s Annual Report on
Form 10:K for'the year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003).

Nasdaq 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement

‘on Form'10 (file number 000-32651) filed on Aprrl 30 2001)
_Nasdaq Equity [ncentlve Plan (previously filed with Nasdaq s Regrstratlon Statement on Form lO

(ﬁle number OOO 32651) frled on Aprll 30 2001)

‘First Amendment to Nasdaq Equity. Tncentive Plan (prevrously ﬁled with Nasdaq 8 Quarterly Report

on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed on August 14, 2002)
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Exhibit
Number

10.8.2“' )

10.8.3

10.9

10.9.1

10.10

10.11

10.12
10.13
10.13:1
10.14
10.14.1
10.15
10.16

10.16.1

10.17

'Form of Nasdaq Non Qual1f1ed Stock Optron Agreement (Petformance Accelerated Stock Options).

Form of. Nasdaq Restricted Stock Award Agreement (2005 grant based on performance metrrcs

. established March 2, 2005),

' Sécurities Ptirchase Agreement,'dated as oflMarch'23, ZOOl,among Nasdaq, Hellman, & Friedman

Capital Partners IV, L.P. and the other purchasers listed in the signature pages thereto (previously
filed with Nasdaq s Regrstratlon Statement on Form 10 (frle number OOO 32651) ﬁ]ed on April 30,
2001).

Securityholders Agreement dated as of May 3, 2001, among Nasdaq, Hellman & Frredman Caprtal

"+ Partners IV, L.P.; and the other-securityholders listed on the signature pages thereto (previously filed "

with Nasdaq’s Amendment No.-1'to Regrstranon Statement on Form 10 (frle number 000-3265 1)
filed on May 14, 2001). .

" Exchange Agreement; dated as of November 29, 2004, between the National Association of

Securities Dealers, Inc. and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on December 1, 2004). , . B ,

Employment Agreement by and between Nasdaq and Robert Grerfeld effectrve as of May 12, 2003

‘(previously filed with Nasdag’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 10, 2003).

Employment Letter from Nasdaq to Steven J. Randich, dated September 22 2000 (previously ﬁled
with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed March 15,
2004).

Employmenit Letter from Nasdaq to.David P. Warren, dated November 30, 2000. (previously filed
with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed March 15,

. 2004)..

Loan Agreement dated December 28, 2001 by and between Nasdaq and David P. Warren
(previously filed with Nasdag’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the year ended December 31,

" "2001, filed March 28, 2002).

Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward Knight, effective as of December 29 2000 -

*Nasdag (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yearended "

December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward Knight, effective
February 1, 2002 Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended-December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003).

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2002, between Nasdaq and the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc (previously. filed with Nasdaq’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 22, 2002). :

Master Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2002 among Nasdag, The American Stoek Exchange,
LLC and The American Stock Exchange Corporation (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the'quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed on November 14, 2002).*

First Amendment to Mastei' Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2002, among Nasdag, The
American Stock Exchange, LLC and The American Stock Exchange Corporation (previously filed
with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 31,
2003).*

Technology Transition Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2002, among Nasdaq, The Natronal
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The American Stock Exchange LLC (previously filed
with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 filed on
November 14, 2002).*
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Exhibit
- Number

10:18 . Prormssory Note dated as ‘of May 19, 1997, between Nasdaq and Crestar Bank (the ‘Promissory -
. Note™), Allonge to ‘Promissory Note, dated as of May 6, 2003, between Nasdaq and SunTrust Bank;
.Second Allonge to'Promissory Note, dated as-of June 26, 2003, between Nasdag-and SunTrust, Third
- ‘ Allonge dated as of September 29, 2003, between Nasdaq and SunTrust (previously filed with .
K . Nasdag’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the year ended December 31 2003, filed March 15,
g 2004) ' 1
g

©10.19 V Purchase Agreement dated May 25,2004 by and among Automated Securities Clearance, Ltd., Toll
Associates LLC and N asdaq (prev1ously filed with Nasdaq’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 26 2004) ‘

.‘41v0.1‘9.1 “ Amendment No 1 to Purchase Agreement dated as of September 7, 2004 by and among Automated
e > Securities Clearance, Ltd., Toll Associates LLC and Nasdaq (prev1ously filed with- Nasdaq s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 7, 2(]04)

11 | . Statement regardmg computanon of per share eammgs (mcorporated herein by reference to “Itemn
15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on- Form 8- K” of this Form 10-K).

121 . _C‘omputatron of Ratlo of: Earmngs to Fixed Charges.

21 Lrst of all subs1d1ar1es g
23.1 ’ Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
' 23.2 N o Consent of De101tte & Touche LLP
241 . Powers of Attomey : A
U311 . K Ceruﬁcatlon of Pre81dent and Cmef Executive Ofﬁcer pursuant to Sectlon 302 of the Sarbanes-
R Oxley Act of 2002: (“Sarbanes -Oxley”)." : :
. 312 Cemﬁcatton of Executlve Vice Pres1dent and Chlef F1nanc1al Officer pursuant to Sectron 302 of
' h Sarbanes Oxley . o
. 32.1 ’(cl)eriuﬁcauons Putsiant t0 18 U S. C Secnon 1350 as adopted pursuant to Sect1on 906 of Sarbanes-
- xley '

Lok Conﬁdentral treatment has been requested from the U S. Secuntres and Exchange Cormmssron for certain
“.portions of thls eXhlblt no ‘

(b) Reports on Form 8 K

, "The followmg reports on Form 8 K were furmshed or ﬁled durlng the three months ended December 31,
2004. L e

1 Form 8 K dated October 28,2004 (Items 2. 02 and 9.01);
2 Form 8 K, dated November 12, 2004 (Items 1.01 and 9.01);
3. Form 8 K/A dated November 22, 2004 (Item 9.01);
4, Form8 K, ‘dated November 24,2004 (Ttem 5. 02)
5 Form 8 K dated December 1, 2004 (Items 1.01, 3 02, 5.03 and 9, 01)

i
Gl

\

(c)Exhlblts S "v RN TN S
See Item 15(a)(3) above

(d) Financial Statement Schedules '
'~ Seeltem 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the'requir‘éments of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this Teport to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on
March 11, 2005. ‘ - '

THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

¢ P - By - /s/ Robert Greifeld
o o Name: ‘ : Robert Greifeld
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

) Pursuant to the requirements of the Secudt{es Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities indicated as of March 11, 2005.

Name S P - Title
s/ Robert Greifeld \ Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Robert Greifeld ' (Principal Executive Officer) -
/s/ David P. Warren Chief Financial Officer
David P. Warren (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Ronald Hassen Controller (Prinéipal Accounting Officer)
Ronald Hassen ' S o s
* o . Chairman of the Board
H. Furlong Baldwin
* Director
Michael Casey
* Director

Jeffrey N. Edwards

* : - _ Director
Lon Gorman
* Director
John P. Havens
* Director
Patrick Healy '
* Director

John D. Markese

* Director
Thomas F. O’Neill
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Mary Jo White .-
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-Director .,

Director
Director
Director

Director

.. Director-

* Deborah'L. Wiﬁce-Sﬁﬁth' "

* Pursuant to PdWer of Attorney | TR

By: __Js/ Edward S. Knight
: o “Edward S, Knight '
Anamey-ianac;
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THE NASDAQ STOCK»MAR_KET, INC.
- INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULE

- The following consolidated financial statements of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and its subsidiaries are
presented herein on the page indicated: :

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms -. . e [P F -2

Consolidated Balance Sheets . . . . . . S D e e F -4
Consolidated Statements of Income ........ .. P SR e F -5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity ...:.0 ..., EE T P F -6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ....... .. .. . + . L U . F -7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .. ..., . . e P PR . ...... F 8
Financial Statement Schedule: Schedule H—Valuauon and Quahfymg Accounts ... ... . ... .. ... F47
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Report of Independent Reglstered Public Accountmg Firm
. Boardof Drrectors and Stockholders - | ,
) »The Nasdaq Stock Market Inc . C i

W W [ ISR ot ) e e P

We have’ audrted the accompanymg consohdated balance sheets of The Nasdaq Stock Market Inc and ;
subsidiaries (“Nasdaq r “the- Company ) as of December 31 2004 and 2003 and the related, consohdated -
statements of i income, changes in stockholders’ equrty, and Cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the perrod

"~ ended December 31 2004 Our aud1ts also included the ﬁnancral statement schedule hsted in the Index at Item

15(a). These consolidated ﬁnancral statements and schedule are the responsrbzlrty of the Company S N
o management Our. responsrbrhty is to. express -an opinion on these consolldated ﬁnanc1al statements and schedule
‘based on our audits. We did not audit the consolidated ﬁnancral statements of Toll Assocrates LLC, a wholly-
_owned subsrdrary, whrch reﬂect 29.7% of consolrdated total. assets as of December 31, 2004 .and less than-1 0% ;
of consolidated gross margin for the" year then énded. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose
report has been furnished to-us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts 1ncluded for Toll Associates
LLC, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. T

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversrght
Board (United States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
-dbout whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supportmg the'amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
" assessing the accountrng principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial, statement presentatron We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a
T reasonable basrs for our oprmon

In our opmron based on our aud1ts and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all materral respects, the consolidated financial position of Nasdaq and subsidiaries at
* December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the penod ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting’
principles. Also, in our oprmon the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
. consolidated ﬁnancral statements taken asa whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth
“~ therein. - e Loy

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board .
(United States),: the effectrveness of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’s internal control over financial reportrng as
of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
~_ Committee of Sponsormg Organrzatrons of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2, 2005
expressed an unqualrﬁed oprmon thereon : ‘

/s/ Ernst & You»ng & LLP

New York, NY -~~~ -~ =~ N
March2,2005 . . o




Report of Independ_éntRegistere@ Public.Accounting Firm

To the Member of e T
Toll Associates LLC S

We have audlted the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Toll Associates LL.C and subsidiaries (the
“Company”), including Brut, LLC, as of December 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, cash flows and member’s equity for the period September 7, 2004 through December 31, 2004. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respons1b1hty 1$ to express an
oplmon on these ﬁnancxal statements based on our audit. . .

We conducted our aadit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances; but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on .
a est basis;evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used.and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluatmg the overall financial -
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basns for our opinion.

o AIn our opinion, such consolidated financial statjcments present fairly, in ,all mateﬁal respects, the .
consolidatéd financial position of the Company as.of December 31, 2004, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the period September 7, 2004 through December 31, 2004 in confonmty with accountmg
pnn01p1es generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

February 28, 2005
New York, New York
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47 TheNasdaq Stock Market, Inc. "~
_— ~ Consolidated Balance Sheets
(m thousands, except share and par value amounts)

- K i
[ A DT

Assets e o
Current assets: ;-
Clash and cash equlvalents ! . .
Investments: ¢ ! by e -
Available-for-sile, at fair valué ... R e DL U L
Héld-to-maturity, at amortized' cost ' ' :
. ,Recewables net
" Receivablesfrom related pames
- Deferred tax asset..
B Other current assets

T otal current assets

Investments: o
Held-to- -maturity, at a.rnor’uzed cost -
Property and equipment: ! ;
; Land, buildings and 1mpr0vements .
Data processing equxpment and software .........
Fumlture, eq'mpment and leasehold 1mprovemems :
t"‘.."’v\ )

Less accumulated deprecnanon and amomzatlon

Total property and equlpment net
Non-current deferred tax asset |
Goodwill
Intangxble assets, nét .
.Other assets

Total assets

' Liabilities
Current liabilities: :
Accounts payable and accrued expenses '

Accrued personnel COSLS . .. ... .. b i N i S N .

Deferred revenue
Other accrued liabilities -
Current obligation under capltal 1ease
Péyables to related pames

Total current llablhtleb
Senior notes
Subordinated notes
Accrued pension costs
Non-current deferred tax liability
Non-current deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity -
Comumion stock, $.01 par value, 300,000, OOO shares authonzed shares 1ssued 130,653,191 in 2004 and
130,611,221 in 2003; shares outstanding: 78,973,085 in 2004 and 78, 483,919 in 2003
. Preferred stock, 30,000,000 shares authorized, Series C: 1,338,402 shares issuéd and outstanding i in 2004; Series A:
1,338,402 shares issued and ontstanding in 2003; Series B:1 share issued a.nd outstanding in 2004 and 2003 .
Additional paid-in capltal
Common stock in treasury, at cost 51,680, 106 shares in 2004 and SZ 127 302 shares in 2003
Accumulated other comprehenswe (loss) income
Deferred stock compensation
Common stock issuable .............. e e P L .
Retained arnings .. ...o.o. e iereeneeni e SR e PR
Total stockholders’ equity. .. 0. ..o e R D U
Total liabilities and stockholders equity i

- See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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‘December 31,

- 2004

2003

 $ 58,186 -

$ 148,929

174913 - 185,704
28,600 23765
104,258 111,405

3,229 7,731
24209 . 40,460
12802 11,623
406,197 529,617
2,008 4,506
97322 . 96518
205279 346,928
140,006 168,478

" 4425627 611,984

(268,787) (369,041
173,840 ° 242,943
48765 ' 12,079
141,381 —
© 40,791 871
“1,838 - 1,238
$814,820 $ 851,254

$ 40,180 $ 29959
49383 48817
59,537 59,739
42,467 75951

—_ 1,607
16749 21,558
208316 237,631
25000 25000
240,000 240,000
25,671 26,831
29514 40917
89,821 84,703
39.935 35476
658,257 690,558
1,306 1,306
130,134 133,840
355943 358923
(662,002)  (667,765)
(1,056) 86
(1,030) (1,102

2,567 2,881

330,701 332,527

156,563 160,696
$814,820 $851254 -




"The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. °
- Consolidated Statements of Income
* (in thousands, except per share amounts)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Revenues
Market SEIVICES . ..ot ittt e $334,517 $ 383,715 $581,774
Issuer Services .......... R e 205,821 204,186 203,969
Other ................ e e e e 103 1,944 1,411

Total revenues . .. .. S, e 540,441 589,845 787,154
Cost of revenues . ...... e U ST (55,845) —_ _
Grossmargin ................... R 484,596 589,845 787,154

"~ Expenses , ‘ o o

Compensation and benefits .. ..... T e, 148,155 159,097 183,130
Marketing and advertising ........ ... .. o i i i il 12,790 19,515 26,931
Depreciation and amortization........................... e e 76,336 89,983 88,502
Professional and contract services .................. e 23,709 37,544 60,499
Computer operations and data commumcatlons ........................ 98,903 125,618 136,642
Provision for bad debts . .........%0. Ve e e 1,074 1,365 = 8,426
Occupancy ...........ooiiininn SR e 28,730 31,212 32,367
General and administrative .............. e CETERRRRPRP 41,128 28,411 48,634

Total direct expenses......... B ... 430,825 492,745 585,131
Elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and severance ........... — 97,910 —
Nasdaq Japan impairment loss . .. . .. e e — (5,000) © 15,208
Support costs from related parties, net .......... e ERERERRREEE 45,588 61,504 74,968

Total expenses . ............ . 476,413 647,159 675,307
Operating income (I0S8) ............ e e e - 8,183  (57,314) 111,847
Interestincome ................. e e 5,854 9,517 12,583
INTETESE EXPENSE . . . ..ot (11,484)  (18,555) (18,488)
Operatmg income (loss) from continuing operat10ns before income taxes ... 2,553 (66,352)" 105,942
(Provision) benefit for income taxes . .......... ...l L . (749) 21,240  (40,921)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations . ...... e $ 1,804 $ (45,112) $ 65,021
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, netoftax ............... 9,558 (60,335) (21,893)
Net income (BOSS) .ot e PP SRERRE o008 11,362 $(105,447) $ 43,128

~ Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders

Net income (1088} .............. e P $ 11,362 $(105,447) $ 43,128
Preferred stock: ) ) i

Loss on exchange of securities .................. e (3,908) —_ —

Dividends declared .................... ... .. e (8,354) (8,279) —

Accretion of preferred stock ............ .. Ll e (926) —_ (9,765)
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders ............ e B ( 1,826) $(113,726) $ 33,363
Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share

Continuing OPETatioNs . ..ol i 8 (014) 5 (0.68) $ 0.66

Discontinued OPErations ..................o e S v 0.12 (0.77) (0.26)
Total basw and dlluted net (loss) earnmgs per share e I $ (0.02) $ (145 $ 040
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Reconciliation of net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities- ‘
Netincome (I0S8) .. ..ot S $ 11,362 $(105,447) § 43,128
Net income (loss) from dlscontmued operatmns .............. e i 9,558 (60,335) (21,893)
Net income (loss) from continuing Operations .....................uiuiirieineaeoneerreen.s $ 1804 $ (45112) $ 65,021
Non-cash items included in net income (loss): '
Depreciation and amortization ......... e e 76,336 89,983 88,502
Amortization of restricted StOCK awWards . ... ... ... e s 541 (50) 3,155
Provision forbad debts .. ... e s 1,074 1,365 8,426
Lossonassets held-for-sale . ... .. . i e - 7,369 — —
Loss from equity method affiliates ... ... ... . . . o e -— 4,101 12,114
Elimination of non-core product lines and initiatives . .............. .. ..ccociiiiiiiian — 33,923 —
Nasdaq Japan impairmentloss ......... ... ... ... . ... .. e PP — (5,000) 15,208
Deferred tAXES . ..ot e e 26,970 2,103 13,662
Other non-cash items included innetincome ............ .. ... . . . .0 iiivereeinnnain 7,618 13,050 8,201
Net change in:
RECEIVADIES, EE . . .ottt e et ettt e e 26,360 44,500 27,864
Receivables fromrelated parties .. ..., e PRI 5,104 2,513 17,662
Other CUITENE ASSEES .« . v v v vt r e e et ettt et et e e e et e e e ees e (3,400) 4,886 (6,989)
OHher @SSELS . . o oottt ettt e e e e e (884) 9,177 (2,288)
Accounts payable and accrued EXPEIISES .\ttt e e e (2,132) (31,672) (35,902)
Accrued personnel CoSts .. ...t e D e (1,323) 2,216 534
Deferredrevenue . ..........cooiiiiia.. e e e 4916 (22,256) (20,355)
Other accrued Habilities . .. ... oot i i e e e . (30,627) 40,849 9,505)
Obligation under capital J6ases . ....... .. ... e (1,607 (7,815) (3,275)
Payables to related parties . ........... e e (13,951) . (5.766) 17,768
AcCrued PENSION COSS -« . vttt t e ettt it b N (1,160) 3,273 (1,425)
Other habilities ................ P o 4,459 11,553 (15,181)
Cash provided by continuing operations .....................ccoiiieiniiiecoiainn. 107,467 145,821 183,197
Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operauons .................................... 9,558 (40,554) (28,555)
Cash provided by operating activities . ............... ... .. ... .. .. ... cceeeiiieii.s 117,025 105,267 154,642
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from redemptions of available-for-sale investments ................... ... ... 240,881 212,725 209,181
. Purchases of available-for-sale investments ... ........... ... . i uiiiiiiirerareiinnenen. (235,233)  (179,151)  (212,643)
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments .................... P 26,828 18,600 —
Purchases of held-to-maturity inVESIMeNts ... ........vu'iterrennreerreeennnains .. (29,058) (18,453) —_—
Acquisition of Toll Associates LLC ... ... .. i i 190,000y —_ —
Capital contribution to Nasdaq LIFFE joint venture ................oiiviieniniineennens — (2,500) (16,000)
Purchases of property and equipment .. ....... ... i SR (26,029) (31,595) (75,153)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment . .......................... e 11,299 143 8,135
Cash used in investing activities ............................... e, R (201,312) (231) (86,480)
Cash flow from financing activities '
Payments for treasury stock purchases .. ......... .. ... .. . i i i (85) (148)  (305,155)
(Decrease) increase in long-termdebt . ... .. ... ... — (150,000) 150,000
Issuances of commonstock . .. ;% vvevt i . e P o 2,273 996 2,238
Preferred stock dividends . ....... oot e e (8,354) (8,279) —
Contribution (to) from NASD . ... oot e C(290) (139) 5,069
Cash used in financing activities ..................... D (6,456) (157,570) (147,848)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents . ............ P (90,743) (52,534) (79,686)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year .. ....... ... . ..o i i 148,929 201,463 281,149
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . ... ... ...t $ 58,186 $ 148,929 $ 201,463
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Flow Activities
Cash paid for (received): :
Interest............c.o.... O $ 11,483 $ 15851 §$ 19,276
Income taxes, netof refund . ... .. ... . e $ (49,986) $ (25936) $ 77,187
Exchange of preferred SECUTTES . .. ... oottt ettt e $ (8540) § - & —
Payments for treasury stock purchases with issuance of preferred stock ..................... $ — 8 —  $124,075

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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; The Nasdag Stock Marl(et,sln'c‘.

f Notes':to Consolidated Financial Statements -

L s e s
AR B

1. Orgamzatron and Nature of Operatrons

| Nasdaq is:a, leadrnghprovrder of. secuntres listings, trading and information products and services. Nasdaq

operates The Nasdagq, Stock Market, the largest stock-based equity securities market in the United: States,. both.in -

terms of numbef of, hsted companies and traded share volume. Nasdaq is a majority owned sub51d1ary of NASD

At December 31 2004 NASD owned approximately 54.7% of Nasdaq 1nclud1ng unexplred outstandrng warrants

10 ‘plirchase N asdaq § common stock. At February 15; 2005, NASD’s ownershrp decreased to 33. 7% as.a result of

the pubhc offenng sale See Note 23 “Subsequent Events” for. further drscussron :

T Nasdaq is the parent company of Nasdaq Global Holdmgs (“Nasdaq Global”) Nasdaq F1nanc1al Products

Services, Inc. (“Nasdag Financial Products”); Nasdaq International Market Initiatives, Inc..(“NIMI"); Nasdaq

Europe Planmng Company, Limited (“Nasdaq Europe Planning”); Nasdaq International, Ltd. (“N asdaq

Internatronal”) Nasdag ¢ Canada In¢. (“Nasdaq Canada”); Nasdaq Technology Services, LLC (“Nasdaq

- Technology”);‘and as of" September 7, 2004, Toll Associates LLC (“Toll”), collect1vely referred to as “Nasdaq

, These entities are wholly owned by Nasdaq Nasdaq Global, which is incorporated in Switzerland and served ds
a, holdrng company for several corporatlons ‘incorporated 1nternat1onally, was completely quurdated in 2004 and
subsequently drssolved in 2005. Nasdaq also has determined to dissolve or otherwise wind-down Nasdaq Eutope
Planmng, whrch was formed to expand Nasdag into the European community and is currently inactive. NIMI is
.an entity that employed Nasdaq’s expatriates assigned to Nasdaq’s international subsidiaries. Nasdaq
 International is a London-based marketing company. Nasdaq Financial Products is the sponsor of the Nasdaq 100
Trust Nasdaq F1nanc1a1 Product Services (Ireland) Limited (“Nasdaq Ireland”) is a wholly- owned subs1drary of
Nasdaq Financial Products Inl anuary, 2005, Nasdaq Financial Products changed its name-to Nasdaq Global: .

’ Funds Inc: Nasdaq lreland is the manager of The Nasdaq ETF Funds-plc. Nasdaq Canada is an extension of
Nasdaq s North Amencan -trading’ platform within Canada, which has received regulatory approval to provrde
tradmg access in two provmces 'Quebec and British Colurnbra Nasdaq Technology is a company estabhshed in
2004 to provrde software hostmg and disaster recovery services. :

On September 7, 2004, Nasdaq completed its-acquisition of Toll'and afﬁllated entmes from SunGard lData
Systems Inc (“SunGard”) Tolliis @ holdmg company that owns,a 99.8% interest in Brut, LLC (“Brut”) the '
- owner and operator of the Brut ECN, a broker-dealer registered pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Toll also has'a 100. 0% 1nterest in Brut Inc. (“Brut Inc.”), which owns the remaining 0.2% interest in Brut and
"sérves as its manager.pursuant toan operating agreement. Brut also owns Brut Europe L1rmted (“Brut Europe 7,
ca Wholly owned sub51d1ary set up to generate a European subscriber base, which is currently inactive. See *
“Acqursmon of Brut”. of ,Note 3 “Srgnrﬂcant Transactrons ” and Note 4, “Acqursltron of Brut 2 for ﬁlrt.her
d1scussron ‘

On October 31 2003 Quadsan Enterpnses Inc. (“Quadsan”), prevrously a wholly owned subsrdrary of
Nasdaq that provrded mvestment management services to Nasdaq, was merged with and into Nasdaq Pnor to
December 18,:2003, ‘N asdaq owned a 63.0% interest in Nasdaq Europe, which had prevrously operated an equrty ‘
market licensed,in Brussels Belgrum On December 18, 2003, Nasdaq transferred its interest in Nasdaq Europe
toa third party.’ Also,,,o‘ :September 30, 2003, N asdag Global sold its 55. 5% interest in IndrgoMarkets toits
partner SSI'Limited. Seel“Strateorc Revrew ” of Note 3, “Srgmﬁcant Transactlons " for further d1scussron

, 2 Summary ot‘ Sngnrﬁcant Accountlng Polrcnes
Prmcnples of Consolldatron

' The consohdated ﬁnanc1a1 statements include the accounts of Nasdaq and wholly—owned subsrdrarres All
srgmﬁcant intercompany acc‘ounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All non-majority
owned investments are accounted for under:the-equity.method of-accounting: -
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

Financial Statement Preparation

The preparanon of consohdated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts and the disclosure of contingent amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estlmates Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentanon

Segments v

Nasdaq manages, operates and provides its products and services in two business segments, our Market
Services Segment and our Issuer Services Segment Prior to 2003, Nasdaq operated in one segmerit. See Note 18,
“Segments” for further discussion.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and all non-restricted highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase. Such equivalent investments included in cash
and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $52.9 million and $138.8 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Cash equivalents are carried-at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates faJr
value due to the short maturities of these instruments.

Investments

Under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” (“SFAS 115™)
management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase. Investments for
which Nasdaq does not have both the intent or.ability to hold to maturity are classified as “available-for-sale” and
are carried at fair market value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component
of stockholders’ equity. Fair value is determined based on quoted market prices when available, or if quoted
market prices are not available, on discounted expected cash flows using market rates commensurate, with the
credit quality and maturity of the investment. Investments for which Nasdaq has the intent and ability to hold to
maturity are classified as “held-to-maturity” and are carried at amortized cost. The amortized cost of debt
securities classified as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts, which are included in interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Realized
gains and losses on sales of securities are included in-earnings using the specific identification method.

Nasdaq regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its securities portfolio. When assessing.
securities for other-than-temporary declines in value, Nasdaq considers such factors as, among other things, the
duration to which the market value had been less than cost, the performance of the investee’s stock price in
relation to the stock price of its competitors within the industry and the market in general, any news that has been
released specific to the investee and the outlook for the overall industry in which the investee operates. Nasdaq
also reviews the financial statements of the investee to determine if the investee is experiencing financial
difficulties. If events and circumstances indicate that a decline in the value of these assets has occurred and is
deemed to be other-than-temporary, the carrying value of the security is reduced to its fair value and the
impairment is charged to earnings. As of December 31, 2003, Nasdaq liquidated all equity securities.

Receivables, net

Nasdaq’s receivables are concentrated with NASD member firms, market data vendors and Nasdag-listed
companies. Receivables are shown net of reserves for uncollectible accounts. Reserves are calculated based on
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_ - The.Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
_ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

‘the age and source of the underlying receivable and are tied to past collections experience. The reserve for bad
debts is maintained at a level that"rnanagement believes to be sufficient to absorb estimated losses in the accounts
recervable portfolro The reserve is increased by the provision for bad debts which is charged against operating
‘ results and decreased by the amount of charge offs, net of recoveries. The amount charged against operating
results is based on several factors, 1nclud1ng a contmuous assessment of the collectlbllrty of each account. In
-circumstances where a specrﬁc customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations is hnown (ie., bankruptcy
filings), Nasdag records a specific provision for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the
amount Nasdaq reasonably believes will be collected. For all other customers, provisions for bad debts are made
based on the length of time;the receivable is past due and historical experience. For receivables past due 31-60
days, 61-90 days and over 90 days the outstandrng account balances are reserved for at 10.0%, 50.0% and
100 O% of the. outstandrng account, ba]ances respectively. If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected
' defaults or.an-unexpected materral adverse change in a major customer’s ability to pay), Nasdaq’s estimates of
_ recoverability could be reduced by a matenal amount, Total reserves netted against receivables in the
_ ’Consolrdated Balance Sheets were $3. 2 nnllron and $1 7 mrllron at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

" Related Party Transactlons - .

Related party\ recervables and payables are the- result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its
affiliates. Payables to related parties-are compnsed primarily of the regulation charge from NASD. NASD -
charges Nasdaq for costs incurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. Receivables from-
‘related parties relates to cash drsbursements and loans funded by us on behalf of Nasdaq’s afﬁhates

* Deposits . . . ‘ e _
" Other current assets mclude $2 0 mlllron of deposrts at December 31, 2004 These deposrts are for Brut and
serve primarily for'clearance and. settlement services. Brut is required to hold a minimum clearing deposit with

- Merrill Lynch Professional: Cleanng Sérvices and the NSCC. In addition, the NSCC requires a daily minimum
requrrernent whrch 1s based upon the’ prev1ous days tradmg actrv1ty in Brut.

. I’ ’Q”‘H
*Proper'ty and 'Equjpinent net

Property and equrpment 1nclud1ng leasehold improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated deprecratlon
and amortization. Land is- ‘recorded at cost. Equipment acquired under capital leases is recorded at the lower of.
fair market value or the present’ value of future lease payments. Depreciation and amortization are generally
.. récognized over the estrmated useful lives of the related assets. Estimated useful lives generally range from 10 to

40 years for buildings-ahd improvements, two to five years for data processing equipment and software and five

to 10 years for furniture and equ1pment Léasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their

estimated useful lives: or the 1 Temaining term of the related lease. Depreciation and amortization are compuited by
: 'the ‘straight-line method Deprecrat1on and arnort1zat1on expense for property and equipment was $71.3 million,
$81:9 million and $82 4 million for the 'years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectrvely and are -
mcluded in deprecranon and amortlzatlon expense in the Consohdated Statements of Income

Property and equrpment net 1ncludes a caprtal lease of $6.4 million and accumulated amomzatron of
A $4 8 rmlhon at December 31 2003 Nasdaq s capital lease exprred in February 2004."

Property and equrpment net also 1ncludes an asset held- for sale with a carrying value of $17:6 million as of

December 31, 2004, related to an owned facrlrty that is berng actrvely marketed. See Note 7, “Real Estate
‘ 'Developments for further drscussron
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to'the net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets of a business acquired. Effective January 1, 2002, as a result of the adoption of
SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) Nasdaq no longer amortizes goodwill.
Goodwill is subject to annual impairment tests (during the fourth quartery whereby goodwill is allocated to
Nasdaq’s reporting units (Market Services and Issuer Services) and an impairment is deemed to exist if the
carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. For any business dispositions, goodwill is
allocated to,the business Hispos’ed of based on the ratio of the fair value of the business disposed of to the fair
value of the reporting unit.

Intangible Assets, net

Intangible assets, net which primarily include a technology software license and customer relationships are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated average useful life of 10 years. Upon the adoption of SFAS
142, intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are subject to annual
impairment tests. An impairment exists if the carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its
fair value. For intangible assets subject to amortization, an impairment is recognized if the carrying amount is not
recoverable and the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Nasdaq assesses potential impairments to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered.” An impairment loss is
recognized when the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The.
carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured
as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as.a
reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and a charge to operating results. -

Nasdagq recorded write-downs for property and equipment of $7.4 million related to long-lived assets
held-for-sale in the fourth quarter of 2004. This charge is included in general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 7, “Real Estate Developments,” for further discussion.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, Nasdaq recognized a $12.3 million impairment charge on the video wall
portion of the MarketSite Tower at its Times Square, New York location, based on a significant adverse change
in the extent and manner in which the Tower portion of the MarketSite was used. In earlier years, the Tower
portion of the MarketSite generated revenues from advertising. However, in the economic downturn that
followed September 11% and the fall in the technology sector, the revenues from the Tower began to decline
steeply and the Tower operated at a significant net loss. Nasdaq's new executive management team was put in
place in May 2003 and tried to find alternatives and other strategic uses for the video wall on the MarketSite
Tower. However, in the fourth quarter of 2003, it was determined that the Tower would never generate the
originally forecasted amounts as the modules that make up the sign are considered outdated and the Tower faces
competition from newer advertising technology. Nasdaq obtained a quoted market price valuation from an
independent third party and recognized the excéss of the carrying amount over the fair value as an impairment
charge. The impairment charge was included in the elimination of non-core product lines, initiatives and
severance in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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Revenue Recogmtlon and Cost of Revenues

Market Servrces revenues are denved from Nasdaq Market Center and Nasdaq Market Services’
Subscriptions revenues. Nasdaq Market Center revenues are variable, based on service Volumes, and recognized
as transactions occut. Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues are based on the number of presentation -
devices in service and quotes delivered through those devices. Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenues
are recognized in the month that information is provided. These revenues are recorded net of amounts due under.
" revenue sharing arrangements with market participants. Pursuant to EITF 99-19 execution revenues from
transactions executed through Brut are recorded on a gross basis in revenues and expenses such as liquidity. -
rebate payments are recorded in cost of revenues as Brut acts as principal. Nasdaq’s other execution revenues °
- will continue to be reported net of the liquidity rebate as Nasdaq does not act as principal,

Issuer Serv1ces revenues mclude Corporate Client Group revenues and Nasdaq Financial Products revenues.
‘ Corporate Client Group revenues.include annual fees, initial listing fees and listing of additional shares fees.
.Annual fees arerecogmzed ratably over the following 12-month period. Initial listing and listing of additional
shares fees are recognized on.a straight-line basis over estimated service periods, which are six and four years,
respectively, based on our historical listing experience. For Nasdaq Financial Products’ revenues, Nasdaq -
recerves license fees'for. its trademark licenses related to the QQQ and other financial produicts linked to Nasdaq
' indices 1ssued in the United States and abroad. These revenues are recognized as earned. :

Stock Compensatron ‘

* Nasdag accounts for stock option grants in accordance wrth APB 25 Nasdaq grants stock options with an
exercise price equal to the: farr market value of the’ stock at the date of the grant, and accordrngly, recogmzes no
‘compensanon expense related to such grants .

In the first quarter of 2003; Nasdaq adopted the drsclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 “Accountrng for
Stock-Based Compensatron—Transrtron and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148’). SFAS 148 amends the disclosure
requirements of SFAS 123. Pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value
method had been applred in. measurlng compensatron expense are prov1ded in Note 15, “Stock Compensatron and
Stock Awards ke L :

In December 2004 ‘the FASB 1ssued SFAS 123(R) which is a revision of SFAS 123 SFAS 123(R)
supersedes APB 25 and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” See Future Accounting Requirements
in Item 7 Management s Drscussmn and Analysrs of Financial Condrtlon and Results of Operatrons

' v,,‘ur
Deferred Revenue )

oy

Deferred revenue represents cash recerved and brlled recervables for the Corporate Client Group, Wthh are’
unearned until services are prov1ded See Note 6 “Deferred Revenue,” for further discussion. : :

Advemsmg Costs

Nasdaq expenses advertrsmg costs, whrch include media adver‘asmg and productron costs, in the penods in
which thie costs are incurred. Media advertrsmg and production costs included as marketing and advertising
expense in the Consolidated- Statements of Income totaled $6.3 million, $9.7 rmllron and $13: 4 ‘million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectrvely :
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Software Costs

Significant purchased application software and operational software that are an integral part of computer
hardware are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally two to
seven years. All other purchased software is charged to expense as incurred.

The provisions of SOP 98-1 require certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining
internal use software to be capitalized. Unamortized capitalized software development costs of $53.7 million and
$61.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are carried in data processing equipment and
software in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization of costs capitalized under SOP 98-1 totaled $18.9
million, $15.9 million and $13.4 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and are included in depreciation
and amortization expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Additions to capitalized software were
$11.1 million and $6.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

SFAS No. 34, “Capitalization of Interest Cost” (“SFAS 34”), requires the capitalization of interest as part of
the historical cost of acquiring assets, for all costs incurred to get the assets ready for their internal use. SOP 98-1
includes interest costs incurred while developing internal-use software as capitalizable costs under SFAS 34. As
the effect of capitalization of interest cost related to the development of internal-use software is not material
when compared with the effect of expensing these interest costs as incurred, all interest costs have been
expensed. Amounts expensed were also considered immaterial.

Income Taxes

Nasdaq and its eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and all applicable state
and local returns. Nasdaq uses the asset and liability method required by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes”, to provide income taxes on all ttanSactions recorded in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities (i.e., temporary differences) and are measured at the enacted
rates that will be in effect when these differences are realized. If necessary, a valuation allowance is established
to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in a local currency environment are translated to
U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are charged or credited to
other comprehensive (loss) income. ' ‘

3. Significant Transactions
2004 Cost Reductions

During 2004, in connection with taking certain actions to improve its operational efficiency, Nasdag
incurred expenses of approximately $62.6 million. The following table summarizes the cost reduction charges
included in the Consolidated Statements of Income:

Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Real estate consolidation .. . ....... ... i $29.0
Reductionsinforce ......... .. 94
Technology migration ............. ... ..o, 24.2

Total cost reduction Charges . ............oovvininureneannn.ns $62.6



b

© The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Notes_zito Consolidated'Financial Statements—(Continued)

Real Estate Consolzdatton

‘ Dunng 2004, Nasdaq 8 management re-evaluated all of Nasdaq’s owned and leased real estate and"
determined that Nasdaq could ¢onsolidate staff into fewer locations and save significant costs. In 2004, N. asdaq "
recorded real estate charges, primarily!for sublease loss reserves, of $29.0 million (net of a $1.9 miillion reversal
of a sublease reserve recorded in 2003) Wwhich is-included in general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of [ncome In 2003 Nasdag also recorded real estate charges of $3.5 rmlhon See Note ‘
7, “Real Estate Developments,” for further drscussmn

Gem ‘ﬂ'r, o

Reductionsin‘Force s B N T

Durmg the year ended December 31 2004 172 posmons were éliminated assocrated with staff reductron
plans and Nasdaq recorded a charge of $9.4 million for severance and outplacement cdsts, which is included in
compensation and benefits expense in the Consolidated Statements, of Income. Nasdaq paid approximately $4.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2004 for, these severance and outplacement costs from the 2004 staff

" reduction plans: Nasdaq expects to pay the remainder of the‘severance and outplacement costs by the end of the. |
© first quarter of 2006, Total headcount decreased from 956 employees at December 31, 2003 to 786 employees at
December 31, 2004 SRS i P SRR . ‘ :

Technology Mi zgratzon )

As a result of a contmued review of its technology 1nfrastructure Nasdagq shortened the estimated useful hfe '
of certam assets and changed the. lease terms on certam operatrng leases associated with its quoting platform and
its trading and quotrng network as 1t mlgrates to lower cost operatrng environments which resulted in incremental
depreciation and. amomzatron expense The mcremental depreciation and amortization expense associated W1th

' these assets and operatmg leases’ was $l8 7 mrlhon for the year ended December 31, 2004

- In N ovember 2004 Nasdaq pprchased a technology platform held-for-sale and owned by Easdaq, for €l 9
rrulhon ($2.4 million). Addrtronally, in order to make use of the purchased technology platform, Nasdaq
purchased a license for the use of certain software for $0.5 million. Nasdaq has a multi- -year initiative to migrate
the Nasdaq Market Center apphcatrons to lower cost operatrng environments and processes. The purchased
platform will provrde a'baseline of functronahty for the Nasdaq Market Center. The mrgratron will reduce
Nasdaq’s overall costs. Asa result of the mrgratlon 1n1t1at1ve Nasdaq shortened the estimated useful 1ifé of its
current apphcatlon platform Begmnmg in the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq recorded 'incremental amortization
expense of $2.9 million. Nasdaq expects to record an addmonal $19.8 million of incremental amortization

- expense through March 2007.

In October 2004, Nasdaq entered into an agreement for technology equipment and also renegotiated related
operating leases with a maJor vendor. Nasdaq sold equipment with a net book value of $13.6 million and entered
" into a three year lease agreement whrch included new upgraded equipment. Nasdaq received $ll 0-million.in
cash from the vendor and recognized a $2.6 mrlhon loss on this transaction, which is 1ncluded in general and
administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Nasdaq paid $1.6 million in 2004 and will pay
$8.2 million,’ $0.4. niillion and $0.4 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, under the terms of the lease
* agreement. Nasdag dlso upgraded related leased equipment and entered into a new three year operating lease and
extended the terms of license and maintenance agreements. Under the terms of the operating lease and license
and maintenance agreements, Nasdaq paid $11.2 million in 2004 and will pay $15.3 million, $9.0 million and
_ $2.9 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
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Acquisition of Brut

On September 7, 2004, Nasdaq announced the completion of its acquisition of Brut, the owner of the Brut
ECN and affiliated entities, from SunGard for a total consideration of $190.0 million in cash, subject to certain
post-closing adjustments. See Note 1, “Organization and Nature of Operations” for further discussion of the
entities acquired. Nasdaq financed the purchase from available cash and investments. As a result of this
acquisition, Nasdaq expects that its customers will benefit from enhanced execution quality, additional quote
information and a deeper poo! of liquidity in Nasdag-listed securities and securities listed on other exchanges.
Nasdaq’s customers also benefit from the ability to access liquidity from multiple destinations outside the
Nasdaq Market Center through the use of Brut’s sophisticated order routing technology. See Note 4, “Acquisition
of Brut,” for further discussion.

In connection with the transaction, Brut and SunGard entered into a hosting and multi-year processing
agreement for SunGard to provide real-time securities clearance and settlement system for certain Nasdaq trades.
Brut also contracted with SunGard to host certain software on designated equipment at a SunGard facility for a
transitional period. See Note 19, “Commitments and Contingencies,” for further discussion.

Preferred Stock

In March 2002, Nasdaq issued 1,338,402 shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of
Series B Preferred Stock. NASD owned all of the outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and
Series B Preferred Stock. The Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock carried a 7.6% dividend rate for the year
commencing March 2003 and carried a 10.6% dividend rate in all subsequent years. The Series B Preferred Stock
does not pay dividends. On September 30, 2004, NASD waived a portion of the dividend for the third quarter of
2004 of $2.5 million and accepted an aggregate amount of $1.0 million (calculated based on an annual rate of
3.0%) as payment in full of the dividend for this period. On November 29, 2004, Nasdaq entered into an
exchange agreement with NASD pursuant to which NASD exchanged 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq’s Series A
Cumulative Preferred Stock, representing all the outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, for
1,338,402 shares of newly issued Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. The Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock .
accrues quarterly dividends at an annual rate of 3.0% for all periods until July 1, 2006 and at an annual rate of
10.6% for periods thereafter. NASD also may be entitled to an additional payment in certain circumstances
which may not-exceed approximately $16.3 million in aggregate depending on the amount of time the Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock is outstanding and the market price of Nasdag’s common stock at the time Nasdaq
redeems the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. See Note 21, “Capital Stock,” for further discussion.

Nasdagq recognized a loss of $3.9 million on the exchange of the preferred securities in retained earnings in
the fourth quarter of 2004. This loss was due to the difference between the combined fair market value of the
Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock and additional dividend ($137.7 million) versus the redemption value
($133.8 million). The value of the additional payment is reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at its
estimated fair market value of $8.5 million. Changes in this account balance are reflected in income in the period
of change. The principal amount of the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock will accrete through retained
earnings from its estimated current fair market value of $129.2 million on November 29, 2004 to its redemption
value of $133.8 million over the five consecutive quarters beginning with the fourth quarter of 2004.

Strategic Review

During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq announced the results of a strategic review of its operations
designed to position Nasdaq for improved profitability and growth. This strategic review included the elimination
of non-core product lines and initiatives and resulted in a reduction in Nasdaq’s workforce. For the year ended -
December 31, 2003, a total pre-tax charge to earnings of $145.5 million was recorded. The net impact to Nasdag
was a total pre-tax charge of $143.5 million. The difference represented costs absorbed by minority shareholders
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of Nasdaq Europe The charge recorded reflects the completlon of the costs associated with Nasdaq’s strategic .
review. As shown in the following table, the total charge of $145.5 million mcludes $97.9 million from
~continuing operatiorns and $47.6 million from d1scont1nued operations related to Nasdaq Europe and
Ind1goMarkets See Noté 5, “stcontmued Operat1ons ' for further drscuss1on The charge was primarily '
recorded to property and equipment, goodwrll 1ntang1ble assets net, other accrued hab1ht1es and accrued
personnel costs iny the Consohdated Balance Sheets.

The followmg table summarlzes the strategic review charges included in thc Consohdated Statements of
‘Income: - : v .

Year Ended
December 31, 2003

»l(in millions)

Contmunng @peratrons

" Non- Core Product Lines and Initiatives:
Imparrment of capltahzed software and fixed assets e %211
TImpairment of 'goodwill and intangible assets . . ...\ . ...l 82 -
Contract cancellations ............... P P : ‘11.4
Otherexitcosts....i...................‘.‘...‘ ................ 116
Total rion-core product l1nes and initiatives . ...... ... ...l P . 523
. Severance and beriefit COSts . . ... S A [, o324
_ . Loss.on early extmgu1shment of debt R e - 13.2.
L Total contmumg operat10ns strateg1c review charge B e $979
" Discortinuéd Operations o
Nasdaq Europe ' S _

‘ Imparrment of technology platform e e $ 294
Severance and benefitcosts ... ... = il r Ll TS
Impa1rmentofgoodw1ll....;‘.-.'...."..." ..... R 8 |
Other. ex1t costs 1nclud1ng contract cancellat1ons e eeedo. 82

Total Nasdaq Europe e . R R E R T _— ] 482
-Gain on drsposmon of IndrgoMarkets G e .. (0.6)
Total discontinued operations strategic review charge U : $ 476

Total strategic‘review_charge e PR .$145.5

Contmumg Operatnons

Non:cote product hnes and 1mt1at1ves mcluded 1n the strategrc revrew were:

"o Przmex—anex was an electromc auction: system Nasdaq ended its exclus1ve rights agreement with
Primex Tradmg N. A L.L.C. on December 31, 2003: Nasdaq decided to consolidate our trading services
to a common. functronahty w1thln the SuperMontage system and ceased offerlng Primex effective
January 16 2004. '

o Nasdaq Tools——Nasdaq Tools was an order management sy stem that ran on the Nasdaq Application
Programming | Interface usirig the Nasdaq Workstation II and was wound-down throughout 2003.
Nasdaq Tools was a prev1ously wholly - owned subsrd1ary of Nasdaq and was merged with and into

. Nasdagq « on July: 31, 2002 o ‘

o NQLX—~NQLX was a ]omt venture with LIFFE to create a market for single stock futures and other

, futures products On; Iuly 24,2003, Nasdaq redeemed its interest in the NQLX JOlI’lt venture-and
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transferred its ownership interest to LIFFE. LIFFE assumed financial and maneigement responsibility for
- NQLX. This change did not have any impact on the operation of NQLX, but usage of the Nasdag brand
by the company ceased. ' '

* BBX—BBX was a proposed platform for companies not eligible for The Nasdag SmallCap Market to
raise equity capital and increase the visibility of their stock. OTC Bulletin Board continues its existing
operations. :

« Liquidity Tracker—Liquidity Tracker was an automated order routing system designed to allow traders
to direct orders to specific market makers based on recent trading activity. Liquidity Tracker ceased
operations as of June 30, 2003.

»  MarketSite Tower—MarketSite Tower is located at Nasdaq’s Times Square, New York location. The
video wall portion of the Tower was deemed impaired.

The charge related to the elimination of the above non-core products and initiatives was approximately
$52.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Included in the charge was the reduction of Nasdaq’s
investment in NQLX of $6.3 million due to the redemption of Nasdaq’s interest in the NQLX joint venture, the
impairment of goodwill of $4.1 million associated with Nasdag Tools, the impairment of certain intangible assets
of $4.1 million, impairment of various capitalized software and fixed assets of $21.1 million, contract
cancellations of $11.4 million and other costs of $5.3 million. Included in the $21.1 million impairment of
various capitalized software and fixed assets is a $12.3 million impairment on the MarketSite Tower. See
“Valuation of Long-Lived Assets,” of Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” for further
discussion. The remaining impairment of capitalized software and fixed assets relates to the eliminated products
specifically Nasdaq Tools, Primex, BBX and Liquidity Tracker.

In addition, the charges from continuing operations recorded included severance costs of $32.4 million and
the loss on early extinguishment of long-term debt of $13.2 million. The severance costs included $13.8 million
related to the reductions in force of 329 employees. The remaining $18.6 mitlion of severance costs relate to the
fulfillment of employment contracts and obligations associated with the réfiteraent and departure of certain
members of senior management. Total headcount was 956 as of December 21, 2003 versus 1,227 (excluding
48 employees in discontinued operations) as of December 31, 2002. The e-tingr.ishment of debt costs relate to
the redemption of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Nasz.z7's 5.335% senior notes due 2007, In
conjunction with its strategic review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital nee: drrerrained that it no longer needed
the liquidity of the senior notes. See Long-term debt section below for ! iiher discussion.

E)
ot

The following table summarizes the strategic review accrual activity troi: December 31, 2003 through
December 31, 2004. These accruals are recorded in other accrued liabilities and accrued personnel costs in the
Current liabilities section and in other liabilities in the Non-current liabilities section of the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Nasdaq funded the majority of these reserves, except for a $4.6 million contract payment that is due
January 2006 and other contractual sublease obligations that will continue through 2010.

Severance for Products &
U.S. Employees Other Total

{in millions)

Accrued liabilities associated with the strategic review as of

December 31,2003 ... ... ... . ... . ... $16.4 $10.7 $271
Cashpayments ..., 9.2) (9.6) (18.8)
0.2) 2.0

Other ... e (1.8)

Accrued liabilities associated with the strategic review as of
December 31,2004 . ... ... .. ... o i o

©
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Discontinued Operatnons
Drscontrnued operatrons included in the strateglc review were:

> Nasdaq. Europe—Nasdaq Europe-was a pan-European stock market licensed in Belg1um See below for
complete discussion of the wind- down and eventual transfer of shares of Nasdaq Europe.

° IndzgoMarkets—IndrgoMarkets was a joint venture with SSI Limited to develop international trading
platforms. On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in the joint venture to SSI Limited
and recogmzed a gain on the sale of approximately $0.6 million.

Europe - , : :
As a result of thé strategic review, Nasdaq supported 'the closing of the market operated by Nasdaq Europe,
in which:Nasdaqg .owned a 63.0%. 1nterest through December 18, 2003. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held
- onJune 26, 2003, the shareholders of Nasdaq Europe voted to discontinue operations of the market and, as a
- result, market operatrons were wound down pursuant toa Transrtron Plan approved by the Belgian Bankmg and
Frnance Comnnss1on L

As Nasdaq Europe was wmdmg down 1ts market operatrons Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfer all of
Nasdaq’s shares in Nasdaq Europe to one of that company’s original mvestors the cash consideration for the
transaction was nominal. The transfer of Nasdaq’s shares of Nasdaq Europe was completed on December 18,
2003. The entity ceased using the Nasdaq Europe name after the transaction and is now known as Easdaq As
part of the transaction, Nasdaq Europe s new owner committed to seek to restructure that company’s obligations
. and, in that context, to-request from certain major creditors releases of any claims they might have against
Nasdaq Europe’s former-directors, officers and shareholders (if such claims are related to Nasdaq’s prior
'ownershrp interest-in Nasdaq Europe) o :

0

At the time of the transfer N asdaq Europe had $15 1 nnlhon of external debt, accrued mterest and other -
: potentral cla1ms agamst Nasdaq Nasdaq and Easdaq entered into an agreement dated as of October 27, 2004
- providing in relevant part that Easdaq was to reach agreements with certain of its creditors to settle these
creditors’ existing claims agamst Easdaq. On November 9, 2004, Nasdaq was provided evidence that these
claims (related to'Nasdaq’s prior owriership interest in Nasdaq Europe) of certain Easdaq’s creditors were
satisfied or otherwise settled wrthout any liability for Nasdaq. Nasdaq was the third party beneficiary of these
creditor agreements and in'the fourth. quarter of 2004 released.the $15.1 million reserve it maintained in -
connection with such claims and liabilities. The release of the reserve was recorded as income from drsconunued
. operatrons on the Consohdated Statements of Income :

* Also, as part of Nasdaq s strateglc review, dunng the third quarter of 2003, Nasdaq supported Nasdaq
Europe’s position-in favor of the decision of the shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland, a German exchange in-
which Nasdaq Europe had a 50.0% intérest, to suspend that company’s trading operations effective August 29,
2003. Nasdaq Europe transferred all of its shares in Nasdaq Deutschland to one of the other shareholders, BWB
Holding AG, as of August 29, 2003. All shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschland agreed to release and discharge
each other from certain claims that they may have had against each other in connection with certain agreements
related to the operations and c‘ontrol of Nasdaq Deutschiand.

_ The charge related to the orderly w1nd down and hqurdatron of market operations in Be1g1um and Germany
“was approximately $48.2 million (excludmg the minority interest benefit of $2.0 million) for the year ended

December 31, 2003 The $48 2 rmlhon charge 1ncludes the $29.4 million impairment of certain technology
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platforms held-for-sale and owned by Nasdaq Europe, the impairment of goodwill of $8.1 million (Nasdaq
Europe and Nasdaq Deutschland), severance costs of $2.5 million and other costs of $8.2 million including
contract cancellations. During the third quarter of 2003, the losses incurred by Nasdaq Europe exceeded the
minority shareholders’ interests. Therefore, once the minority shareholders reached this point, Nasdaq absorbed
100.0% of Nasdaq Europe’s losses and strategic review charges.

Long-ierm Debt

On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed $150.0 million of its senior notes. In conjunction with its
strategic review, Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and determined that it no longer needed the liquidity of the
senior notes. Nasdaq paid the holders of the senior notes $150.0 million in outstanding principal amount, accrued
interest of $1.2 million and an aggregate make-whole payment of approximately $12.6 million (representing the
net present value of future payments). The repayment amounts reflected the terms of the senior notes, except that
the parties agreed to a reduced make-whole amount equal to the excess of the discounted value of the remaining
scheduled payments discounted at a factor equal to 100 basis points over the yield to maturity of U.S. Treasury
securities having a maturity equal to the remaining average life of the redeemed amount. This represented a
renegotiation of the 50 basis points over the yield to maturity required by the terms of the senior notes. Nasdaq
recorded a $13.2 million pre-tax charge in the third quarter of 2003 related to the redemption of the senior notes.
This charge included the make-whole payment and capitalized costs related to the issuance of the senior notes.
Nasdagq used funds from available cash and investments to finance the redemption.

Nasdaq Member Revenue Sharing

Effective June 1, 2002, Nasdaq términated its market data revenue sharing program for securities listed on
The Nasdaq Stock Market, as a result of the SEC’s decision to abrogate certain market participant tape sharing
pilot programs. The SEC’s action was in response to concerns about the effect of market data rebates on the
accuracy of market data and the regulatory. functions of self-regulatory organizations. The SEC’s action allows -
Nasdaq and competing exchanges to retain tape revenue. However, Nasdag continues to share market data
revenue with the exchanges that participate in the UTP Plan based on their respective share of volume and trades
of securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. In addition, Nasdag continues to share tape revenue with
Nasdaq market participants who report trades in the NYSE and the Amex-listed securities through Nasdag.

In August 2003, Nasdaq implemented the Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Program, which like the
General Revenue Sharing Program of The National Stock Exchange, a regional stock exchange, shares operating
revenue from multiple business lines in addition to tape fee revenue. The new discretionary program shares
operating revenue, which is'interpreted to mean net révénue after expernises from all services that derive revenue
from member trading and trade-reporting activity in Nasdaqg-listed securities. As such, the program is designed to
provide an incentive for quoting market participants to send orders and report trades to the Nasdaq Market
Center. Nasdaq did not share any revenues during 2003 under the General Revenue Sharing Program. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, Nasdaq shared approximately $20.1 million under this new program which is
shown net within Market Services revenues. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” Market Services, for further discussion.

Nasdag Japan

During the second quarter of 2002, Nasdaq recognized an other-than-temporary impairment charge on its
equity investment in Nasdaq Japan. Nasdaq recognized this impairment as a result of the depressed level of
market activity in Japan, combined with the suspension of Nasdaq Japan’s hybrid trading system due to the
inability to gain exchange approval of market rules and industry participation. These conditions led management
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to conclude that Nasdaq J a‘pan would not be profitable in the foreseeable future. As a result, Nasdaq Japan’s
financial liabilities to Nasdaq were not expected to be repaid and were recognized as a loss. Nasdaq Japan
entered mto hqurdatron status in'late November 2002 and-was completely dissolved by the end.of May 2003.

The net rmpact of the other—than temporary unparrrnent on Nasdaq s pre -tax income was $15 2 mrlhon This.
represented a complete write-down of the investment, outstanding and unfunded loans (an additional $6.0 million
was loaned and $7.0 million was committed), foreign exchange translation losses and other receivables, partially
offset by a re-Valuation,of certain variable Nasdaq Japan stock based awards of approximately $7.9 million.

During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq reversed $5.0 million of the reserves.related to Nasdaq Japan
due to favorable contract negotlatrons and lower legal costs resulting from the complete hqurdatron of Nasdaq
J apan s , :

Other Restructurmg and Related Party Transactlons !
In conjunction: with setthng various issues associated w1th the Restructurrng, NASD made a payment to
Nasdaq in-the amount of $5.6 million during the first quarter of 2002, Nasdagq treated the payment asa -
' contnbutlon and reﬂected itin additional paid-in capital in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, during
* December 2002, Nasdaq, purchased NASD’s 50.0% interest in NASD.Insurance Agency, LLC (subsequently
. renamed the Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC (“Nasdaq Insurance Agency”) or (“NIA™)) for $0. S million. The
payment was recorded as a distribution to NASD. The agency provides insurance brokerage services and
. specializes in the director and officer habrhty insurance market. Nasdaq accounts for its investment in the
‘ Nasdaq Insurance Agency under the equity method of accounting as of December 31, 2004. Nasdaq believes that
the Nasdaq Insurance Agency was a:Variable Interest Entity under FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 517 (“FIN 46”) and its
amendment entitled- FASB Interpretatron No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46(R)”) However Nasdaq does not believe that it is the primary beneﬁcrary of the NIA and
. therefore drd not consohdate the NIA in its results of operatlons .

| . On January 1 2005 Nasdaq purchased the remaining 50.0% interest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency from
AIG NIV, Inc. for nominal, c0n51derat10n See'Note 23, “Subsequent Events;” for further discussion.

QQQ Lzsts on Nasdaq :

‘ ‘On December 1; 2004 the Nasdaq-lOO Index Trackmg Stock (“QQQ”) transferred its hstmg to N asdaq from
Amex. Nasdag and:Amex reached a mutual decision to transfer the QQQ earlier than the contractual date of June
2003. It trades under the symbol “QQQQ ?

4. Acquisition of Brut

As pre\riously discussed‘ on 'S’eptember'7 2004 (See “Acquisition of Brut, ” of Note 3, “Significant

» ‘Transactions”), Nasdaq announced the completion of its acquisition of Brut and related entities, including Toll,

from SunGard for a total consideration of $190.0 million in cash, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. In
addition, Nasdaq incurred direct costs of $3.1 million associated with the acquisition. Nasdaq accounted for the

“acquisition under the purchase method of accounting. Brut and related affiliates are included within the Market
Servrces segment. - »

o Nasdaq had not. tirnalized .the allocation of the purchase price as of December 31, 2004. Nasdaq expects .
* future ad}ustments related to taxes and settlement of post- closrng adjustments. An estimation of the purchase
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price allocation as of September 7, 2004 was prepared and included as part of these financial statements. The
initial purchase price was allocated as follows: '

(in thousands)
Net assets acquired:

Accounts receivable, net ....... ... . i o $ 19,240
Deferred tax asset. . . ... e T 486
Other current assets ........ F P 182

- Property and equipment, net .......... e 3,433
Intangible assets . .......... P P A 5

. Other assets ... .. PP e e P 20
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . .............. U L (14,248)
Accrued personnel costs ......... ... .. e (2,198)
Non-current deferred tax liability .......................o oL, (523)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss. .......... e (127)
TOAl NEL ASSELS . . o .« v et e e et et e ettt e e e $ 6,270
Goodwill ... . e 141,730
Intangible assets .. ............ i P 42,000
Estimated purchase price . ........... e e e $190,000

During the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq adjusted the initial allocation of the purchase price. Goodwill
decreased from $141.7 million to $141.4 million primarily due to a decrease in Nasdag’s estimate of severance
liability for Brut employees. Nasdaq does not expect future adjustments to the purchase price to be significant.
Nasdagq expects to deduct $2.7 million of goodwill for income tax purposes for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The following table presents details of the identiﬁable intangible assets acquired in the Brut acquisition:

Estimated Average

" Amount Useful Life
) (in thousands) (in years)
Identifiable intangible assets: .
Technology ........ ... i, P : $15,700 10.0
" Customer relationships ......... P P 26,300 10.0
CTotal L R oo $42,000

Both the goodwill and intangible assets related to the acquisition of Brut are included on the books and
records of Brut and in the Market Services segment.

The unaudited pro forma combined historical results for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, as if
Nasdagq had acquired Toll and related entities at the beginning of fiscal 2003, are estimated to be:
. Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2003

(in thousands, except per
share amounts)

Revenues ...........veeniennnnnnnn, e .$663,666 $706,212
Gross margin .......... P PR P 496,955 606,875
Net income (loss) from continuing operations ................... e " 881 (48,099)
Basic and diluted loss pershare .......... ... .. ... . . $ (16) 3§ (0.72)
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The pro forma results include amortization of the intangibles presented -above and the elimination of
intercompany transactions had Nasdaq and Toll acted as a combined company. The pro forma results are not

necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred if the acquisition had been completed as of the
begmmng of 2003, nor are they necessanly 1nd1cat1ve of future consolidated results.

The mtegratlon of Brut’s serv’rces into Nasdaq is designed to be seamless to both Nasdaq and Brut
customers. Brut continues to operate under the Brut name as a broker-dealer; however, it operates as part of The

" . Nasdaq Stock Market Brut is subject to the SEC’s Uniform Net Capital Rule (the “Rule”), which requires the

.maintenance of minimum net capital. Brut has elected to use the basic method permitted by the Rule to determine
its net capital, which requires Brut maintain minimum net capital equal to the greater of $100,000 or 673% of
aggregate indebtedness, as definéd. The rule also requires that aggregate indebtedness not exceed 15 times net

" capital: At December 31, 2004, Brut had net cap1tal of $8 1 million, which was $6 4 nnlhon in excess of its

required net cap1tal of $l 7 rmllron o

: Brut results are included for the penod September 7, 2004 through December 31, 2004 in the Consohdated
Statements of Income. . _

. 5. Discontintied Operatrons

On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global sold its interest in IndigoMarkets to its partner, SSI Limited, and

- recognized a gain of approx1mately $0.6 miillion on the sale. In addition, on December 18, 2003, Nasdaq
transferred its interest in Nasdaq Europe to one of that company s original investors for nominal cash -
consrderatron In the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdag recogmzed a gain on the release of a reservefor potential
claims against Nasdaq that: management established at the tiriie of the transfer of Nasdaq’s.shares of Nasdaq

, Europe In the fourth quarter of 2004, Easdaq reached agreements with certain of'its creditors to settle these’
creditors’ exrstmg clarms agamst Easdaq Nasdaq was the third party beneficiary of these creditor agreements

. and released the $15.1 mrlhon réserve management established. See “Strategic Review,” of Note 3, “Significant
Transactions,” for further drscussron :

~ In accordance wrth SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Imparrment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets”

(“SFAS 144"), both Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarkets are reflected as discontinued operations for all years

" presented. As discontinued operatrons the révenues, costs and expenses and cash flows of Nasdaq Europe and

 IndigoMarkets have been excluded from the: Tespective captions in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Consolidated <itatements of Cash Flows, and have been presented separately as “Income (loss) from discontinued

~operations, net of tax” and as “Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations.” There were no assets and
liabilities of Nasdaq Europe and IndrgoMarkets at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

| The following table presents condensed comblned results of operauons for Nasdaq Europe and
IndrgoMarkets ;

Year Ended December 31,

E ST . : 2004 2003 2002
s o S TR : ' o .-+ (in thousands)
CREVENUES .. b . $ —  $10632 $11,616
Pre- taxmcome(loss)....‘,,.'.“.‘.‘... ..... 15,154 (63,998)  (21,765)
(Provision) beneﬁt for income taxes ..:.......... el S (5,596) 3,663 T (128)

‘Income’ (loss) from discontinued operations . . . R ... $9558  $(60,335) $(21,893)

+
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. The remainder of the notes to the consolidated financial statements reflects results from continuing
operations, unless otherwise noted. .

6. Deferred Revenue s

Nasdaq s deferred revenue as of December 31, 2004 relating to Corporate Chent Group fees will be
recognized in the following years: -

Initial Listing of

Listing  Additional  Annual
Fees Shares and Other Total

(in thousands)

Fiscal year ended: .

2005 .l SRR S PR $27,306 $32,231  $—  § 59,537
2000 . SR e 17,101 21,873  — 38,974
2007 .\ .ot ... 12075 15,603 — 27,678
2008 ... e P 9,407 5351 — 14,758
2009 and thereafter ................ e 8411 — — 8,411

$74,300 $75,058 $— $149,358

Nasdaq’s deferred revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 1s reflected in the followmg
tables. The additions reflect .Corporate Client Group revenues charged during the year while the amortization
reflects Corporate Client Group revenues recognized during the year in accordance with GAAP.

Initial Listing of
Listing Additional Annual

Fees Shares and Other =~ Total
N . : (in thousands)
Balance at January 1,2004 .......... B e $78485 $65957 $ — $ 144,442
Additions .............. ... ... e e 26,905 45846 97,446 170,197
AmOrtization ©...............iiiiiiiiiee i (31,090)  (36,745)  (97,446)  (165,281)
Balance at December 31,2004 ..., P $ 74300 $75058 $§ — §149,358

Initial Listing of
Listing Additional  Annual

"Fees Shares ° and Other Total
S ~ (in thousands)

. Balance at January 1,2003 ................. e $93,857 $72841 $ — $ 166,698
AddIHONS ... e 16,886 30,206 97,964 145,056
AMOTHZALON . o\ ottt ettt et (32,258) (37,090) (97,964) (167,312)
Balance at December 31,2003 ......... ... ... ... . $78,485 $65957 § — $144442

7. Real Estate Developments
New York -

In 2001, Nasdaq recorded a sublease loss reserve of $21.5 million in anticipation of relocating its
headquarters location from One Liberty Plaza to 1500 Broadway. Nasdaq signed a lease commencing May 1,
2002 at 1500 Broadway. Later in 2002, Nasdaq’s management reconsidered its decision to relocate to 1500
Broadway and decided to maintain its headquarters at One Liberty Plaza. Nasdaq maintained the initial reserve
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' recorded in 2001 (mcludmg 1nterest accretlon) for the sublease loss at 1500 Broadway. At December 31, 2003,

. the estimated loss on ‘the sublease was approximately $20.5 million. In 2004, Nasdaq signed subleases for all of
its space at 1500 Broadway At December 31, 2004, Nasdaq updated the sublease loss estimate based on current
assumptions and known sublease incomes and recorded an additional loss of $1.2 million to general and
administrative expense in the’ Consohdated Statements of Income. The additional loss was primarily due to a
change in the assumption of sublease term commencement dates. At December 31, 2004, the estimated sublease

- loss reserve was approx1mately $18.0- rmlhon The estimated reserve was adjusted throughout the year to reflect
interest accretion, rental’ payments made during 2004 and depreciation on leasehold improvements. The
estimated loss was calculated using a 7 5% net discount rate and estrmated 21-year sublease terms commencing

-in. 2004 and 2005 at estrmated market rates. :

. -

In 2001, Nasdaq also s1gned a lease for expansion space on one of the floors it occupied at One Liberty
Plaza, which was to.commence on October 1; 2004. Nasdaq’s management does not intend to occupy this space
and began marketing the expansron space for sublease during the third quarter of 2004. Nasdaq is obligated under
the'terms of the expans1on space lease to pay $33.9 million over the remaining life of the lease and recorded a
sublease loss reserve. of $12.8 rmlhon which is included in general and administrative expense in the
‘Consolidated Statements of, Income Th addrtlon in the fourth guarter of 2004, Nasdaq’s manageiment decided
that it'no longer needed ttie- space: it currently occupied on the expansion floor and recorded an additional

_estirnated subledse loss reserve of $4.8 inillion for the remaining space. This charge is also included in general
and administrative expense in the, Consohdated Statements of Income. Nasdaq is obligated under the terms of
this lease to pay $12. 6 nnlhon over ‘the | remammg useful 11fe of the lease. Both estlmated losses for One Liberty
Plaza were calculated usmg a7, 5% net drscount rate and estrmated 17 year sublease term commencmg in

J anuary 2006 at est1mated market rates . : o

¥

‘ R Sl

New]ersey S

oautf»

. -Asapartof Nasdaq s strateglc rev1ew Nasdaq vacated the space Nasdaq Tools occupled at 15 Exchange
fPlace, Jersey Clty, New J ersey As of December 31, 2003 Nasdaq was obligated under the terms of this lease to
pay $2.8 million over the remainirig 11fe of the lease and recorded a sublease loss reserve of $1.2 million, which
‘was included in the ehmmatlon of non- core product lines, initiatives and severance in the Consolidated
Statements of Income At December 31 2004, Nasdaq updated the sublease loss reserve based on current
assumptions and recorded an addmonal loss of $0.2 million to general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of- Ing:ome The- estimated loss was calculated using a 7.5% net discount rate and
estimated 6-year sublease term commencing in the beginning of 2005 at estimated market rates. Nasdaq is
curtently actively. marketmg the space aiid Has signed a sublease agreement for approximately 50.0% of the
space. At December 31, 2004, the sublease loss reserve was approximately $0.8 million. The estimated loss was
ad_]usted throughout the year to reﬂect mterest accretion and rental payments made durmg the 2004.

f.-

M aryland

During 2003 Nasdaq demded to vacate part of the space it occupres in Rockville, Maryland located at 9600
Blackwell and recorded a sublease loss reserve of $2.3 million, which was included in general and administrative
expense in the Consohdated Statements of Income. Nasdaq’s management re-evaluated its decision to vacate the
‘'space at 9600 Blackwell and decided instead to sell the building it owns and occupies in Rockville, Maryland -
located at 9513 Key West Avenue. Based on Nasdaq s management s revised decision, Nasdaq released the
sublease loss reserve recorded for 9600 Blackwell which totaled $1.9 million, net of rental payments, in
September 30, 2004 Wthh 1s recorded in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Income.
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Nasdaq began actively marketing the 9513 Key West building for sale in the fourth quarter of 2004 and
expects the building to be sold within a year. During the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq recognized a $7.4
" million loss, which is included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income,
on the write-down of the building’s carrying amount to fair market value less cost to sell. Fair value was
determined using a quoted market price from an independent third party.

Connecticut

In 2004, Nasdaq also evaluated its real estate needs in Trambull, Connecticut. Nasdaq currently owns and
occupies a building located at 80 Merritt Boulevard and leases and occupies another building located at 35 Nutmeg
Drive. Nasdaq’s management determined that based on staff reductions, all employees in Trumbull will consolidate
into Nasdaq’s building at 80 Merritt Boulevard. Although Nasdaq’s lease at 35 Nutmeg Drive terminates in July
2008, Nasdagq plans on moving all employees from 35 Nutmeg Drive to 80 Merritt Boulevard by the end of 2005.
As a result, Nasdaq expects to record a charge of approximately $2.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 when it
completely vacates 35 Nutmeg Drive for its remaining lease obligation. In order to accommodate all employees in
the Merritt building, two data center spaces will be converted into office space. The data centers will cease being
used by the end of the first quarter of 2005, and accordingly, Nasdag began accelerating the data centers’ fixed
assets and leasehold improvements over the new estimated useful life. Nasdaq recorded $4.5 million of accelerated
depreciation for the data center assets for the year ended December 31, 2004 and will record an additional $2.2
million in the first quarter of 2005.

8. Investments

Investments consist of U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. Government sponsored enterprises,
municipal bonds, auction rate securities and other financial instruments. Following is a summary of investments

- classified as available-for-sale that are carried at fair value as of December 31, 2004:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

. (in thousands)
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. Government

BZENCIES .« .« vttt et e $ 57,900 $— $ 693 $ 57,207
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ............... 53,248 86 897 52,437
Auction rate SECUTItIES . .. ..t vttt e e e 46,125 —_ — 46,125
U.S. corporate SECUITties . i ... ..o ene e 19,234 — 90 19,144

Total ................ e $176,507 $ 86 $1,680 $174,913

At December 31, 2004, all held-to-maturity investments consisted of U.S. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Government agencies. The cost of the securities was $30.6 million and had gross unrealized
losses of $0.4 million and a total estimated fair value of $30.2 million at December 31, 2004. Of the $0.4 million
of gross unrealized losses 98.9% have been in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and are deemed
to be temporary. '
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Following is a- summary of’ rnvestments classrﬁed as, avarlable for sale which are carried at fair value as s of

. December 31, 2003

Gross ~ .' Gross

' : Unrealized ~ Unredlized  Estimated
~ Cost - Gains - . . Losses Fair Value

t L - (in thousands)
U.S. Treasury secuntles and obhgatlons of U S. Government.

TAgENCIeS ... ... e [ $112,700 $169 $254 $112,615

. 'Obligations of states and pohtlcal subdivisions ............... 13,966 125 9 14,082
Asset-backed securities e e e e el 10,708 62 — 10,770
U. S corporate secuntles S I e i 48,229 62 .4 48,237

Total ... .. e e e ' $185603  $418 $317  $185,704

At December 31, 2003, all held- to‘ maturity 1nvestments'cohs1sted of USS. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. Governrnent agencres The cost of the securities was $28.3 million and had gross unrealized
- gains of $54 thousand and a total estrmated fair value of $28 3 million at December 31, 2003.

The following table shows the farr value of our available- for-sale investments in an unreahzed loss position
deemed to be temporary for less than 12 mionths at Decemnber 31, 2004 and 2003:

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)
" U.S. Treasury securities and obhganons of U S Govemment o

CAGENCIES ...ty L. $57207 8 693 $31,805  $254
Obligations of states. and pohtrcal subdivisions ................ 50,647 . 897 6,013 9
; U S. corporate secur1t1es X R R PP 14,970 69 23,087 - 54

‘Totl . .. .. ................. L. $122824  $1,659  $60,905  $317

"At December 31 2004 the amount of investments in an unrealized loss position deemed to be temporary for
more than 12 months'was immaterial. At December 31, 2003, Nasdaq did not have any 1nvestments in an
N unreahzed loss posmon deemed to be temporary for more than 12 months.

B The cost:and estrmated fair value of debt securities clas51f1ed as available- for sale that are carried at fau' ‘
value at December 31, 2004 by contractual matunty, are shown below

- J o e o . ‘ .. Gross
e Y T "‘?H' S R . oo . Unrealized S
LT e o ‘ n Cost - Gain  Loss _ Fair Value
R . R - : . ) . (mthousands)
‘Due in one year orless ............. e ol 988384 $S— $ 576 $ 87,808
Due after one through fiveyears ...l e 88,123 8 1,104 87,105

Total ............... ... $176507 $ 86 S1680 $174,913

. All investments classrﬁed as held to ~maturity mature in.2005 and 2006 in the amounts of $28.6 mﬂhon and
$2. O million, respectlvely -
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During the year ended December 31, 2004 debt available-for-sale securities with a fair market value at the
date of sale of $173.2 million were sold. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, debt and equity
available-for-sale securities with a fair market value at the date of sale of $86.5 million and $209.8 million,
respectively, were sold. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the gross realized gains on such
sales totaled $0.1 million, $1.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively and the gross realized losses totaled $0.3
million, $1.1 million and $2.9-million, respectively. The net adjustment after tax to unrealized holding losses on
available-for-sale securities included as a separate component of stockholders’ equity totaled $1.0 million; $0.2
million and $1.1 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The net adjustment after tax to unrealized gains
(losses) on available-for-sale securities included as a separate component of stockholders” equity due to the sale
of securities totaled $0.1 million, $1.0 million and $(0.9) million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

In accordance with SFAS 115, Nasdaq recognized pre-tax charges of $0.9 miltion and $1.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, attributable to the impairment of five and 11,
respectively publicly-traded equity securities. The impairment charges were related to the decline in the fair
value of Nasdaq’s publicly-traded equity investments below their cost basis that were judged to be other-than-
temporary. Nasdaq recorded the impairment losses in the Consolidated Statements of Income and adjusted the
cost basis of respective securities down to fair value as a new cost bas1s As of December 31, 2003, all equity
securities including those impaired were Sold.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, investments with a carrying value of approximately $30.6 million and
$28.3 million were pledged as collateral for Nasdag’s $25.0 million note payable. Collateral is limited to U.S.
Government and Agency securities with a margined value of not less than 100.0% of the loan and is invested in
accordance with the note agreement. See Note 11, “Senior Notes,” for further discussion.

9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following table outlines goodwill by reportable segment:

Market Issuer

Services Services Total
(ip thousands)
Balance as of December 31,2003 ............ e  J— $— $ —
Additions™ ... .. [ 141,381 — 141,381
Balance as of December 31,2004 ............ S $141,381 $— $141,381

(0 See Note 4, “Acquisition of Brut,” for further discussion.

The following table summarizes intangible assets, net by reportable segment:

Market Services Issuer Services Other Total

Gross Gross Gross Gross :
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(in thousands)
Technology@® ........... $15,700 $ (666) $— $— $— $— $15,700 $ (666)
Customer relationships® .. 26,300 (935) — — — — 26,300 (935)
Pension intangible ‘
assets® . ..., . ..., .. . — — — T — 318 — 318 —
Other...... B, 5 — 350 (281) — — 355 (281)
Total .......c.ovin... $42,005 $(1,601)  $350 $(281)  $318 $— $42,673  $(1,882)
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@ . Both the technology and customer relationships intangible assets are being amortized over a ten-year
~ estimated average useful hfe endmg 2014. Amortization expense for the next five years commencing in
. 2005 is expected to be- $4. 8 ‘million, $4.3 million; $4.2 million, $4.1 million and $4.1 million, respectively.
®  Pension 1ntang1b1e assets were recorded as required by SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions.” Amounts are not amortrzed but are adjusted -as part of the annual minimum pension liability ,
' assessment S A

10. Falr Value of Fmancral Instruments

. Nasdaq considers cash and cash equrvalents mvestments recervables net receivables and payables with *
related parties, accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued personnel costs, Senior Notes and Subordinated
Notes to be its ﬁnancral 1nstruments The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the

" above financial 1nstruments except for the Senior and Subordmated Notes closely approximates their fair values
due to the short-term nature of these assets and libilities. The approximate fair value of Nasdag’s Senior Notes

. and Subordinated Notes were estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on Nasdaq s assumed,,

incremental borrowmg rates: for srmﬂar types of borrowing arrangements. This analysis indicates that the farr

~ value of these obligations at December 31, 2004 and, 2003 approximates their carrying amounts.

11. Senior Notes :

On September 30, 2003, Nasdaq redeemed its $150 0'million outstanding principal amount of the sefior
notes. Under the terms of the senior notes, Nasdaq paid the holders of the senior notes $150.0 million in o
outstanding prrnc1pal amoint, accrued interest of $1.2 million and an aggregate make-whole payment of
approximately $12.6 million (representing the net present value of future payments). Nasdaq recorded a $13.2
million pre-tax charge in the third quarter of 2003 related to the rédemption of the senior notes. This charge - ‘
included the make-whole payment and capitalized costs related to the issuance of the senior notes. Nasdaq used
funds from available cash’and investments to finance the redemption. See “Long-term Debt,” of Note 3,
“Significant Transactrons for further discussion. Interest expensed and paid under the senior notes totaled
- approxrmately $6 5 rrnlhon and $5. 6 miilion for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

. In May 1997 Nasdaq entered into a $25.0 nnlhon note payable with a ﬁnancral institution (the “Lender”).
. Principal payments are schedulédto begin in 2007 and continue in equal monthly installments until maturity in
- 2012. The note requires monthly ‘interest payments through May 2007 at an annual rate of 7.41%. After May
2007, Nasdaq will incur interest equal te the Lender’s cost of funds rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 0.5%. .
Interest expensed and pard under thé agreement totaled. approxrmately $1.9 million for each of the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. . :

i1

: ‘12 Subordmated Notes

On May 3, 2001 Nasdaq 1ssued and sold $240.0 million in aggregate prrncrpal amount of 4.0% convertible
subordinated notes.due.2006 to- Hellméan & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P. and certain of its affiliated limited
partnerships (collectlvely, “Hellman & Friedman™). Until N asdaq is granted Exchange Registration, Hellman &
Friedman may only exercise its conversion rights for a number of shares of common stock such that immediately
- following such conversion, NASD will continue to control greater than 50.0%of the combined voting power of -
Nasdaq. The annual 4.0% coupon will be payable in arrears and the Subordinated Notes are convertible at any
time into an aggregate of 12.0.million shares of common stock at.$20.00 per share, subject to adjustment, in -

- general, for any stock split, dividend, combination, recapitalization or other similar event. Interest expensed and
- paid under the agreement totaled approxrmately $9 6 nnlhon for each of the years ended December 31, 2004
© 2003.and 2002 s ST
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In 2002, Nasdaq stockholders approved an amendment to Nasdaq’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation
(the “Certificate of Incorporation”) that provided for voting debt. As a result, the holders of the Subordinated
Notes may vote on an as-converted basis on all matters on which holders of common stock have the right o vote,
subject to the current 5.0% voting limitation in the Certificate of Incorporation. Nasdaq has granted Hellman &
Friedman certain registration rights with respect to the shares of common stock underlying the Subordinated
Notes. ’ :

On an as-converted basis as of December 31, 2004, Hellman & Friedman owned an approximate 13.7%
equity interest in Nasdaq as a result of its ownership of these Subordinated Notes and 500,000 shares of common
stock purchased from Nasdaq in a separate transaction. Hellman & Friedman is permitted to designate one person
reasonably acceptable to Nasdaq for nomination as a director of Nasdaq for so long as Hellman & Friedman
owns Subordinated Notes and/or shares of common stock issued upon conversion thereof representing at least
50.0% of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Subordinated Notes initially purchased.
Patrick Healy, a managing director of Hellman & Friedman, was designated by Hellman & Friedman and
currently serves on the Board of Directors.

13. Income Taxes

The income tax (provision) benefit from-continuing operations consists of the following amounts:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
] (in thousands)
Current income taxes: -
Federal . .« .. .. e $ 24,741 $ 26,753 $(21,812)
) 71 7= (208) an (5,204)
Foreign ........ .o i (3,908) (2,790) (243)
Total current iNCOME tAXES ... ....overrennnnenn... o 20,625 . 23,952 (27,259)
Deferred income taxes:
Federal .. ...t (22,506) (7,180) (11,259)
AL L . i e (68) 4,468 (2,403)
Foreign ... i 1,200 — —
Total deferred income taxes ............. ... oivvne.. (21,374) (2,712) (13,662)
Total income tax (provision) benefit..................... $ (749 $21,240 $(40,921)
Income taxes (refunded) paid during the year . ... .. e $(49,986)  $(25,936) $ 77,187
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A reconcrhauon of the 1ncome tax (prov1s1on) benefit, based on the U.S. federal statutory rate, to Nasdag’s _
actual income tax (prov1sron) beneﬁt from continuing operat1ons for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003

and 2002-is as follows

{ . Year Ended December 31,
© 2004 2003 2002

P ‘ - ) ‘ (in thousands)

- Federal income tax. (provision) benefit at the statutory rate ...... L $(894) $23,223  $(37,080)
‘State income tax (pr0v1s10n) beneﬁt net of federal effect ..... . (179) 2,897 (4,944)
Change in valuat1on allowance—fore1gn losses ............. . 1,051 (1,468) (2,501).

- FOTEIgN taXES . . 1o o e e e 872) . —. =

_ Tax preferred 1nvestments e - () S 15 780

* ‘Nondéductible expenses .. . . L SO, (926)  (1,410) (817)
Tax credits “ o R ’ j : — 1,711 o 2,341
Goodwill lmpanrment e AR . — (1,431 . — ’
’Pnoryeartaxpayable S S O OE R AP 496 (2,904) -~ —
Other ........... U O U (26) (59) 1,300
" Actual 1ncorne ‘tax“'(provision) beneﬁt TR e $ (749)  $21,240  $(40,921)

J

The temporary dlfferences wh1ch give rise to Nasdaq’s deferred tax assets and (hab111t1es) consrsted of the
followmg '
A ': SR . , December 31,
2004 2003
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred fees .. ...... .. ....... SRS SN $33217  $ 56,624
Foreign net operating 1oss . ... ................ P 1,506 1,576
State net operatmg loss ........... e e 4,911 5,466
Technology COSIS .. .ivwwveeenre e, J 1,231 3,680
Compensation and benefits [P e 12,365 o 8252
Lease reserves S P et e e 14,022 7,949
Capital loss carryforward T . T 6,903 7,102
Strategic review eharges e T _ 3113 16 326
Other . .10 ooyt [P L. 3135 14,242
Gross deferred tax assets B R f e 80,403 ' 121,217
Deferred tax 11ab1ht1es. SR a ‘ S ‘

: -Deprec1at10n ......... LT e e (2,591) (8,269)
‘Software development costs Sl e (26,923) (31,843)
Other ..... e el e (373) (3,198)
Gross deferred tax liabilities . . . ..... e T (29,887) ~(43,310)

* Net deferred. tax asset before valuanon allowance e 50,516 77,907
Less: Valuation allowance- ..... e e P (7,429) (8,678) -
Net deferred tax asset L.l S e $ 43,087 $ 69,229
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~ Of the $4.9-million of state and the $1.5 million of foreign net operating losses at December 31, 2004, state
losses of $4.9 million will expire through 2023, foreign losses of $0.4 million will expire 2007 through 2011 and
$1.1 million have no expiration date. Of the $6.9 million of capital loss carryforwards, $0.7 million will expire
2006 through 2008 and $6.2 miilion will expire in'2009.

The change in the valuation allowance from December 31, 2003.to December 31, 2004 is as foilows:

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31,2003 . ... ... .... e S $(8,678)

Utilization of prior year foreign net operating losses in the current period ........... 1,200
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards generated in2004 .. ..................... (149)
. State tax effect of prior year valuation allowance . ....... T 626
Capital loss carryforwards generated in 2004 ... ..., P _(428)
Balance at December 31,2004 ...l B(7,429)

Not included in the deferred tax assets for the year ended December 31, 2004 is a capital loss carryforward
- of $15.8 million generated through discontinued operations. The carryforward will expire in 2008 and Nasdaq
believes that it is more likely than not that no benefit will be realized on this asset. Therefore, a.valuation
allowance of $15.8 rmlhon was established.

The following represents the domestic and forelgn components of income (1oss) from contmumg operations
before income tax (benefit) expense ,

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003. 2002
= .. 7 < ) (in thousands)
Domestic ....ovvvurmeeeenn e [P e o $(1,122)  $(75,114)  $113,715
Foreign "......... S e P 3,675 8,762 (7,773)
Income (loss) before income tax (expense) benefit ............ $2,553  $(66,352) $105,942

14. Employee Benefits

Nasdaq is a participating employer in a noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plan that NASD sponsors
for the benefit of its eligible employees and the eligible employees of its subsidiaries. As of January 1, 2004, the
benefits are primarily based on years of service and the employees’ career-average salary during employment,
subject to a phase-in period. Prior to 2004, the benefits were primarily based on years of service and the
employees average salary dunng the hxghest 60 consecutive months of employment. '

* Until November 1, 2003, Nasdaq participated in a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) that
was maintained by NASD for certain senior executives. On November 1, 2003, Nasdaq formed its own SERP
and transferred all amounts to this new plan. Also during 2003, Nasdaq changed the accrual of benefits from age
65 to the later of age 55 or 10 years of service, except in the case of an executive who has a contract with a SERP
provision, then benefits are accrued in accordance with the contract terms.
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ro

The followmg table sets forth the pension and SERP plans funded status as of December 3

aeo

‘ 2004 T 2003 ,
Pension - ~ SERP~  .Total . ' Pension SERP Totat
. ST o (in thousands)

' Change in benefit oblrgatnon ‘
Benefit obligation- atbegmnmg ofyear . $60,961 *-$18;881 $ 79,842 $70,100 - $:12,001 $ 82,101

- Service cost ...... .10 e e [ 5,106 1,361 6,467 5,700 2775 8475
~Interestcost ..., S DRI 3,440 921 4,361 3,905 1,290 5,195
Actuarial (gains) losses ..... ool (5659 ¢ (499) . (6,158) - (683). 1,213 . 530
- Benefits paid . ......:.. e, (9215) . (4984) | (14,199)  (14,698) . (5,813) (20,511)
Plan amendments . .. ... e Ll = T = = (10,233) 6,933.. (3,300
Loss due to.change in discountrate .."... '5922 455 " 6377 ° 6,870 . 482 7,352
* Gain due to change'in salary scale S (3,189 N (<73 1:1°) R — o= =

.Bemeﬁtobngauomatendofyear...,.'. 57366 16,135 73,501 60,961 18,881 79,842

- Change in plan assets v
+ Fair value of plan ; assets at begmmng of S S ‘ 4
VEAT et e . 32,988 .o~— . 32988 34351 — . 34,35

Net employee transfers mto plan e — = = .. 502 - 502
Actual return on plan assets ..~ R 2467 0 — 7 2467 - 7,180 - 7,780
-.Company contributions . :u......0 0, 6,044 4,984 - 11,028 © 5,053 7 5813 10,866
Benefitspaid ... ... il o, 215) o (4,984)  (14,199) - -(14,698) (5,813) (20,511
Fair value of plan assets at end of ' _ , ‘
Cooyear L. Ll Lot i 32,284 a e 32284 - 32,988 — - - 32988
" Underfunded status of the plan 7. .. ... (25,082)  (16,135) ~(41,217)  (27,973)  (18,881) . (46,854)
Unrecognized net actuanal loss ......... 18,754 ‘3,545 022,299 22,051 - 3,840 25,891 |
Unrecognized-priot servrce cost v e (8100) 0 318 (7,782) - (8,744) 686 " (8,058)
Unrecogmzed transrtlon asset ... (164) _ (164) (221) — (221)
" Accrued benefit cost s Ve .'; e .. $(14,592) - $(12,272) $(26,8644) $(14,887) $(l4,355). $(29,242)

»Accumulated beneffit obllgatlon $43011 $ 1‘5,632’ $ 58643 $41,020 .$17.336 $ 58,356

. .Wetghted-average assumpnons as of

December 31; . ) C et
Discountrate ...........: ihe i e 575% 5.75% R 6.25% 6.25%
Expected return on plan assets . cew.. - 875 — . 8.75 — '

Rate of compensatlon mcrease R 4.50 4, 00 : S. 50 - 4.00

The followmg table sets forth the combmed plans amounts recogmzed in the Consohdated Statements of
Ineorne : S

o - R - Year Ended December 31,
oo ! ' 2004 2003 2002
: (m thousands)

Components of net penodlc benefit cost St v S - .
Service cost .......: PR Sl O K A U Lo $6467 0 $ 8, 475 $ 7,460
Interest cost ... ... .. [ U e A A e 4361 . 5,195 4,971
Expected return on plan assets .:......... ... ie.n... P A (2,974) (2,899) .. . (3,529)
“ Amortization of unrecognized transition asset . P (58) (57). .. (58)
Recogmzed net actuarial loss/(gain) . .................. O 902 1,247 " (413)
Prior service cost recognized .. ..., ... i T "(319) 5,004 474
Curta11ment/settlement loss recogmzed e e e » 207 2,112 .. 1,248

‘Benefitcost........ P S e $8,586  $19,0770 $10,153
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1 Includes strategic review amounts related to the fulfillment of employment SERP contracts and obligations
associated with the retirement and departure of certain members of senior management. See “Strategic
Review,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.

The investment policy and strategy of the plan assets, as established by NASD Pension Plan Committee, is
to provide for preservation of principal, both in nominal and real terms, in order to meet the long-term spending
needs of the pension plan by investing assets per the target allocations stated below. Asset allocations are
reviewed quarterly and adjusted, as appropriate, to remain within target allocations. The investment policy is
reviewed on an annual basis, under the advisement of an investment consultant, to determine if the policy or asset
allocation targets should be changed. The policy was changed in 2004 and transition to the revised asset
atlocation strategy was in process as of December 31, 2004. The plan assets consisted of the following as of
December 31: :

‘ Target Allocation 2004 2003‘
Equlty SECUrities .........oveevinne... S 45.0% - 75.0% 65.5% 74.0%
Debt securities and cash equlvalents ................ oo 10.0% - 40.0% 26.0 26.0
Other investment strategies .................... ... .... 10.0% - 20.0% 8.5 —

Total . ... .. . e : 100.0%  100.0%

The expected long-term rate of return for the plan’s total assets is based on the expected return of each of
the above categories, weighted based on the current target allocation for each class. Equity securities are
expected to return 8.0% to 10.0% over the long-term, other investment strategies are anticipated to yield 6.0%
and 8.0%, while cash and fixed income is expected to return between 4.0% and 6.0%. Based on historical
experience, the committee expects that the plan’s asset managers overall will provide a modest (1.0% per annum)
premium to their respective market benchmark indices.

The pension and SERP plans are measured at the beginning of each fiscal year. Based on the current Internal
Revenue Service regulations, Nasdaq expects to contribute approximately $8.9 million to the pension plan in
2005. This includes $5.1 million for the 2004 plan year contribution and $3.8 million for the 2005 plan year. The
SERP is an unfunded plan. ‘

Nasdéq expectsj to mak_e the following benefit payments to participants in the next ten fiscal years:

Pension SERP Total
(in thousands)

Fiscal year ended: ' ‘

2005 ..o it [ e R $ 1656 $ 571 $ 2227
2006 . . e e e 2,592 7,885 10,477
2007 oo S PR D L 3,067 3,078 6,145
2008 e e P 3,665 670 4,335
2009 L. P e 3,471 657 4,128
2010 through 2014 . .......... ‘ [ 24,858 5,008 29,866

$39,309  $17.869 $57,178

_ During 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were settlement losses of $0.2 million, $2.1 million and $1.2 million,
‘respectively for employees included within the SERP plan due to early retirements. ‘
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Pursuant to the provrsrons of SFAS 87 related to the SERP, an intangible asset of $1.0 million and an
. adJustment to' stockholders equrty of $1.4 million (net of tax of $0:9 million); were récorded as of December 31,
12001 to recognrze the mrmmum pension lrab1hty Durmg 2002, the intangible asset and adjustment to
- .stockholders’ equity both were reduced to $0.6 million and $1.1 million (net of tax of $0.7 million), respectively.
During 2003, the 1ntang1ble asset and the minimum pension liability were adjusted to $0.7 million and $1.4.
] 'mrlhon (net'of tax of o, 9 nnlllon), respectrvely As of December 31,.2004; the intangible asset and the rrnnrmum
. pension lrabrlrty were $O 3 rmlhon and $1 8 mrlhon (et of tax of $1. 2 mrllron) respectrvely

‘ Prror to Aprrl 1 2002; N asdaq partrcrpated ind Voluntary savings plan-for ehgrble employees of NASD-and

- jts*Subsidiaries. A$ of Apr11 1,°2002;'in'accordance with the Restructuring, Nasdaq formed its own voluntary ‘

~ savings'plan and all amounts were transferred to this new’ ‘plan: This voluntary savings plan is a

_ defined-contribution plan:. Empléyees are immediately eligible to make contributions to the plan‘and aré also
eligible for an employer. contnbutron match at an amount equal to 100.0% of the first 4.0% of eligible employee
'contrrbutrons Ellgrble plan partrcrpants may also receive an additional discretionary match from Nasdag. There

 was no dlscretlonary ‘match for 2004, 2003 and 2002. Savings plan expense included in compensation and
beneﬁts expense in the Consolrdated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and

12002, was $3.1 rnrlhon $3.4 rmllron and $l & million, respecnvely S :

"

.4 G

-15. Stock Compensatron and Stock Awards

Effective December 5, 2000, as amended on February 14,2001 and January 23,2002, Nasdaq adopted The
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity’ Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), under which nonqualified and qualified incentive
‘stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, or other stock based awards may be granted to employees,
- directors, officers and consultants. A total of 24,500,000 shares are authorized under the Plan. At December 31,
2004, 7,550,992 shares were available for future grants. under the Plan. In 2003, Nasdaq also issued stock optrons
‘and restrrcted stock outside of the Plan. ; : e , .

o In 2004 Nasdaq granted 6,068, 800 stock options, 109 000 shares of restricted stock to employees and
officers and 49,014 shares of restncted stock to non- employee Board of Directors members pursuant to the Plan.
Durmg 2004, 824 202 stock optrons and 59, 947 shares of restricted stock awards were forferted ’

In December 2001 the Board adopted arevised Non- -Employee Dlrectors Compensatton Policy whereby
beginning in 2002 all non-employee directors were awarded 5,000 stock options per year with an exercise price
at fair market value, which may be exercrsed for up to 10 years while serving on the Board of Directors (in
general, thrée years from’ terrmnatron of service on the Board of Directors). On January 23, 2002, a total of -

65, 000 stock options were awardecl to nen-employee directors pursuant to the policy. Later in November 2002,
the Board approved a modrﬁcatlon to the Non-Employee Directors Compensatron Policy whereby all
non-employeé directors will receive a compensation package valued at $40,000. On April 28, 2004, the Board
‘approved a modification to the Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy whereby all non-employee
d1rectors would recerve a base compensatron package valued at $50,000. Each non-employee director may elect
to recerve the base compensatron package in cash, payable inrequal quarterly installments, shares of restricted -
stock or a combination thereof. The shares of restncted stock will vest two years from the date of grant and
unvested shares are forferted in certain: crrcumstances upon termination of the director’s service on the Nasdag
Board. During 2004, 49,014 shares of restrrcted stock were awarded to non- employee directors. Directors who,
serve as committee chairs or as mernbers of the Audit Committee and the chairman of the board are entitled to
additional compensatron beyond the base compensatlon package, however, these additional amounts are pald in
cash rather than restncted stock.. -

Restncted ’—stock awards are awarded in the name of the employee or ofﬁcer at farr market value on the date -
of the grant. In 2004 Nasdaq granted 109,000 shares of restncted stock to employees and officers wrth a
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weighted-average grant price of $7.45. Restricted stock awards contain restrictions on sales and transfers, are
generally subject to a five-year vesting period and are expensed over the vesting period. Nasdaq recognized $0.5
million and $2.0 million in-amortization expense related to restricted stock during the years ended December 31,
2004 and Decembeér 31, 2002, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the number of restricted
stock awards forfeited more than offset the yearly amortization expense to a $0.05 million benefit.

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of the
grant. Nasdaq accounts for stock option grants in accordance with APB 25, and, accordingly, recognizes no
compensann expense related to such grants.

Options granted generally vest over three years and expire. 10 'years from the date of grant. Beginning in
2004, the Board approved the issuance of Performance Accelerated Stock Options (“PASG”) and granted
4,919,000 PASOs during the year. The PASOs include a-performance based accelerated vesting feature based on
Nasdaq achieving specific levels of performance:in fiscal years 2004 and 2005. The vestings of the PASO awards
are no longer than six years from 'the grant date. All options.to date have been granted at fair market value on the
date of grant. At December 31, 2004, options for 8,368,901 shares were vested (including grants outside of the
Plan), and exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $11.92. At December 31, 2003, options for
7,550,589 shares were vested (including grants outside of the Plan), and exercisable with a weighted-average
exercise price of $12.43. The weighted-average remammg contract life was 7.6 years and 7.5 years at December
31, 2004-and 2003, respectlvely : :

Stock optlon activity, 1ncludmg shares from out31de of the Plan, during the year ended December 31, 2004 is
set forth below: .

Price per Share

) . ‘ o - ,Shareé . Range Weighted Average

' ‘Balance, January 1,2004 ... ........ .. . . 13,423,134 $5.28 - $19.70 $10.82
‘Granted ... ... 6,068,800 - $6.15-% 9.15 $ 7.58
Exercised . ......iiiii e 310,296  $5.28-% 8.50 $ 5.39
Canceled .......... .ot 2,124,875  $6.15 - $13.00 $10.94

Balance, December 31,2004 ................. 17,056,763  $5.28 - $19.70 $ 9.75

The foll_owin_g table presents the options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 by ranges of exercise prices:

Qutstanding as of Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Prices w ’ M
$ 528 -3 734 A 2,564,000 $ 6.00
$ 735 -8 849 3,987,500 $ 7.37
$ 8.50.- $10.24 3,584,049 $ 8.74
$10.25 - $12.99 . 186,284 $10.39
$13.00 - $13.38 - 6,633,330 $13.00
. $13.39 - $19.69 . — —_—
$19.70 - $20.00 101,600 $19.70

17,056,763 $ 9.75

F-35




' The Nasdaq Stock Market Inc.
Notes to Consolldated Financial Statements—(Contmued)

Stock optron act1v1ty dunng lthe year ended December 31, 2003 is set forth below: = . . 7.+ .-

" Price per Share

. \ ‘ o . .‘ . ".”S:hares; Range - Weighted Average
Balance Januaryl 2003_‘ it 10,917,403 ¢ $10.25-$19.70. . $12.91
. Granted ...... R AU 15,398,410 $ 5.28-5 9.05 $ 741
Canceled . .;.. .. et U T 2,892,679 - $6.30-%$19.70 $12.33

- Balance, December 31 2003 T 13,423,134 % 5.28-8%19.70 ‘$10.82

o Nasdaq has an employee stock purchase plan for all eligible employees. Under the plan, shares of common
stock may be purchased at six-month intervals (each, an-“Offering Period”) at 85.0% of the lower of the fair
market value on the first or the last day.of each Offering Period. Employees may purchase shares having a value.
not exceeding 10.0% of their anniial compensatlon sub_]ect to‘applicable annual Internal Revenue Service
limitations. During 2004 and 2003, employees purchased an aggregate of 110,408 and 143,352 shares at a

Awelghted average pmce of $5 45 and $6.95 per share, respectrvely |

"Pro fomna mforrnatron regardmg Hiet.income and earmngs -per share is requ1red under SFAS 148 and has -
been determined as if-Nasdag had. accounted-for all stock option grants based on a fair value-method. The fair
value of each stock optlon grant Was esnmated at the date-of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model
‘assuming a Welghted average expected life of five years, weighted-average expected volatility of 30.0% and a
weighted-average risk’freé interest rate-of 3:43% and 2.94% for.2004 and 2003, respectively. The weighted-
average fair Value of OpthIlS granted in 2004 and 2003 was $2 49 and $2.37, respectively.

- Pro forma net income 1ncludes the amortization of the falr Value of stock options over thé vesting period and
the difference between the fair value and the purchase price of common shares purchased by employees under the
employee stock purchase plan The pro-forma net income also includes a reduction in option expense due to the
true-up of actual forfeitures. The pro forma 1nforrnat1on for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December
31, 2003 is as fol lows :

Year Ended
December 31,

‘ | . ‘ | _ 2004 2003
' R e : ST * (in thousands, except per
i ‘ : ‘ share amounts)

Reported net mcome (loss) from contmumg operatrons U .. $1,804  $(45,112)
Stock-based compensatron cost (net of tax of $2 341 and $8,347, } :
respectively) ... ... .. e e e - (3,936) (12,932)
Pro forma net loss e R PP - $(2,132)  $(58,044)
.Reported basic and diluted loss per share ....... e ©$(0.14) $ (0.68)
Pro forma basic and diluted los_s pershare. ..... T e 8 0.19) - $ (0.85)
16. Leases R

' Nasdag leases ofﬁce space and equrpment under non-cancelable operating ledses with third parties and also
subleases office space from NASD'in New York City. Certain leases contain renewal optrons and escalation
clauses based' on lncreases in property taxes and bu1ld1ng operatlng costs.
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As of December 31, 2004, future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases (net of
sublease income) are as follows:

Gross Lease Sublease Net Lease

Commitments Income  Commitments
. . . (in thousands)

Year ending December 31: ‘ . PR 4
2005 . e $ 42,328 $1,900 $ 40,428
2006 ......... e e R 27,890 2,185 25,705
C 2007 e P S 21,569 2,224 19,345
2008 L. D e S 16,260 . 2,299 13,961
2009 ..., SRR e 15622 © 2,266 13,356
Remaining years ............ U e 145580 15221 130359

‘Total future minimam lease payments ................. $269,249 $26,095 $243,154

Rent expense for operating leases (net of sublease income of $0.4 million in 2004) was $18.3 million,
$19.4 million and $17 3 mﬂhon for the years-ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

17. AcCumulated Other Comprehensnve Income

Comprehenswe income is composed of net income and other comprehensive income, which includes the
after-tax change in unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, foreign currency t.ranslatlon
adjustments and a minimum pension liability adjustment.

The following table outlines the components of other comprehensive (loss) income:

o ) ' Accumulated Other
I Unrealized Translation = Minimum Pension Comprehensive
Gains (Losses)®  Adjustments® Liability® (Loss) Income
.- . (in thousands)

Balance, Januaryl 2002 ... . 1,239 ' (6,820) (1,395) (6,976)
Net change ........................... ©(2,048) 6,4024 296 4,650
Balance December 31,2002 ....... R - (809) 418) (1,099) (2,326)
Net Change o :‘. e ....... 760 1,948) (296) 2,412
Balance, December 31 2003 ... '$ (49 " $1,530 $(1,395) $ 86
Net change ..... P T (920) 232 (454) (1,142)
Balance, December 31,2004 . ........... $ (969) $ 1,762 $(1,849) $(1,056)

() Primarily represents the after-tax difference between the fair value and cost (after recognition of $0.6
million and $0.7 million in an after tax other- than -temporary loss in 2003 and 2002, respectively) of the
' available-for-sale securities portfolio.
@. Includes after-tax gains and losses on foreign currency translation from operauons for which the functional
currency is other than the U.S. dollar.
@) Represents the after-tax adjustment to record the minimum pension liability for the SERP,
@  Approximately $2.4 million of foreign currency translation loss has been included in Nasdaq Japan
~ impairment loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See “Nasdaq Japan,” of Note 3, “Significant
+ Transactions,” for further discussion. ‘
®  Approximately $1.7 million of foreign currency translation loss has been included in Net income (loss) from
discontinued operations, net of tax in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See “Strategic Review,” of
Note 3, “Significant Transactions,” for further discussion.
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“18. Segments . - L e L

Nasdaq manages, operates and provides its products and services in two business segments, otir Market™ "

Services segment and.our Issuer Services segment. The Market Services segment includes our transaction-based

" business (Nasdaq Market Center) iand our market information services business (Nasdaq Market Services
Subscriptions), which dre interrelated because the transaction-based business generates the quote and trade
information that we sell to market participants and data veridors. The Issuer Services segment includes our

" securities listings busmess (Corporate Client Group) and our financial products business (Nasdaq Financial -
Products). The compames Tisted” on The Nasdaq Stock Market represent a diverse array of industries. This |
diversity of Nasdag- hsted compames allows us to develop industry-specific and other Nasdaq indices that we use
to develop and license ﬁnancral products and ‘associated derivatives. Because of the foregoing 1nterrelat10nsh1ps

"our manageinent allocates resources, assesses performance and manages these busmesses as two separate .

. ‘segments Prior to 2003 Nasdaq operated in one segment. ' o

Nasdaq evaluates the performance of its segments based on several factors of which the primary ﬁnanmal
measure is pre- tax.incomie. Results of individual businesses are presented based on Nasdag’s management .
' accouhting practices and Nasdag's managernent structure. Certain ¢harges are allocated to Corporate items in
Nasdaq’s management reports based on the decision that those activities should not be used to evaluate the
“segment’s operating performance: These charges in 2003 and 2002 primarily-include all activities and exit.costs
related to the elimination of Nasdaq’s non-core product lines' and other initiatives as well as Nasdaq J apan.

, The followrng table presents certain ‘information regarding these operatmg segments at December 31 2004
, 2003 and 2002 and for each of the years then ended. ’

‘ Corporate Items
Market Services: Issuer Services ~and Eliminations  Consolidated

L . ,;,‘_:. L “ N % Tun (in thousands)
2004 0 o e : :
Revenues ........... AN Lo e $334 517 ° $205,821 $ 103 $ 540,441
Cost ofrevenues e ST (55,845) —_ —  (55,845)
Gross' margin . ... B PO S 273,672 205,821 < 103 484,596
Deprecration and amomzatron ...... A A, 58,441 17,438 457 76,336
Pre-tax (loss) i income e ceee it 0 (58,945)M 67,575 - 6,077) 2,553
CAssets®@ ... P o ' 435,534 87,240 292,046 814,820
Cash paid for property ¢ and equrpment ....... Voo TR22,306 3,650 73 26,029
2003 s .‘. e PRI : TR ' ; ) o
Revenues ....... A S cooe.. ($383715 $204,186 - 3 1944 $ 589,845
‘Depreciation and amortization SOl 600685 18373 T 110,925 89,983
Pre-tax (loss) income ... .......0.000 o L T (4534) 0 51,854 (113,672)  ~ (66,352)
CAssets® L.l e el 250,810 127,688 472,756 851,254 °
_ Cash paid for property and equipment L 23sss 05543 0 - 2497 ' 31,595
Revenues :.%....0c......ooo.udovenlea o 8581774 0. §203.969 - § 1411 § 787,154
- Depreciation and amortization G e e -.59,138 .. 18,561 .. - 10,803 . . 88,502
Pre-tax income (loss) e S e 122,189 " 43,984 - . .-(60,231) - -..105,942
Assets<2> e R ST 0 3946250 L 193,693 . 587,596 - - 1,175,914

Cash paid for property and equipment R T Y. Y- X 670 L1396 o 9,087 . 75,153
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() Pre-tax loss due to a decrease in revenues. Also includes the majority of costs for regulatory services from
NASDR ‘and majority of technology costs due to the nature of operations of Market Services.

@ Includes continuing and discontinued operations for 2002. Corporate items also include the assets of
Nasdaq’ s Treasury Department (primarily cash and cash equivalents and investments).

Geographic Data

The following table presents revenues and property and’ equlpment net by geographic area for 2004, 2003
and 2002. Revenues are classified based upon the location of the customer. Property and equipment information
is based on the physical location of the assets.

Property and
Equipment,
Revenues Net
(in thousands)
2004: o .
United States ............. e e $494,132 $173,083
All other countries ... vt e 46,309 757
~ Total ...... [ PP Lo. $540441  $173,840
2003: ' o '
United States . /..o $534,450 $242.672
All other countries ....................... e e 55,395 271
TOtAl .+ . v e e e T L $589,845  $242,943
2002: o : - : |
* United States: ....... o e e o $714,741 $327,937
All other countries ......... J A T, e 72,413 753
Total ........ P e P - $787,154 $328.,690

In 2004, 2003 and 2002, no single customer accounted for 10.0% or more of Nasdaq’s revenues.

19. Commitments and Contingencies
Brut Agreements.

" Brut contracted with a subsidiary of SunGard, SunGard Financial, for SunGard Financial to provide Brut
on-line processing, report services and related services in connection with the clearance of trades. The term of the
agreement is five years beginning in September 2004 and is automatically renewed at yearly intervals thereafter
until terminated by Brut or SunGard Financial. The annual service fee is $10.0 million in the first year, dropping
to $8.0 million in the second year and $6.0 million in the third year of the agreement. The annual service fee is
subject to price review in years four and five based market rates, but will not be less than $4.0 million per year,
Some additional fees may be assessed based on services needed or requested. '

Brut also contracted with SunGard to host certain software on designated equipment at a SunGard facility
for a transitional period beginning in September 2004. SunGard developed and operated the computer software
programs that enables Brut to operate and provide order entry and execution over its ECN. Under the terms of the
original agreement, which-began in September 2004 through May 2005, Brut was obligated to pay SunGard
approximately $0.1 million per month. On November 29, 2004, an amendment was signed which extended the
original agreement through June 30, 2006 and beginning November 30, 2005, Brut may cancel the agreement
within 30 days written notice to SunGard. '
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- BrokerageAcnvmes S .:' S ‘ . L

" Brut provrdes guarantees o securrtres cleannghouses and exchanges urider their standard membershrp
agreements whrchwrequrre members to guarantee the. performance of other members. If a member becomes - -
unable to satisfy its, obhgatrons tp the cleannghouses other members would be requrred to meet its shortfalls. To
mitigate these performance risks, the exchanges and cleannghouses often require members to post collateral as
. well as meet’ certain minimum f1nanc1al standards. Brut’s maximum potential lability under these arrangements
cannot be quantrﬁed However, Nasdaq believes that the potennal for Brut to be required to make payments
" under these arrangements is unhkely Accordlngly, no contmgent liabilityis recorded in the Consohdated o
- Balance Sheets for theSe arrangements - : , P

Nasdaq Insurance Agency

In December 2002 Nasdaq purchased NASD’s 50.0% interest in NASD Insurance Agency (subsequently

_ renamed the Nasdaq Insurance Agency, LLC). Nasdaq S consrderanon for NASD’s 50.0% interest consisted of
an upfront payment-of $0.5 mrlhon and up to $5.1 million based on NIA’s stream of contingent cash ﬂow
through 2016 (which reﬂects an agreement in 2004 between Nasdag and NASD to extend the term from 2011 to
2016): Nasdaq will pay NASD up to: (a) 20% of NIA’s cash flows until Nasdaq has paid NASD $2.3 million
from cash flows; (b) 10% of NIA’s cash flows until Nasdagq has paid NASD a cumulative amount of $3.0 million

" from cash flows; (c) 5% of NIA’s cash.flows until the earlier to occur of Nasdaq paying NASD the full

cumulative amount of $5.1 rmlhon from cash ﬂows or December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2004, Nasdaq
recorded a $0.4 m11110n d1v1dend to NASD for the NIA's cash flows. The dividend was reflected as a reduction in
addrnonal pard in capltal on Nasdaq s Consohdated Balance Sheets

On J anuary 1 2005 Nasdaq purchased the remaining 50, 0% interest in the NIA from A1G NJV, Inc. for

_ nominal consrderatron On.December 31,2004, Nasdaq entered-into a revolving promissory note with the NIA
and loaned the agency $2.9 million, which i is included in receivables from related parties on the Consolidated
‘Balance Sheets See Note 23, “Subsequent Events,” for further discussion.

MCI » S S t ,
On]J anuary 30, 2004 Nasdaq and MCI entered into a global services agreement, effective May 31, 2004,
related to the data network that connects Nasdaq’s market facilities to market participants. The'GSA terminated
the prior agreement between the two parties. The GSA, which expires on December 31, 2005, requires usage
~ charges for certain GSA services 1o be. at least $20.0 million durrng the period from June 1, 2004 to December

"31, 2004 and $20.0 million in 2005. In 2004 Nasdaq met, the rmmmum usage charges and fully expects to meet
the minimum usage charges in 2005 ‘ R . L s

- e o b K Coge
i o e : N b

-

Leases

i Nasdaq leases certam ofﬁce space and equ1pment in connecuon wrth 1ts operations. The majonty of. these
leases contain escalation: clauses based on increases in property taxes ‘and building operating costs. Future
_minimum lease payments, net of:sublease income of $26.1 million, at-December 31, 2004 were $243.1-million
' (including $38.9 million for equipment) over the life of the leases.xS‘ee';Item 7. “Management’s Discussion-and -
" Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operatlons , Contractual Obligations and Contingent
Commrtments for further drscussron ‘ T e

In October 2004 Nasdaq entered into a lease agreement for technology equrpment and also renegotrated ‘
related operatrng leases wrth a major vendor. Nasdaq also upgraded related leased equipment and entered into a
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new three year operating lease and extended the terms of license and maintenance agreements. Under the terms
of these leases and license and maintenance agreements, Nasdaq will pay a total of $36.2 million, over the
remaining lives of the leases and agreements. See “2004 Cost Reductions,” of Note 3, “Significant Transactions,”
for further discussion.

General Litigation

Nasdaq may be subject to claims arising out of the conduct of its business. Currently, there are certain legal
proceedings pending against Nasdaq. Nasdaq believes, based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or
settlements arising from these proceedings will not have a _materlal effect on the consolidated financial position
or results of operations of Nasdag. Management is not aware of any unasserted claims or assessments that would
have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position and results of operations of Nasdag.

20. Related Party Transactions

Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its
affiliates. Receivables from related parties relate to cash disbursements and loans funded by us on behalf of our
affiliates. Payables to related parties are comprised primarily of the regulation charge from NASDR, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of NASD. NASDR charges Nasdaq for costs mcurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and
enforcement. .

Surveillance and Other Regulatory Charges from NASDR

NASDR currently provides us with regulatory services, including the regulation of trading activity on The
Nasdaq Stock Market and over-the-counter market and market surveillance functions of Nasdag. NASDR
charges Nasdagq for these services based upon NASD management’s estimated percentage of costs incurred by
each NASDR department that are attributable directly to The Nasdaq Stock Market. The following table
represents the composition of costs charged by NASDR to Nasdaq:

e Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
. (in thousands)
Compensation and benefits ............ ... ... ... ..., $17,887  $19,783  $24,418
Professional and CONMTACT SEIVICES . v v v vt vttt i iee e 11,932 17,364 24,038
OCCUPEANCY o v e et ettt ettt 1,096 2,534 3,202
Computer operations and data communications ................ 3,455 2,953 4,570
Depreciation ............ P 9,377 18,120 15,481
General and administrative .. .................. [ 1,841 1,092 4,999

Total ....... ...l e $45,588  $61,846- $76,708

Regulatory charges from NASDR were $45.6 million, $61.8 million and $76.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These costs have decreased primarily due to NASD’s careful
review of NASDR charges and the allocation of these charges among the markets and members it regulates.
Lower expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 also relate to lower depreciation charges as certain technology assets
were fully depreciated during the year ended December 31, 2003. The ongoing review of these charges and
related services will continue and may result in further reductions in these costs in 2005 without effecting the
quality of regulatory oversight. : :
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Support Costs from NASD e f«‘*

‘ Dunng 2003 and 2002 NAS)D prov1ded certam adrrunrstratlve corporate and 1nfrastructure servrces to
Nasdaq It was NASD's’ pohcy to] charge these expenses and othér operating costs to N asdaq based upon usage »
percentages determined by management of NASD and Nasdaq. Additionally, NASD incurred certain costs
related to the development and rnamtenance of technology for Nasdaq. Technology development costs were
- allocated directly to Nasdaq based upon specific projects requested by Nasdag. Technology maintenance costs -

were allocated based:upon Nasdaq s share of computer usage. The services provided by NASD have declined in-
-‘recent years and were, mmlmal in 2004 Support costs frorn NASD were $1, 2 million and $5. 1 million for the L

years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectlvely The decrease was due to continued progress in

separating from NASD and the resultmg 1nternahzat10n of technology and certain other support functions. The
- followmg table represents the composmon of costs charged by NASD to Nasdaq

Year Ended

December 31,
_ ' 2003 2002
‘ I b ST - _ (in thousands)
Cornpensatlon andbeneﬁts e e 3491 . $1,689 .
_.Profess1onal and contract serv1ces : R . ., 316 1,236,
Occupancy: o s U : k .91 877..
Computer operatlons and data commumcatlons e ' e S A 77 251 .
Depreciation . ............ e e P 91 344
" General and administrative .. .. .. e PR SR S fee e 118 730

Total .......... Lo sLIs4 85,127

Nasdaq Charge to Arnex SRR

Dunng 2003 and 2002 N asdaq 1ncurred technology costs on behalf of Amex related to development of new
- Amex systems and. enhancement of ex1st1ng Amex systems Amounts were charged based upon specific projects’
requested by. Amex. The amounts' charged from Nasdaq to-Amex were minimal for the year ended December 31,
2004. Amounts charged from N asdaq to Amex are included in support costs from related parties, net and are
summirized as follows “

Year Ended

PR R R : " Deceniber 31,
e jj ' ook T S 2003 2002
o : ‘ ‘ = " S B ‘ S -7 (in thousands)
Compensanon and benefits R e S $ 283.+$ 509

~ 'Professional and contract servrces ...... e e o 1,045 16,0010
General and. adnnmstratrve :‘1;7 R P e e 198 347

Tofal s e L. 81526 $6,867

Dunng 2001 N asdaq agreed to fund a portron of the necéssary expenses related to the separation of
software “hardware and data under a plan to transition technology applications and support from Nasdaq to
Amex: NASD onglnally integrated certain Nasdaq and Amex.technology subsequent to the 1998 acquisition of . -
Amex by NASD. Theitotal éstimated-cost of the separation had been established at a maximum of $29.0- million,
and was to be shared evenly:between Nasdaq and NASD: In"2002 and 2001, Nasdagq accrued $5.3 million and
$9.2 million, respectwely under this commitment, fulfilling its commitment. As of December 31, 2003, $9.5
rrnlhon had been pald to Amex The remaining comrrutment was pa1d by the end of the second quarter of 2004.
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Effective January 1, 2005, Amex was sold back to its'members by NASD and is no longer considered a
related party of Nasdaq : ,

21. Capital Stock

At December 31, 2004, 300,000, OOO shares of Nasdaq § common stock were authorized, 130,653,191 shares
were issued and 78,973,085 shares were outstanding. Each share of common stock has one vote, except that our
certificate of Incorporation limits the ability of any person to vote in excess of 5.0% of the then-outstanding
voting interest of Nasdaq. This limitation does not apply to NASD or other persons exempted from this limitation
by our board of directors prior to the time such person owns more than 5.0% of the then-outstanding voting:
interest of Nasdag,

In 2000, NASD implemented a separation of Nasdaq from NASD by restructuring and broadening the
ownershlp in Nasdaq through a two-phase private placement of securities. In the private placements, (i) NASD
sold (a) an aggregate of 10, 806,494 warrants to purchase an aggregate amount of 43,225,976 shares of
outstandmg common stock of Nasdaq and (b) 4,543,591 shares of outstandmg common stock and (i1) Nasdaq
sold.an aggregate of 28,692,543 newly-issued shares of common stock to inivestors. Securities in the private
placements were offered to all NASD members, certain issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market and certain
investment companies. Each warrant issued by NASD entitles the holder to purchase one share in each of four
one-year exercise periods. NASD is currently in the third exercise period, expiring June 28, 2005, which the
exercise price per share is $15.00. The voting rights associated with the shares of common stock underlying the
warrants, as well as the shares of common stock purchased through the valid exercise of warrants, are governed
by the Votmg trust agreement (the “Voting Trust Agreement”) entered into by NASD, Nasdaq and The Bank of
New York,-as voting trustee (the “Voting Trustee”). Currently, the holders of the warrants (each, a “Warrant
Holder” and, collectively, the “Warrant Holders™) do not have any voting rights with respect to the shares of
common stock underlying such warrants. Until exchange registration the shares of common stock underlying
unexercised and unexpired warrant tranches, as well as the shares of common stock purchased through the
exercise of warrants, will be voted by the Voting Trustee at the direction of NASD. The voting rights associated
with the shares of common stock underlying unexercised and expired warrant tranches will revert to NASD.
However, NASD previously indicated that commencing upon exchange registration, it will vote any shares of -
common stock that it owns (other than shares underlying then outstariding_ warrants) in the same proportion as the
other stockholders of Nasdaq. Upon exchange registration, the Warrant Holders will have the right to direct the
Voting Trustee as to the voting of the shares of common stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrant
tranches until the earlier of the exercise or the expiration of such warrant tranches. The shares of common stock
purchased upon a valid exercise of a warrant tranche prior to exchange registration will be released from the
Voting Trust Agreement upon exchange registration. The shares of common stock purchased upon a valid
exercise of a warrant tranche after exchange registration will not be subject to the Voting Trust Agreement. On
February 15, 2003, NASD,so_ld 16,586,980 shares of common stock underlying warrants that had expired
unexercised in an underwritten public offering. See Note 23, “Subsequent Events.” As a result, as of February 15,
2005, NASD owns 26,596,416 million shares of Nasdag’s common stock, including shares of common stock
underlying unexpired and unexercised warrants. '

As part.of the Restructuring, Nasdag repurchased a total of 52,230,433 shares of common stock from NASD
during 2001 and 2002 (the “Repurchase™). Nasdaq purchased the common stock for approximately $305.2
million in aggregate cash consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq’s Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock (face
and liquidation value of $100 per share, plus any accumulated unpaid dividends) and one share of Nasdag’s
Series B Preferred Stock, (face and liquidation value of $1.00 per share). On November 29, 2004, Nasdaq entered
into an exchange agreement with NASD pursuant to which NASD exchanged 1,338,402 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock, representing all the outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, for 1,388,402
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shares of newly 1ssued Senes C Cumulat1ve Preferred Stock (face and liquidation value of $100 per share, plus
any accumulated and unpard dividends). The Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock accrues quarterly dividends at
an annual rate of 3,0% for all periods until July 1, 2006 and at an annual rate of 10.6% for periods thereafter,
payable at the dlSCI‘etIOH of ‘our board of directors. Holders of the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock also may
.be entitled to an addifional payment in certain circumstances dependmg on the amount of time the Series C
‘Cumulative Preferred Stock’is outstandmg and the market prrce of our common stock at the time Nasdag
redeems the Series C Cumulatrve Preferred Stock. NASD owns all'of the outstanding shares of Serres B and
Series C Cumulative' Preferred Stock. All of the shares of common stock repurchased by Nasdagq from NASD are
no longer outstandrng and are'held in common stock in treasury.'As of December 31, 2004, there vere'
30,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, 1,338,402 Senes C Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of
Serres B Preferred Stock 1ssued and outstandrng

Shares of Senes C Cumulatrve Preferred Stock do not have votrng rights, except for the nght as a class to
elect two new drrectors fo Nasdaq S board of drrectors at such time as distributions on the Series C Cumulative
' Preferred Stock are in arreats’ for four consecutrve quarters. Nasdaq may redeem the shares of Series C
- Cumulative Preferred Stock at any ‘time’ ‘after exchange registration and are required to use the net proceeds from
an offenng for cash of Nasdaq S common stock by Nasdaq, subject to certam limited excepnons to redeem all or
’ a pOI"thH of the Senes C Cumulattve Preferred Stock
e
The Series B Preferred Stock’ does not pay dividends. N ASD, as holder of the one share of the Series B _
Preferred Stock ‘will be entrtled o cast the number of votes that, together with all other votes that NASD is -
entitled to vote by vu'tue of ownershrp, proxres -OF votmg trusts, enables NASD to cast one vote more than one-
half of all Votes enntled to be cast by stockholders of N asdaq If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration, the share’
of Ser1es B Preferred Stock will automatlcally lose its voting rights and will be redeemed by Nasdaq. In addition
to the voting, nghts of the common stock and Series B Preferred Stock, the holders of the Subordmated Notes
have certain VOt] ng nghts as dlscussed 1n Note 12 “Subordmated Notes

In connectron w1th the repurchase of ownershlp 1nterest ofa shareholder in Nasdaq Europe Planning in
2001, Nasdaq issued' a warrant to purchase up toan aggregate of 479,648 shares of common stock. The warrant is
K exercrsable in four’ annual tranches ranging from '$13.00 to $16.00 per share beginning June 28, 2002. The
1ssuance of the warrants has been ‘fecorded at fair value in stockholders equity. As of December 31, 2004, the
‘warrant is still outstandrng and no| tranches have been exercrsed however two of the tranches have expired
unexercrsed e * : :

B SR i :
e
1

22 Earnmgs Per Common Share .

Earnrngs per common share is computed in accordance wrth SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS :
128”) Bésic earnings’ per share excludes the dilutive effects- of optrons -awards, warrants and convertlble
: securmes ‘and is calculated by drvrdrng net income avarlable to common stock holders by the werghted average :
number of common shares outstandrng during the perrod Dlluted eamrngs per share reﬂects all potentra]ly :
d11ut1ve securltres ‘ oL :
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(in thousands, except share and
per share amounts)

Numerator: :
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders:
Netincome (10SS) . oot $ 11,362 $ (105447) $ 43,128
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations ................ 9,558 - (60,335 (21,893)
Net income (loss) from contlnumg operatxons R e 1,804 (45,112) 65,021
Preferred Stock: ' )
‘Loss on exchange of SECUTIHES . ..o ee e, (3,908) — —
Dividends declared ............ .. ... ... ... .. (8,354) (8,279) —
Accretlon of preferred stock ........ A PN (926) — (9,765)

Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders from

continuing operations for basic and diluted earnings per share ... $ (11,384) § (53,391) $§ 55,256
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations for basic and diluted

earningspershare ........ ... . 9,558 (60,335) (21,893)
Neét (loss) income available to common stockholders for basic and

diluted earnings per share . ...............c.ooiiiinnniinn. $ (1,826) $ (113,726) $ 33,363
Denominator: _ .
Weighted average common shares for basic earnings per share ... . . 78,607,126 78,378,376 83,650,478
Weighted average effect of dilutive securities:
VAT ANES . .ottt et e — — 1,417
Employee stock options and awards .......................... — — 421,486
Denominator for diluted earnings per share .................... 78,607,126 78,378,376 84,073,381
Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share:
Continuing operations ....................... S, $ 0.14) $ (0.68) $ 0.66
Discontinued Operations .............ceeuiiiieniaiineniin.. 0.12 (0.77) - (0.26)
Total basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share ............. ) 0.02) $ (145) % 0.40

Options to purchase 17,056,763 shares of common stock, 306,662 shares of restricted stock, 12,000,000
shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 239,834 shares underlying warrants were outstanding during 2004, but
were not included in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive.

Options to purchase 13,423,134 shares of common stock, 286,365 shares of restricted stock, 12,000,000
shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 359,736 shares underlying warrants were outstanding during 2003, but
were not included in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive.

Options to purchase 10,917,403 shares of common stock, 382,190 shares of restricted stock, 12,000,000
shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 479,648 shares underlying warrants were outstanding during 2002.
For the year ended December 31, 2002, 10,709,423 of the options outstanding, all of the shares of restricted stock
and 119,912 of the shares underlying the warrants were included in the computation of diluted earnings per share,
on a weighted average basis, as their inclusion was dilutive. The remaining options, remaining shares underlying
the warrants issued by Nasdaq and the 12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes outstanding durmg
2002, were considered antidilutive and were properly excluded.
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.23, Subsequent Evems ‘ I
‘ 'Purchase of NIA_ ‘( y' 1,-5' b ,;i:

On January 1 2005 Nasdaq purchased the remarmng 50 0% interest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency from
AIG NJV, Inc. for normnal consrderatlon The purchase is not expected to have any impact:on the operations of

the. agency Begmnmg J anuary 1, 2005 Nasdaq will consolidate the Insurance Agency in its consohdated results.

'

Common Stock Lzszzng ‘ ‘

» : Nasdaq apphed for and was granted a common stock hstmg on The N asdaq Nauonal Market and o
) commenced tradlng on The Natronal Market under the symbol NDAQ on February 10, 2005.

Complenon of Secondary Oﬁ‘ermg

On February 15, 2005 Nasdaq completed an underwntten secondary offermg of 16,586,980 shares of
common stock owned by NASD and an additional 3,246,536 shares of common stock owned by certain selling
stockholders who' purchased the shares in Nasdaq’s private placements in 2000 and 2001. Nasdag, its officers or
* other employees d1d not sell any shares in the secondary offermg and Nasdaq did not receive any proceeds from

the offering. - ‘ o
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Three Years Ended December 31, 2004
(in thousands)

Reserve for Bad Debts
2604 2003 2002
Balance at beginning of period ... ... e $1,692 $589 §$7437
Additions: ' ‘
Charges toInCOME ... ...t i 1,074 1,365 8,426
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off . ........................ 792 167 —
Acquisition of Brut . ... ... e 1,240 — —
Deductions: ' .
~ Charges for which reserves wereprovided ... ............ ... ... .o (1,640) (5,670) (9.,973)
Balanceatend of period . ........ ... .. i $3,158 $1,692 % 5,890
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Exhibit
Number

3.1

32

321

4.1.

9.1

9.2

9.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

EXHIBIT INDEX

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (“Nasdaq”) (previously filed

with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 filed on
November 14, 2003)

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock of
Nasdagq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 1, 2004).

By-Laws of Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Amendment No. 5 to Registration S_tatemeﬁt on
Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on November 16, 2001}:

First Amendment to By-Laws of Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdag’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003).

Form of Common Stock certificate (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement on Form

- 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).
" Voting Trust Agreement dated June 28, 2000, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., the National

Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York (previously filed with Nasdaq’s
Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).

First Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2001, among The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc., the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York
(previously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on

~ April 30, 2001).

Second Amendment to the Voting Trust _Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2002, among The Nasdag
Stock Market, Inc., the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., The Bank of New York and
Mellon Investor Services, LLC (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed.on November 14, 2002).

.Global Services Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2004, between MCI WORLDCOM

Communications, Inc., and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, filed on May 10, 2004).*

Consolidated Agreement, between Unisys Cdrporation and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s
Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).*

Network User License Agreement, dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation and

Nasdaq {previously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651)
filed on April 30, 2001).*

Software License and Services Agreement, dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation
and Nasdag (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number
000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).*

Regulatory Services Agreement, dated June 28, 2000, between NASD Regulation, Inc. and Nasdag
(previously filed with Nasdaq’s Reglstrauon Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on
April 30, 2001).*

Separation and Common Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2002, between the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on

" .Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003).

Nasdaq 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement
on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).
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“Exhibit
Number

10.8

L1081

. 10.8.2
10.8.3

10.9

1091

10.10

1011 -

10.12 -

1013

£ 10.13.1
10.14

10.14.1

10.15

10.16

Nasdaq Equity Incennve Plan (prevrously filed with Nasdaq’s Registration Statement on Form 10
(ﬁle number 000- 32651) filed on April 30, 2001).

Frrst Amendment to Nasdaq Equity Incenttve Plan (prevrously ﬁled with Nasdaq S, Quarterly Report
on Form 10- Q for the quatter ended Juné 30, 2002 filed on August 14 2002). '

~Form of Nasdaq Non Quahﬁed Stock Opnon Agreement (Performance Accelerated Stock Optrons)

Form of Nasdaq Restncted Stock Award Agreement (2005 grant based on performance metrics
estabhshed March 2 2005)

Secunnes Purchase Agreement dated as, of March 23 2001 among N asdaq, Hellman & Fnedman
Capital Partners IV 'L.P."and the other purchasers listed in the signature pages thereto (previously

et

* filed with Nasdaq s Reg1stratron Statement on Form 10 (file number 000 32651) filed on April 30
- 2001).: ‘

Secuntyholders Agreement dated as of May 3, 2001 among Nasdaq, Hellman & Fnedman Cap1tal k
Partners IV, L.P., and the other securityholders listed on the signatire pages thereto (previously filed
with Nasdaq’s Amendment No..1to Reglstranon Statement on Form 10 (ﬁle number 000-32651)

- filed-on May 14, 2001)

Excharige Agreement dated as: of Novemiber 29, 2004, between the National Association of

-Securities Dealers, Inc. and-Nasdaq (prevrously filed with Nasdaq s Current Report on.Form 8-K
. filed on December 1, 2004) S o L 1 .

Employment Agreernent by and beiween’ Nasdaq and Robert Greifeld, effective as of May 12,2003
(previously filed W1th Nasdaq s Reglstrauon Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 10, 2003)

Employment Letter from' Nasdaq to Steven J. Randich, dated September 22, 2000 (prevrously filed

_with Nasdaq § Annual Report on Form 10- K for the' year ended December 31 2003, filed March 15,
$2004). P .

Employment Letter from Nasdaq to Dav1d P. Warren, dated November 30 2000 (previously ﬁled
with N asdaq s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the year ended December 31 2003 flled March 15,
2004). ‘

Loan Agreement dated December 28, 2001 by and between Nasdaq and David P. Warren ‘

’ '(preV1ously filed with Nasdaq s'Annual Report on Form lO K for the year ended December 31,

2001, ﬁled March 28, 2002)

N "Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward nght effectrve as of December 29, 2000
" Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December

31, 2002, filed March 31, 2003).

‘Frrst Amendment to Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edward Knight, effective
February 12002 Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002, ﬁled March 31, 2003).

Investor Rrghts Agreement dated as of February 20, 2002, between Nasdaq and the Nat1onal

Associdtion of Securities Dealers Inc. (prev1ous1y ﬁled with Nasdaq’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 22,2002). '

Master Agreement dated as of February 6, 2002, among Nasdaq, The American Stock Exchange )
LLC and-The ‘American Stock Exchange Corporation (previously filed with Nasdaq’s’ Quarterly -

Report on Form lO Q for thie quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed on November 14,2002).*
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Exhibit
Number

10.16.1

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.19.1

11

12.1 |
211
23.1
.23.2
24.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

First Amendment to Master Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2002, among Nasdaq, The
American Stock Exchange, LLC and The American Stock Exchange Corporation (previously filed
with Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 31,
2003).* ‘

Technology Transition Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2002, among Nasdaq, The National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The American Stock Exchange LLC (previously filed
with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed on
November 14, 2002).*

Promissory Note, dated as of May 19, 1997, between Nasdaq and Crestar Bank (the “Promissory
Note™), Allonge to Promissory Note, dated as of May 6, 2003, between Nasdaq and SunTrust Bank;
Second Allonge to Promissory Note, dated as of June 26, 2003, between Nasdaq and SunTrust, Third
Allonge, dated as of September 29, 2003, between Nasdag and SunTrust (previously filed with
Nasdaq’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed March 135,
2004).

Purchase Agreement dated May 25, 2004 by and among Automated Securities Clearance, Ltd., Toll
Associates LLC and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaq’s Cuarrent Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 26, 2004).

Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Agreement, dated as of Sepvtember 7, 2004, by and among Automated
Securities Clearance, Ltd., Toll Associates LLC and Nasdaq (previously filed with Nasdaqg’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on September 7, 2004).

Statement regarding computation of per share earnings (incorporated herein by reference to “Item
15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K” of this Form 10-K).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
List of all subsidiaries.

Consent of Emst & Young LLP.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Powers of Attornéy.

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (*Sarbanes-Oxley”).

Certification of Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
Sarbanes-Oxley. '

Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-
Oxley.

* Confidential treatment has been requested from the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission for certain
portions of this exhibit.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Selected Consolidated Financial Data

As of or for the year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except share amounts)

2004 2003 2002

Statements of Income Data:
Total revenues $ 540,441 $ 589,845 $ 787154
Cost of revenues (55,845) — ~
Gross margin 484,596 589,845 787,154
Total expenses 476,413 647,159 675,307
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 1,804 (45,112) 65,021
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 9,658 (60,335) (21,893)
Net income (loss) 11,362 (105,447) 43,128
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockholders (1,826) (113,726) 33,363
Weighted average common shares outstanding 78,607,126 78,378,376 83,650,478
Basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share:

Continuing operations ' $ (0.14) $  (0.68) $ 0.66

Discontinued operations 0.12 (0.77) (0.26)
Total basic and diluted net (loss) earnings per share $ (0.02) $ (1.45) $ 0.40
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and investments availableforsale® § 233,099 $ 334,633 $ 423,588
Total assets @ 814,820 851,254 1,175,914
Total long-term liabilities @ 449,941 452,927 636,210
Total stockholders’ equity (D 156,563 160,696 270,872

(1) Includes continuing and discontinued operations.

Results were positively impacted by lower operating expenses from corporate-wide cost reduction programs and NASDAQ's 2003 strategic
review. However, continued competitive pressure resulted in lower revenues and gross margin (total revenues less cost of revenues).

NASDAQ's revenues and gross margin declined 8% and 18%, respectively, during 2004 when compared to 2003. Oriving the decline in revenues
and gross margin is increased competition from regional exchanges and alternative trading systems. To remain competitive, NASDAQ continues
to focus on expanding market share and reducing expenses while driving toward operational self-sufficiency.

NOTE: The above review of NASDAQ's financial performance should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financia! statements and
notes thereto included in the 2004 Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. NASDAQ's future performance may differ
materially from that of 2004, 2003 and 2002 as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth in the 2004 Form 10-K
under “item 1. Business--Risk Factors” and elsewhere in the 2004 Form 10-K.

This Annual Report includes market share and industry data that we obtained from industry publications and surveys, reports of governmental
agencies, and internal company surveys. Industry publications and surveys generally state that the information contained therein has been
obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. We

have not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied
upon therein. Statements as to our market position are based on available market data that speaks as of the date indicated. For market
comparison purposes, data in this Annual Report for initial public offerings or IPOs of companies in the United States is based on data provided

by Thomson Financial, which does not include best efforts underwritings and, therefore, may not be comparable to other publicly-available IPO
data. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding industry data presented herein, our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and
are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed in “Item 1. Business-Risk Factors” in NASDAQ's Form 10-K, as amended.
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